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VICTORY NICKEL INC.

FOCUSED ON BECOMING A MID-TIER NICKEL PRODUCER

VICTORY SILICA

LET TER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Victory Nickel Set to
Compete in Booming
Frac Sand Market

Nickel Sulphides Will
Again Have Their
Day in the Sun

Three-Phase Plan Brings Numerous Potential
Benefits Including Near-Term Cash Flow
Seven Persons, Alberta – Victory Nickel’s Minago project in Manitoba is a company-maker.
A permitted project which has one of Canada’s largest undeveloped sulphide nickel resources,
the ability to produce arguably the world’s highest-grade nickel concentrate, excellent access
to superior infrastructure and tremendous potential for additional nickel discovery all make
Minago very attractive. But perhaps Minago’s most unique feature is not a metal at all, but
sand - frac sand, 11 million tonnes of it within the pit shell to be exact (and the potential for
hundreds of millions of tonnes more on the remainder of the property).
In the face of the recent malaise in the nickel price and the overall economic and market issues
that are making it challenging for the junior mining sector to finance projects on reasonable terms,
this valuable industrial mineral offers Victory Nickel shareholders the potential to participate in
a cash-flowing business in 2013 and a growing market well into the future through 100%-owned
subsidiary Victory Silica Ltd. (“VSL”).
continued on p.3

Please see VICTORY SILICA SET TO COMPETE

“VSL was created to establish
Victory Nickel’s presence in the
frac sand market prior to
commencing production of
both nickel and frac sand
at Minago.”

Seven Persons sand facility,
Alberta

To Our Shareholders:
Since getting into the nickel business, I have realized that
very few people fully understand or know the uses of nickel
or where it comes from. The same was true for zinc when
I was in the zinc business. For this reason, I thought it might
be useful to give a brief description of nickel, where it comes
from and how it’s used.
According to the Nickel Institute, there are approximately
300,000 significant applications for nickel. Approximately
90% of all new nickel produced each year goes into alloys,
two-thirds of that is used to produce stainless steels. Other
sources see total nickel consumption of 73% going to stainless
steel. For the sake of argument, let’s go with 65%. That’s a lot.
Nickel plays many roles in technologies that have
revolutionized the way we communicate. Mobile phones,
laptops, handheld devices and other gadgets continue to
modernize our lives. Nickel also plays an important role in
transportation – from nickel alloy batteries for hybrid cars,
to jet engines, to subways.
I won’t go on, but I suggest you look up the Nickel Institute
website and read all about it.

“We truly believe that the time to develop
Minago is now. If we started today, the
mine would reach production in 2015…”
Nickel Deposits Come in Two Forms
Basically, there are two main types of nickel deposits, sulphides
and laterites. Laterites are sulphides oxidized through
weathering – prehistoric nickel-bearing dirt, in other words.
Historically however, most nickel production has come
mostly from sulphide ores. The principal reason for this is
that sulphide ores are easier to process through conventional
mining, smelting and refining versus lateritic ores which
generally require intensive hydrometallurgical processing
(such as high-pressure acid leaching or HPAL). However, about
73% of the world’s existing nickel resources are laterites; the
remaining 27% are sulphide deposits. All of Victory Nickel’s
deposits are sulphide deposits – the easier ones to process.
Unlike sulphides, there is no simple separation technique
for nickel laterites. Lateritic ores typically require substantially
more energy and chemicals to process than sulphide nickel,
resulting in greater environmental and financial costs. Laterite
deposits typically have very large tonnage, are low-grade and
are located at or close to the earth’s surface.
continued on p.8
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VICTORY NICKEL
Focused on Becoming a Mid-Tier Nickel Producer

WHO WE ARE
Victory Nickel Inc. (the “Company”) is a Canadian
company with four sulphide nickel deposits
containing significant NI 43-101-compliant
nickel resources. Victory Nickel is focused on
becoming a mid-tier nickel producer by developing
its existing properties, Minago, Mel and Lynn
Lake (currently under option to Prophecy
Platinum Corp.) in Manitoba, and Lac Rocher
in northwestern Québec, and by evaluating
opportunities to expand its nickel asset base.
Through a wholly-owned subsidiary, Victory Silica
Ltd., Victory Nickel is establishing a presence in
the frac sand market prior to commencing frac
sand production and sales from Minago. Common
shares trade on the TSX under the symbol “NI”.

The Victory Nickel Difference
• One of Canada‘s largest undeveloped sulphide nickel
inventories.
• Four projects in Canada‘s most mining-friendly jurisdictions.
• Permitted for mine development at Minago.
• Ability to produce the world’s highest grade nickel concentrate at Minago.
• Excellent access to superior infrastructure.
• Tremendously valuable by-product at Minago in frac sand.
• Potential to become the largest supplier of the highest quality domestic sand
in Canada with Minago.
• Near-term cash flow potential through phased entry into frac sand market via VSL.
• Low Capex required for frac sand market entry via VSL.
• Focused on building a mid-tier Canadian nickel company.

2013 OBJECTIVES

www.victorynickel.ca

• ESTABLISH VSL as a premiere frac sand supplier to the northern market.
Lynn Lake
Seven
Persons
Plant

Mel

• MOVE forward with Minago financing.

Minago

Lac Rocher

• CONTINUE to optimize the Minago feasibility study.
• ADVANCE permitting efforts at Mel and Lac Rocher.

Need for Higher Production Volumes
to Balance the Market

• EVALUATE accretive transactions.

Need for Higher Production Volumes
to Balance the Market

NI 43-101 Compliant Total Nickel Resources
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300-400 kt of incremental primary nickel production will be required by 2018 to balance the market.
This additional production will come either from new projects or from NPI production.

Fraser Institute Policy Potential Index

Annual Mining Survey 2013 - Top Mining Jurisdictions
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1 The Exploration Target Mineralization Inventory (“ETMI”) was estimated by Michael Waldegger of AGP Mining Consultants Inc. of Barrie,
Ontario. Victory Nickel’s Qualified Person under the NI 43-101 guidelines is Paul Jones, Vice-President, Exploration. The potential quantity and
grade of the ETMI is conceptual in nature and there has been insufficient exploration to define a mineral resource. It is uncertain if further
exploration will result in the target being delineated as a mineral resource, furthermore no metallurgical recoveries were considered in the
estimate and the reported grades are based on total nickel. For additional information on the ETMI, please see the Victory Nickel press release
dated August 16, 2011.

Victory Nickel Inc.

...at a Glance
Significant Events 2012-2013
CORPORATE
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During and subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company:

• Completed road show meetings with domestic and offshore financiers and investors regarding developing the Minago mine.
• Announced a loan agreement for $1,000,000 (the “Facility”).
• Entered into a subsequent loan agreement with Nuinsco Resources Limited (“Nuinsco”) to increase the Facility by up to $2,000,000 to be used for
capital expenditures related to the Seven Persons sand facility (the “7P Plant”).
• Completed a private placement financing for $2,209,000 with a key investor. Proceeds of the private placement were to be used for expenditures related
to Victory Nickel and Victory Silica, and for general corporate purposes.

VICTORY SILICA

• Created Victory Silica and appointed Ken Murdock, a frac sand industry veteran, as CEO. VSL’s objective is to establish Victory Nickel’s presence in the
frac sand market prior to commencing production at Minago.
• Conducted advanced discussions with frac sand suppliers and customers for VSL.
• Completed an asset purchase agreement to acquire the 7P Plant, subject to certain conditions.
• Filed a reclamation plan with the Alberta Energy Resources Conservation Board to convert the 7P Plant site to a frac sand processing facility; it is currently
licensed as a sand recycling facility.
• Received proposals for wet concentrated sand supply.

NICKEL
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Completed 3,500 metres of diamond drilling, including drilling on a nickel-bearing area south of the Minago deposit.
Received a blanket one-year work permit to eliminate delays in the receipt of individual permits.
Evaluated relocation of certain infrastructure components at the Minago site in an effort to enhance accessibility and reduce capital costs.
Identified additional potential savings on overburden removal and constructed a 2.3 kilometre test drainage ditch which is performing well.
Renewed the Minago and Mel mining leases for a further 21 years.
Received a permit from the Manitoba government to drill 12 water wells to be used for the dewatering of the Minago open pit.
Advanced the compilation of exploration information that is required to submit an environmental impact statement for the Mel project.
Initiated a review of pumping technology as part of evaluating the viability of hydro-transport, rather than trucking, frac sand from the Minago site to the
railhead 60 kilometres north at Ponton, Manitoba.

Victory Silica Set To Compete
continued from p.1

Frac sand is used in huge quantities in the oil and gas business as a part of the hydraulic
fracturing process – a means of increasing flow to the wellhead. Vast quantities of frac sand
are consumed, and more is needed all the time as shale plays in Canada and the US rise to
prominence. Frac sand is a by-product at Minago because it overlies the nickel deposit and must
be removed prior to nickel mining. Once mining begins, Minago will be positioned as the frac
sand producer closest to the developing Manitoba portion of the Bakken oil shale – one of
North America’s largest.
This presents a tremendous opportunity, and VSL was created to establish Victory Nickel’s
presence in the frac sand market prior to commencing production of both nickel and frac sand
at Minago.
To accomplish this, VSL has developed a three-phase plan. Phase 1 plans production of
400,000 tons per annum of premium-quality Midwest frac sand from a facility located southwest
of Medicine Hat, Alberta (“the 7P Plant”). Partially-processed sand purchased in Wisconsin will
be transported by rail to the 7P Plant where final processing and distribution will take place. The
7P Plant is well-located in an area populated with fracking companies, VSL’s customers, and is
within only a few hours’ trucking distance of the well sites. Phase 2 will reduce costs and assure
security of sand supply through the construction of a Wet Plant to process and concentrate frac
sand from a mine in Wisconsin. In Phase 3, Victory Silica has identified a site in Winnipeg,
Manitoba, where it plans to build a larger frac sand plant to process and distribute both
imported and domestic sands, including the sand to be mined at Minago.
“In the frac sand business it’s important to build strong relationships with customers by
proving you can deliver quality product in the quantities they want, when and where they want
it,” said Ken Murdock, VSL’s CEO. “We see the opportunity to add value by not only providing
the highest-quality products but by also streamlining frac sand logistics to meet the needs of our
customers and provide solid returns for our investors.”
Establishing those customer relationships is one important objective of VSL, which plans to
be in the frac sand business for many years once Minago comes on stream. In addition, with
margins expected to be in excess of $25 per ton, VSL should generate sufficient cash flow to
support mine development at Minago.
“Ken has over 25 years of experience in the frac sand and industrial minerals businesses,
is anxious to get this going and at press time was finalizing the permitting of the 7P plant. Ken’s
expertise will lead the way to the successful implementation of VSL’s three-phase program to
produce 400,000 tpa of premium-quality Wisconsin frac sand in Canada starting in 2013 and
expanding to 1,500,000 tpa of imported and domestic frac sand within two years. Financing
of Phase 1 capital costs is complete and we are ready to move once permitting is finalized,”
said René Galipeau, Vice-Chairman and CEO of Victory Nickel.
Focused on Becoming a Mid-Tier Nickel Producer
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M I NAGO

Minago

Section 487240 (UTM) Looking East

Muskeg & Clay Overburden (11.2M Tonnes, -10m thick)

PERMIT TED FOR DEVELOPMENT

800 m

Many Milestones Achieved

Clay weathering
at unconformity

Proposed
Minago
Pit

NICKEL MINERALIZATION

700 m

(31M Tonnes within pit shell)
600 m

Ospawagan Group
Thompson Formation
Marlstone and Marbles

Did You Know?

achieved many major milestones since it was
created in February 2007, and there are many
more to come on both the nickel and frac sand
fronts. Some of the most significant of these
are summarized below:

Waste Rock
(153M Tonnes)

Open Pit

Many More to Come

Grand Rapids, Manitoba - Victory Nickel has

Surface
Ordovician Winnipeg Formation
Quartz Sandstone (15M Tonnes, -8.9m thick)

Ordovician Red River Formation Dolomitic Limestone (111M Tonnes, -50m+ thick)

Ospawagan Group
Lower Pipe Formation
Metasediments and IF

Did You Know

400 m

that Minago is 100%-owned by Victory
Nickel and royalty-free?

MINERALIZED
ZONE

Granite and
Granite Gneisses

200 metres
300 m

November, 2006: Preliminary Economic Assessment (“Minago
PEA”) Completed. Nuinsco completed the Minago PEA in late
2006. On the strength of the Minago PEA, Victory Nickel was
created and the shares distributed to Nuinsco shareholders.

Did You Know
that the Minago open pit has the ability
to produce arguably the world’s highest
grade nickel concentrate grading up to
35.0% Ni?

Minago Overview
• Permitted-Environment Act Licence in hand.
• Large resource with significant exploration upside at depth
and to the north of the main deposit in the North Limb.
• Sulphide nickel: conventional processing, ~22% nickel
in concentrate (up to 35% Ni).
• Base case indicates C1 cash cost of US$1.94/lb Ni, one
of the lowest in the industry.
• Large frac sand resource - valuable co-product.
• Positive feasibility study completed December 2009,
updated June 2010 and further optimized in 2011.
• Projected average annual ore production: 3.6 million tonnes.
• Projected average annual nickel production in concentrate:
11,000 tonnes.
• Projected average annual frac sand sales of 1.1 million
tonnes/year for 10 years.

February, 2007: Minago Feasibility Study (“Minago FS”) begins.
Did You Know
Following the creation and listing on the TSX of Victory Nickel,
that Minago’s hydraulic frac sand cothe Company began the process of completing the Minago
product makes the project truly unique
FS. While the Minago PEA was prepared based on the mining
in Canada?
of resources from both an open pit and from underground,
only measured and indicated resources can be included in a
feasibility study. As such, the Minago FS was based only on the
open pit portion of the deposit, despite the known presence of significant nickel mineralization below the
pit floor. The underground portion is there to add to the mine life in the future, as is the North Limb, where
drilling has also successfully identified additional nickel mineralization.
December, 2009: Minago FS Completed. The Minago FS returned very positive results. These results were
subsequently optimized through additional work done after completion of the Minago FS (see table below).
As a result, the next major step on the road to development was embarked on - the preparation of the
Environmental Impact Statement (“EIS”), an incredibly labour intensive and time consuming, but essential,
exercise.

Mag Inversion Showing Mineralization
in Minago Deposit and North Limb

May, 2010: Minago EIS Filed. The Company took the concerns of all stakeholders into consideration when
preparing the EIS. Numerous meetings with the federal and provincial governments and agencies, the
First Nations and the Métis communities took place.
August, 2011: Environment Act Licence (“EAL”) Received. Receiving the EAL from the Manitoba Government
is the most significant milestone achieved so far. Victory Nickel is one of the few companies to have
successfully permitted a green-fields hard-rock mining project in Canada in many years, and this licence
allows the Company to move ahead with development.
September, 2011: Board Approval for Development Granted. With the EAL in hand, the Board of Directors
approved Minago development and has charged management with the challenge of financing the project
to development and production. In the Minago FS, pre-production cost was estimated to be in the range
of $550-$600 million over a three- to four-year period. The objective was to get the first year’s requirement
funded in time to start removal of the overburden during the winter of 2011/2012. Unfortunately, due to
market conditions, the Company has not yet been able to obtain the necessary funding. This is not to say that
progress has not been made. Management has received, and continues to receive, serious expressions of
interest but the uncertainty in the financial and equity markets is continuing to delay decisions by potential
investors and joint venture partners.
June, 2012: Creation of VSL. In the absence of financing for Minago, and in light of challenging market
conditions, Ken Murdock was hired to lead VSL’s plan to establish Victory Nickel, through VSL, as a premier
frac sand supplier to the northern market.

97°54’W

Good Deposits Don’t Go Bad
Identifying, permitting, financing and building a mine is a long-term endeavour, and Victory Nickel has made
great strides since its creation in 2007. While financial and metals market cycles may come and go, good
deposits don’t go bad. Victory Nickel’s stakeholders can rest assured that they have a very good deposit,
and that will lead to many more milestones being achieved in 2013 and well into the future.

Mel Property

($million except % & yrs)

Base Case
July 29, 2011 1,2
($million except % & yrs)

Location

1,418.4

NPV @ 8%

293.8

513.0

Project Type

NPV @ 6%

402.6

669.3

Project Status

17.66%

22.4%

Pre-Production Capital

593.0

585.1

Breakeven Price

$5.06

$4.28

7 Years

8.6 Years

Open Pit Mine Life

Commodity

1. Three-year trailing average US$ metal prices and exchange rate as of market close December 10, 2009:
Ni: $11.19/lb; Cu: $2.91/lb; Pd: $322.4/oz; Pt: $1,353.98/oz; Au: $836.25/oz; Co: $27.73/lb; Ag: $14.25/oz;
$Can/$US exchange rate: 1.097
2. Updated resource
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In Conversation…

with Steve Harapiak, P.Eng.

President and Chief Operating Officer

Q

The Minago site is a superb location logistically – with
excellent access to road, rail and power – but one
knock against Minago in the past has been that there
is an excess of water on the site that will make mine
development and mining difficult. Is this really an issue?

There is no question that the Minago
site is wet. That said, we have put in a
lot of time and effort both as part of
the Minago feasibility study (“Minago
FS”) and in subsequent initiatives.
In 2009, Golder Associates
Limited (“Golder”) completed an
extensive hydrogeologic investigation
of dewatering requirements for the
proposed open pit. Without going
into detail, this study concluded that
dealing with site water while mining
will not be an issue as water can be
effectively managed by installing 12
dewatering wells.
More recently, the Company constructed a 2.3 kilometre test drainage
ditch from the centre of the proposed Minago open pit. The intent was
to investigate whether sufficient water could be removed in this manner
to allow the use of conventional overburden removal methods when
pre-stripping the open pit rather than the more expensive dredging process
proposed in the Minago FS. We are pleased that the test showed the
ditching to be very effective.
The positive results from these tests should put to rest once-and-for-all
any perception that any serious water issues exist at Minago that could
impede construction and mining.

?

Q

That’s certainly encouraging. What other developments
have occurred with regard to the Minago site?

Probably the most important development relates to the site layout.
Condemnation drilling for the original tailings management facility
(“TMF”), located to the north of the Minago open pit as proposed in the
Minago FS, intercepted good-grade nickel mineralization. As a result, it
was necessary to relocate the TMF to avoid sterilizing this area to mining.
In fact, this proved to be a benefit to the Minago project in two ways – not
only because the drilling identified a potential new mining area but also
because the new TMF will be less costly to build.
Located to the west of the proposed open pit, the new TMF design takes
advantage of the topography – it is in a natural valley – which should lead to
an overall reduction in capital costs.
Aside from that development, we are focusing a lot of attention now on
the Victory Silica initiative. Our ultimate goal here is to generate cash that
will help us start development at Minago and ensure that we have a solid
footing in the frac sand business prior to Minago, with its abundant supplies
of both frac sand and nickel, coming on stream.

MARKET ENTRY

From Mine to Well

Victory Silica: In the Right Place at the Right
Time in the Frac Sand Market
By Ken Murdock, P.Eng.
Calgary, Alberta – Sand is everywhere but not all sand is frac sand. So what exactly makes goodquality frac sand, what is the process from mine to well and where does Victory Silica fit in?
First of all, let’s understand how frac sand, called a “proppant,” is used. Frac sand is part of the process
of hydraulic fracturing (“Fracking”). In Fracking, fluid is pumped under high pressure into an oil or gas
formation to fracture the rock. Once the formation fractures, while holding the pressure, the fluid is
changed for a gel and proppant mixture. The gel helps place the proppant deep into the fractures such that
when the pressure is released it efficiently props open the fractures in the subsurface rocks thus creating
a passageway for the oil or gas to move from the reservoir to the well.
Good, Better, Best
So, what makes good frac sand? Three components are required:
• A deposit capable of producing grains with the appropriate mineralogical and physical parameters
required to create a good, high-quality, frac sand, such as Victory Nickel’s Minago deposit.
• A properly-engineered processing facility with the equipment and experienced personnel capable
of exploiting the quality of the sand in the deposit to produce premium frac sand products.
• A distribution system capable of cost-effectively delivering the frac sand products to the right place
at the right time without negatively influencing that frac sand product’s quality.
Good-quality frac sand is almost pure quartz with grains that are rounded, spherical and ideally trend to
the coarser sizes (please see Sizing-Up Sands on page 6). The best frac sands come from sandstone deposits
like Victory Nickel’s Minago project in Manitoba and the US deposits found in Wisconsin. Ultimately,
Victory Silica intends to offer its customers a full range of both premium import and domestic frac sands.

continued on p.6

Please see FROM MINE TO WELL

Three-Phased Business Plan to Enter a Growing Market:
Q

What are the next steps at Minago?

First and foremost, we will continue to seek appropriate financing to build
the Minago nickel mine. There has been a certain level of frustration as
potential nickel concentrate offtakers and financiers have not been prepared
to ascribe any value to frac sand as a valuable co-product. This is simply
because frac sand is not their business, nickel is. On the other hand, we
are comfortable that the Minago frac sand will be in high demand once
the mine is in production, but we have not yet been successful in finding a
financial partner willing to pay or recognize the value today for future frac
sand production.
As I said earlier, we have established Victory Silica, and hired industry
veteran Ken Murdock as CEO to establish Victory Nickel as a legitimate
participant in the frac sand business. Our expectation is that this, in turn,
will convince investors and the finance community of the value of the frac
sand resources at Minago and unlock Minago financing.
Of course we recognize how vital it is to maintain good relationships
with all of our stakeholders. In today’s challenging financial environment,
financing of any sort is difficult to come by. However, we will continue to
ensure all of our stakeholders in Manitoba, including the government and
the communities of interest impacted by the Minago project, are kept
up-to-date on developments.

Q

Frac sand has been in the news lately but apparently is
still not well understood. Have there been recent events
that indicate the value and size of the industry?

As a matter of fact, there have been three IPOs in the frac sand business
over the last year or so. These are US Silica Holdings Inc., Hi-Crush
Partners LP and most recently Emerge Energy Services LP. I suggest
you review their public information to better understand particularly
the tremendous financial returns that are being achieved in the frac
sand business.

Phase 1: Purchase Wisconsin concentrated sand for final processing at Victory Silica’s
7P Plant.
400,000 tpa, annual net operating cash flow projection: >$10,000,000*.
Phase 2: Purchase Wisconsin frac sand mine and build wet plant.
400,000 tpa. Increase margin, gain security of supply.
Phase 3: Build larger frac sand plant in Winnipeg, Manitoba to process import and
domestic (Minago) frac sand.
1,100,000 tpa. Increase margin, improve service.
* Victory Silica estimate

Milestones:
Acquisition agreement completed for superbly located Alberta frac sand plant
Wisconsin frac sand supplier identified
Relationships with transportation and customer partners in place
Highly-experienced frac sand management team hired/identified
Phase 1 Capex financing in place
Minago Mine
Manitoba

1

Phase 1:
Seven Persons,
Alberta

3

7P Plant

Phase 3:
Winnipeg
Facility

2

Phase 2:
Wisconsin Mine

Focused on Becoming a Mid-Tier Nickel Producer
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FROM MINE TO WELL

P E A S TA G E

From Mine to Plant
Processing a sandstone deposit into a frac sand product has three stages:
1. Mining.
2. Wet processing (the “Wet Plant”).
3. Dry processing (the “Dry Plant”).

Lac Rocher

Key to the mining process is extracting the raw sand feed from
the sandstone source rock without damaging the sand grains. For
friable, loosely-consolidated sand this can be as simple as ripping
and excavating. Blasting may be required for more consolidated
sandstones. In all cases at least some coarse screening is required.
Once mined, raw sand feed is further processed in the Wet
Plant, or concentrator, which cleans and coarse-sizes the material.
Wet processing is the most efficient way to remove clay and dust
particulate attached to the sand grains, to remove any remaining
non quartz contaminants, to break down sand grain clusters and
to concentrate the material that will be fed to the Dry Plant to
maximize yield.

A High-Grade Deposit…
Whose Time Will Come

Dry Plant Flow Sheet
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Wet plant concentrates are then fed into a Dry Plant in order
to produce a variety of different-sized frac sand products. The Dry
Plant includes a sand dryer, a product screening system and frac
sand product storage.
In Phases 1 and 2, Victory Silica will mine and wet process its
frac sand in Wisconsin prior to shipping the concentrate by rail up
to the Seven Persons facility. In Phase 3, a Winnipeg facility will also
come on-line and process concentrates from both Wisconsin and
Minago. Victory Silica has an experienced team in place that built
and operated the 7P Plant and understands what it takes to
consistently produce the highest quality frac sand products.
From Plant to Well
Finished product is then stored within dry product storage at the
plant site until it is shipped to the wellhead. Those shipments are
arranged by fracking companies, who are Victory Silica’s customers,
via either their distribution system or contracted third-party haulers.
A rule of thumb in the frac sand business is that the more
frequently frac sand is handled the faster it will deteriorate. The
typical distribution system for finished sand has a minimum of four
handling steps, each of which can negatively affect the final quality
of the frac sand product:
1. From plant storage to rail transload.
2. From rail transload to rail car.
3. From rail car to sand terminal.
4. From sand terminal to truck for delivery to the wellhead.

Lac Rocher

Lac Rocher, Quebec - High grades, near-surface mineralization and an excellent Quebec
location - the Lac Rocher project has a lot going for it, including good potential to generate
rapid cash flow at the right nickel price.
A Preliminary Economic Assessment (“PEA”) envisions the Lac Rocher deposit being contract
mined in two phases using mechanized cut-and-fill mining over a span of 24-26 months. In
Phase One, 65,000 tonnes would be extracted at 1.75% nickel, 0.57% copper and 0.062% cobalt;
in Phase Two, an additional 252,730 tonnes would be extracted at 1.52% nickel, 0.59% copper
and 0.051% cobalt. All extracted material is assumed to be transported to an offsite mill.
The PEA indicates break-even at US$9.64/lb nickel and US$3.75/lb copper. To ensure it
is ready to take advantage of this potential when prices allow, Victory Nickel has built an allweather road to give year-round access for drilling and, potentially, production activities. The
road was built by general contractor Manchetau Construction, a group of Cree Partners from the
Waswanipi Cree First Nation, which brought a local commitment to the construction project.
Victory Nickel has shown that it is prepared to employ and build relationships with First Nations
and local communities that will bring economic benefits to the regions in which it operates.
To further advance preparations for extraction of a bulk sample, the Company will continue
to review the PEA to identify capital and operating cost savings, is evaluating the potential to
use DMS (Dense Media Separation) technology for onsite upgrading of mined material in order
to lower transportation costs and is advancing the permitting of the project.

Lac Rocher Overview

Did You Know?

• High-grade discovery of a 3.2 metre massive
sulphide intersection returning a
weighted average of 10.8% Ni as part of a
61.5m interval grading 1.69% Ni.
• Near-surface resource with year-round
all-weather access road to the property.
• Nickel resource located between surface and
125 vertical metres.
• PEA indicates break-even at US$9.64/lb Ni
and US$3.75/lb Cu.

Did You Know
that Lac Rocher with its high grades may
be put into production very quickly? Victory
Nickel has the project on hold until the
nickel price hits an appropriate level.

Did You Know

that China alone now accounts for close
to 44% of world nickel demand compared
with 8% ten years earlier?

Did You Know
that taking the entire Earth into
consideration (including the mantle
and core along with the crust), nickel
is the fifth most common element?
Only iron, oxygen, silicon and
magnesium are more abundant.

Lac Rocher Section View
(from PEA)

RAMP PORTAL

Location, Location, Location
By placing its dry processing and storage facilities close to the
wellhead – at Seven Persons and, ultimately, Winnipeg – Victory
Silica eliminates the first three of those handling steps. This
streamlining of frac sand logistics will allow Victory Silica to
maximize the quality of the frac sand products it delivers to its
fracking company customers for delivery to their customers at
the wellhead.

Sizing-Up Sands

TOP OF RAISE

270.0 Top of Ramp

RAMP A
T -15%
EMERGENCY EXIT
& VENT RAISE

185.0

Top of Exploitation

185.0

Sand deposit quality is judged in accordance with the following
characteristics:

167.0
161.0

Top of Phase-1

167.0
161.0

Turbidity: A measure of the cleanliness of the sand deposit and
of the quality of the processing facility used to produce frac sand.
Roundness and Sphericity: The more round and spherical a sand
grain is, the better its stress resistance.
Crush Resistance: A measure of the sand particles’ strength
under stress.
Acid Solubility: Reflects the purity of the sand deposit and the
presence of undesirable contaminants.

149.0

Minago Frac Sand Lab Analysis Compared with American Petroleum
Institute (“API”) Standards

Sphericity
Roundness
Acid Solubility
Turbidity
Crush Resistance

6

API Standard

Minago
(20/40 Sand)

Greater than 0.6
Greater than 0.6
Less than 2%
Less than 250 ftu
Maximum 14% fines

0.72
0.78
0.92%
24 ftu
11.5%
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LAC ROCHER
Location

Quebec, Canada

Ownership

100%

Commodity

Nickel

Project Type

Underground - Ramp Potential

Project Status

LAC ROCHER

PEA

Victory Nickel Inc.

P R E - F E A S I B I L I T Y S TA G E

Lynn Lake
Previously One of North America’s
Largest Producers is now in the Capable
Hands of Prophecy Platinum
Lynn Lake, Manitoba - Victory Nickel’s Lynn Lake Project
(located in the historic mining town of Lynn Lake in northern
Manitoba, about 320 kilometres by road northwest of the
Thompson mining camp) is under option to Prophecy
Platinum Corp. (TSX-V: NKL).
The Lynn Lake mine was operated by Sherritt-Gordon
from 1953 to 1976. During its 23 years of operation the mine
produced over 20 million tonnes of Ni-Cu ore at a grade of
1.02% Ni and 0.54% Cu, making it the third largest nickel
producer in North America.
Lynn Lake contains Measured and Indicated mineral
resources of 22.9 million tonnes of 0.57% nickel and 0.30%
copper and 8.1 million tonnes of Inferred resources at 0.51%
nickel and 0.28% copper (updated Wardrop Technical Report
May 2010). Approximately 50% of the host rock remains
unexplored and discoveries were made in the Disco and Tango
Zones which have not yet been NI 43-101 assessed.
According to Prophecy Platinum, next steps are to:
• Commission an environmental baseline study and prepare
an Environment Act License proposal to initiate the project
licensing process.

LYNN LAKE
Location

Lynn Lake

Lynn Lake, Manitoba, Canada

Ownership

100%

Commodity

Nickel

Project Type

Underground

Project Status

Prefeasibility

Lynn Lake Overview

Did You Know?

• Acquired from Independent Nickel along
with Minago royalty.
• Prefeasibility NPV: $131 million @ 8%
discount rate (net of Capex) (C$10.35/lb Ni,
C$2.45/lb Cu).
• Numerous additional exploration targets:
new zone identified grading 1.5% Ni over
18 metres.
• Optioned to Prophecy Platinum Corp.
in October 2009.
• Conduct comprehensive bench-scale bio-leach
testing for actual production scenarios.
• Perform downhole IP surveys and expand drilling in
the recent Disco Zone and Tango Zone discoveries.
• Aggressively seek major partners in developing
the Lynn Lake nickel project utilizing bioleach
technology.

Did You Know
that Lynn Lake offers a potential 60,000
tonne annual concentrate production?

Did You Know
that nickel is widely used in over 300,000
industrial/consumer products?

Did You Know
that the Lynn Lake Belt is the third
largest nickel producing region in Canada
and that eleven discrete ore bodies were
brought into production at Lynn Lake
between 1953 to 1976?

Did You Know
that the town of Lynn Lake was founded
in 1950 and is located just over 1,000
kilometres northwest of Winnipeg?

E X P L O R AT I O N / D E V E L O P M E N T

Thompson, Manitoba - Minago is Victory Nickel’s
primary focus due to its size and development-stage status,
but the Company also has a second project situated on
the Thompson Nickel Belt - Mel. Located just north of
Thompson, Manitoba, Mel is a large property, approximately
25 kilometres east-west by about 6 kilometres north-south,
and remains underexplored.
Victory Nickel owns 100% of the Mel property; former
joint venture partner Vale Canada Limited (“Vale”) retains a
10% net profits royalty to be calculated in accordance with the
original property agreement. The Mel property consists of one
mineral lease (the “Mel Lease”) covering approximately 750
hectares and 37 unpatented mineral claims (the “Mel Claims”),
encompassing approximately 8,770 hectares. While it represents
only a small part of the total project area, the Mel Lease
contains the entire NI-43-101 resource (0.50% nickel cut-off
grade, see news release dated February 26, 2007): 4.3 million
tonnes of Indicated resources grading 0.88% nickel, and an
additional Inferred resource of 1.0 million tonnes grading 0.84%
nickel located between 46 metres and 183 metres from surface.
This near-surface resource, along with a stipulation in the
option agreement that Vale shall mill ore mined from the Mel
deposit at cost plus 5% (provided that the product meets Vale’s
specifications and that Vale has sufficient mill capacity), makes
nickel production with a low capital requirement an interesting
possibility.

Thompson, Manitoba, Canada

Ownership

100%

Commodity

Nickel

Project Type

Underground - Ramp Potential

Project Status

Exploration/Development

No drilling was done in 2012; the most recent
program, ten drill holes totalling 3,459 metres, was
done in 2011. In 2013, the Mel Lease was extended
for 21 years, and ongoing activities include baseline
environmental studies (fisheries, wildlife, sediments),
hydrogeological work and geochemical characterization
of waste and mineralized material. An evaluation of
the Mel dataset is continuing. This incorporates both
the drilling data on the Mel deposit as well as the
considerable drilling (111 drill holes) conducted on
the Mel Claims. Following completion of this work,
additional modeling of the resource is contemplated.
This information also represents a step closer to
production as it is a necessary part of submitting an
environmental impact statement for the Mel project
which is expected to occur shortly as part of the
permitting process.

Did You Know?
Did You Know

that Manitoba produces 20.1% of
Canada’s nickel?

Did You Know

that the mineral industry is Manitoba’s
second largest primary resource industry?

Did You Know
that the earth’s inner core is a solid ball
of nickel-iron alloy about the size of the
moon?

PR
OP
ER
TY

Preparations for Permitting are
Moving Forward at Mel

Location

Mel

BI
G

Mel Project

MEL

Mel Overview
•
•
•
•

100% owned, subject to a Vale 10% net profits royalty.
25 kilometres north of Thompson, Manitoba.
Near-surface resource.
Milling agreement with Vale at cash cost + 5%, provided
Vale has sufficient mill capacity and product meets
specifications.
• 2013 focus: Complete data compilation and environmental
studies to prepare for permitting.
Focused on Becoming a Mid-Tier Nickel Producer
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Laterite projects normally require large economies of scale at
higher capital cost per-unit-of-capacity to be viable. They are
also generally much higher cash-cost producers than are sulphide
operations due to technical challenges inherent to laterite projects.
Nickel sulphide deposits can occur as individual sulphide
bodies, but groups of deposits may occur in areas or belts that
are tens, even hundreds, of kilometres long. Such groups of
deposits are known as districts. In the world of sulphides,
three giant Ni-Cu districts stand head-and-shoulders above
the rest: Sudbury Ontario; Noril’sk-Talnakh, Russia; and, the
Thompson Nickel Belt in Manitoba where two of Victory
Nickel’s deposits, Minago and Mel, are located.

Production
Sulphide deposits are still the primary source of mined nickel
today. Although laterite deposits form the majority of the
world’s defined nickel resources, only about 40% of mined
nickel comes from nickel laterites. The majority is produced
from sulphide deposits because, as outlined above, sulphide
ore is easier and cheaper to both mine and process.
However, known large-scale and high-grade sulphide
deposits are being depleted. The trend of future nickel
production is changing. Because of the current lack of
high-quality nickel sulphide deposits and exploration targets,
nickel laterites are the type most likely to be developed as
future primary nickel sources. In fact in 2012, the Philippines
and Indonesia became the top two producers of nickel ore due
to production of laterite nickel pig iron. Russia, traditionally
the world’s leading producer of nickel, is now third followed
by Australia and Canada.
Canada, previously the world’s second-largest nickelproducing country, obtains almost all of its nickel from the
Thompson Nickel Belt, the Sudbury Basin, the Ungava
peninsula of Quebec and Newfoundland and Labrador.
The Cost Equation
Mining is an extremely capital-intensive business for
two reasons. First, mining has a large, up-front layout of
construction capital called Capex, the costs associated with
the development and construction of open-pit and
underground mines. For Victory Nickel’s Minago project,
this is estimated at approximately $600 million. Often
additional infrastructure, like roads, railways, bridges, power
generating stations and seaports, are required to be built
by a mining company and/or government to facilitate the
extraction and shipping of ore and concentrate. Secondly,
there is a continuously-rising Opex, or day-to-day operating
expenditures.
Victory Nickel is fortunate that its projects are located in
areas with excellent existing infrastructure. Close proximity
to roads, rail, power, etc. keeps associated capital costs to a
minimum. Nickel production costs are rising due to declining
ore grades and the fact that a growing percentage of mining
projects are in remote areas and in developing economies
where little to no existing infrastructure exists and where
economies of scale have not reduced costs.
With global nickel supply increasingly coming from
laterites, this trend of rising Capex and Opex will most
certainly continue. Furthermore, laterite projects often have
significant cost and technical challenges; a combination
that bodes well for sulphide nickel producers and projects.
Nickel Pig Iron
This short summary would not be complete without
mentioning the impact of nickel pig iron (“NPI”). Chinese
sulphide nickel ore supply was insufficient to support
demand from its stainless steel industry so direct shipping of
nickel laterite ore from the Philippines, Indonesia and New
Caledonia into China commenced to produce a low-nickel,
high-iron product called NPI that is used as a feedstock for
stainless steel mills. In 2011, over 25 million tonnes, or 53%,
of China’s total imported nickel ore came from Indonesia.
Recently, Indonesia (the world’s top exporter of nickel ore)
enacted an export tax system. The result was to drive hundreds
of small miners out of business and send Chinese laterite
buyers elsewhere. This is the first step by Indonesia toward
a full ban on the export of minerals that is scheduled to begin
in 2014. Nobody is certain of the future effects of this policy
on the nickel market.
8
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Where Am I Going With This?
1) Years of underinvestment has resulted in few sulphide
nickel exploration discoveries. Those that have been
discovered were by accident while looking for other
minerals such as diamonds. Victory Nickel has three
advanced sulphide nickel projects. A fourth, the
past-producing Lynn Lake mine, is optioned to
Prophecy Platinum Corp.
2) Smelters requiring nickel concentrates produced from
sulphide deposits will be scrambling for concentrate in
the very near future. The gap between smelter capacity
and supply keeps getting wider.
3) Sulphide projects in geo-politically safe mining
jurisdictions are very limited. Victory Nickel’s projects
are in mining-friendly Manitoba and Quebec. The
Minago project is permitted and ready for development.
4) Higher laterite costs will force nickel prices even higher.
5) New uses to feed the technology requirements of green
society can only mean increased nickel demand.
6) Global demand growth in China, India, Russia and
Brazil bodes well for prices.
7) Production delays being experienced in several laterite
deposits could result in even tighter markets and much
higher nickel prices.
Conclusion
• It’s only a question of time before the largest nickel
producers realize they no longer have sufficient nickel
concentrates to feed their hungry smelters.
• It’s only a matter of time before sulphide deposits
hit the top of the list for these large companies.
• It’s only a matter of time before the investment community
realizes that there are few companies providing leverage
to nickel.
• It’s only a matter of time before the scramble for nickel
sulphides by majors begins in earnest.
• It’s only a matter of time before juniors such as Victory
Nickel, with multiple sulphide nickel deposits in excellent
jurisdictions, become ever more interesting.
As a reminder, Victory Nickel has Minago in central
Manitoba, a large deposit that is permitted and ready for
development as a bulk-tonnage mine; the Mel project, located
25 kilometres from Thompson, Manitoba; and Lac Rocher,
a small but high-grade nickel deposit in Quebec.
I won’t touch on the value of frac sand at the Minago
project here, because it is well covered elsewhere in this
newsletter. Suffice it to say that frac sand is a commodity that
will add significant value for Victory Nickel shareholders
starting this year and well into the future.
In closing, I’d like to say thank you for staying with us
through these currently unsettled times in the markets for
junior resource companies. We are confident your patience
will be well rewarded.
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forward-looking information. This forward-looking information reflects the current expectations or beliefs of the Company based on information
currently available to the Company. Forward-looking information is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that may cause the actual
results of the Company to differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking information, and even if such actual results are realized
or substantially realized, there can be no assurance that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on the Company. Factors that
could cause actual results or events to differ materially from current expectations include, among other things: uncertainty of estimates of capital
and operating costs, production estimates and estimated economic return; the possibility that actual circumstances will differ from estimates and
assumptions; uncertainties relating to the availability and costs of financing needed in the future; failure to establish estimated mineral resources;
fluctuations in commodity prices and currency exchange rates; inflation; recoveries being less than those indicated by the testwork carried out
to date (there can be no assurance that recoveries in small scale laboratory tests will be duplicated in large tests under on-site conditions or
during production); changes in equity markets; operating performance of facilities; environmental and safety risks; delays in obtaining or failure
to obtain necessary permits and approvals from government authorities; unavailability of plant, equipment or labour; inability to retain key
management and personnel; changes to regulations or policies affecting the Company’s activities; the uncertainties involved in interpreting
geological data; and the other risks disclosed under the heading “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in the Company’s annual information form dated
March 28, 2013 filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Forward-looking information speaks only as of the date on which it is made and, except
as may be required by applicable securities laws, the Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update any forward-looking information,
whether as a result of new information, future events or results or otherwise. Although the Company believes that the assumptions inherent
in the forward-looking information are reasonable, forward-looking information is not a guarantee of future performance and accordingly
undue reliance should not be put on such information due to the inherent uncertainty therein. Paul Jones, Vice-President, Exploration for
Victory Nickel, acts as QP under National Instrument 43-101.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
All of the information in the annual report and accompanying consolidated financial statements of Victory Nickel
Inc. is the responsibility of management. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by
management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for public companies, being
international financial reporting standards. Where necessary, management has made judgements and estimates
in preparing the consolidated financial statements and such statements have been prepared within acceptable
limits of materiality. The financial information contained elsewhere in the annual report has been reviewed to
ensure that it is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.
Management maintains appropriate systems of internal control to give reasonable assurance that its assets are
safeguarded, and the financial records are properly maintained.
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for financial reporting
and internal control and exercises this responsibility principally through the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee, which is comprised of Directors, none of whom are employees or officers of the Company, meets with
management and the external auditors to review the auditors’ report and the consolidated financial statements to
satisfy itself that management is properly discharging its responsibilities to the Directors, who approve the
consolidated financial statements.
A firm of independent Chartered Accountants, appointed by the shareholders, audits the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and provides an independent
professional opinion thereon. The external auditors have free and full access to the Audit Committee with respect
to their findings regarding the fairness of financial reporting and the adequacy of internal controls.

René R. Galipeau
Vice-Chairman and CEO
March 25, 2013

Alison J. Sutcliffe
Vice-President, Finance & CFO
March 25, 2013
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF VICTORY NICKEL INC.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Victory Nickel Inc. which comprise the
consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and the consolidated statements
of operations, comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012
and December 31, 2011 and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Victory Nickel Inc. as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the years ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.
Emphasis of Matter
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements which
indicates that the Company has not commenced commercial production and accordingly the Company is
dependent upon debt or equity financing and the optioning and/or sale of resource or resource-related assets for
its funding. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

(signed) BDO Canada LLP
Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Ontario
March 25, 2013
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at December 31,
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

2012

2011

Notes

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables and prepaids
Marketable securities

6
7
8

$

256 $
155
557

517
129
2,383

968

3,029

1,424
37,897
14,738

1,277
35,571
14,577

54,059
55,027 $

51,425
54,454

551 $
1,000

322
-

1,551

322

8
2,473

2,702

Total non-current liabilities

2,481

2,702

Total Liabilities

4,032

3,024

47,683
4,397
1,855
(2,940)

47,631
4,134
2,422
(2,757)

50,995
55,027 $

51,430
54,454

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property and equipment
Mine property and development project
Exploration and evaluation projects

10
11
12

Total non-current assets
Total Assets

$

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings

13
14

$

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Accrued interest
Deferred tax liability

Shareholders' equity
Share capital
Contributed surplus
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Deficit

14
15

16

Total shareholders' equity
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

$

NATURE OF OPERATIONS (Note 1)
Approved by the Board of Directors
(signed)
Cynthia P. Thomas
Director
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

(signed)
Roland Horst
Director
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Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years ended December 31,
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

Operating expenses
General and administrative
Share-based payments:
Options
Share Bonus Plan
Amortization of property and equipment
Recovery of exploration and evaluation project
Victory Silica pre-operating costs

2012

$

10
12
12

19
19

Net finance costs
Loss before income taxes
Income tax recovery

20

Net Loss for the Year
Loss per share
Basic loss per share
Diluted loss per share

(1,321) $

(1,575)

18

Operating loss
Finance income
Finance costs

2011

Notes

(263)
(18)
1,450
(159)

(342)
(24)
(12)
597
-

(311)

(1,356)

3
(16)

96
(217)

(13)

(121)

(324)

(1,477)

141

340

$

(183) $

(1,137)

$
$

(0.00) $
(0.00) $

(0.00)
(0.00)

2012

2011

17

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
Years ended December 31,
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Notes

Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive (loss) income ("OCI")
Net change in fair value of financial assets
Income tax recovery

$

9
15

Other comprehensive loss for the year
Total Comprehensive Loss for the Year
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

$

(183) $

(1,137)

(655)
88

(1,962)
265

(567)
(750) $

(1,697)
(2,834)
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Share
Capital

Notes

Balances as at January 1, 2011

Accumulated
Other
Contributed Comprehensive
Surplus
Income / (Loss)

$

46,114 $

3,721 $

4,119 $

Deficit

Total Equity

(1,620) $

52,334

(1,137)

(1,137)

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive loss
Net change in fair value of financial assets
Income tax recovery

9
15

Total other comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive loss for the year

(1,962)
265

(1,962)
265

(1,697)

(1,697)
(2,834)

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Contributions by owners in the year
Issue of common shares and warrants
under private placement
Issue of flow-through common shares and warrants
under private placement
Issue of common shares under Share Bonus Plan
Options granted and vesting or modified
Warrants exercised
Options exercised

16

471

26

-

-

497

16
16
18
16,18
16,18

797
55
168
26

88
342
(32)
(11)

-

-

885
55
342
136
15

413
413

-

-

1,930
1,930

Total contributions by owners
Total transactions with owners

1,517
1,517

Balances as at December 31, 2011

$

47,631 $

4,134 $

2,422 $

(2,757) $

51,430

Balances as at January 1, 2012

$

47,631 $

4,134 $

2,422 $

(2,757) $

51,430

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive loss
Net change in fair value of financial assets
Income tax recovery

(183)
9
15

Total other comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive loss for the year

(183)

(655)
88

(655)
88

(567)

(567)
(750)

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Contributions by owners in the year
Issue of common shares
Expiry of finders' warrants
Options granted and vesting

16
16
18

Total contributions by owners
Total transactions with owners
Balances as at December 31, 2012

$

38
14
-

263

-

-

38
14
263

52
52

263
263

-

-

315
315

47,683 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

4,397 $

1,855 $

(2,940) $

50,995
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31,
(in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss for the year
Adjustments for:
Share-based payments
Expiry of finder's unit warrants
Amortization of property and equipment
Recovery of exploration and evaluation project
Net finance costs
Income tax recovery
Net change in working capital:
Change in receivables
Change in trade and other payables

2012

$
18
16
10
12
20

9
164

11
12

12
10
10

Net cash from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of common shares and warrants
Net proceeds of loan

(183) $
263
14
18
(1,450)
11
(141)

Net cash used by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Expenditures on mine property and development project
Expenditures on exploration and evaluation projects
Purchase of marketable securities
Proceeds on sale of marketable securities
Proceeds from option of Lynn Lake
Deposits on equipment
Purchase of furniture

2011

Notes

16
14

Net cash from financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of the Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of the Year
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

366
12
(597)
126
(340)
(33)
(51)

(1,295)

(1,654)

(2,201)
(183)
1,168
1,450
(200)
-

(594)
(5,056)
(114)
6,112
600
(526)
(48)

34

374

1,000

1,627
-

1,000

1,627

(261)
517
$

(1,137)

256 $

347
170
517
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(all tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except common share and per share information)
1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Nature of Operations
Victory Nickel Inc. (“Victory Nickel” or the “Company”) is a company domiciled in Canada. The address of the
Company’s registered office is 80 Richmond St. West, Suite 1802, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 2A4. The consolidated
financial statements as at and for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 comprise the Company and its
subsidiary Victory Silica Ltd. (“VSL” or “Victory Silica”) together referred to as “Victory Nickel” and individually as
“Victory Nickel entities”. Victory Nickel is primarily engaged in the acquisition, exploration and development of nickel
properties in Canada. The Company was formed on February 1, 2007 pursuant to a plan of arrangement.
The Company is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol NI.
Going Concern
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(“GAAP”) applicable to a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in
the normal course of business as they come due. As at December 31, 2012, the Company had a working capital
deficiency of $583,000, which includes approximately $176,000 of voluntary deferrals owing to directors and senior
management and $118,000 of accounts payable subsequently settled through issuing shares, (December 31, 2011
– working capital of $2,707,000). Working capital is defined as current assets less current liabilities. The Company
has initiatives underway to improve working capital which are expected to be announced shortly; these include the
private placement of $2,209,000 which closed on March 22, 2013 (Note 25).
The Company is subject to the risks and challenges experienced by other companies at a comparable stage. These
risks include, but are not limited to, continuing losses, dependence on key individuals and the ability to secure
adequate financing or to complete corporate transactions to meet the minimum capital required to successfully
complete its projects and fund other operating expenses. Development of the Company’s current projects to the
production stage will require significant financing. Given the current economic climate, the ability to raise funds may
prove difficult.
None of the Company’s projects has commenced commercial production and, accordingly, the Company is
dependent upon debt or equity financings and the optioning and/or sale of resource or resource-related assets for its
funding. The recoverability of the carrying value of exploration and evaluation projects and the mine property and
development project, and ultimately the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, is dependent upon
exploration results which have the potential for the discovery of economically-recoverable reserves and resources,
the Company’s ability to finance exploitation of its projects through debt or equity financings and the optioning and/or
sale of resource or resource-related assets such as royalty interests for its funding.
Should the Company not be able to continue to achieve favourable exploration results, obtain the necessary
financing, achieve profitable operations on the frac sand business or achieve future profitable production or sale of
properties, the carrying value of the Company’s assets could be subject to material adjustment and, in addition,
other adjustments may be necessary to these financial statements should such adverse events impair the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern as contemplated under GAAP. There is no certainty, especially in
the present environment, that the Company’s initiatives to improve working capital will be successful or that working
capital generated thereby will be sufficient to fund the Company’s activities including project expenditures and
corporate costs.
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies consistent with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and its interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”). This is GAAP for a Canadian public company.
The management of Victory Nickel prepare the consolidated financial statements which are then reviewed by the
Audit Committee and the Board of Directors. The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the
Board of Directors on March 25, 2013 and are made available to shareholders and others through filing on SEDAR
shortly thereafter.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(all tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except common share and per share information)
(b) Basis of Measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost basis except for derivative financial instruments
such as warrants which are measured at fair value with changes through operations and financial assets such as
marketable securities which are measured at fair value with changes recorded through other comprehensive income
or loss (“OCI”).
(c) Functional and Presentation Currency
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. All
financial information is expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated; tabular amounts are stated in
thousands of dollars.
(d) Use of Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates,
judgements and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
It is reasonably possible that, on the basis of existing knowledge, outcomes in the next financial year that are
different from the assumptions used could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or
liability affected.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include all adjustments that are, in the opinion of management,
necessary for fair presentation.
Significant estimates and assumptions
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
Information regarding significant areas of estimation uncertainty made in applying accounting policies that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements is included in the following notes:
•
•
•
•

Note 9 - valuation of financial assets at fair value through operations and OCI;
Note 11 - measurement of the recoverable amount of mine property and development project;
Note 12 - measurement of the recoverable amount of exploration and evaluation projects; and
Note 18 - measurement of share-based payments.

Significant judgements
Judgements are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Changes resulting from the effects of amended judgements are
recognized in the period in which the circumstance giving rise to the change occurs and in any future periods
presented.
Information regarding significant areas of critical judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements is included in the following notes:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Note 1 - going concern assessment;
Note 11 - classification of expenditures as mine property and development project or operating expenses;
Note 12 - classification of expenditures as exploration and evaluation projects or operating expenses;
Note 11 - impairment of mine property and development project;
Note 12 - impairment of exploration and evaluation projects; and
Note 15 - recoverability of deferred tax assets.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies of the Company are set out in detail below. Such policies have been applied consistently to
all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Victory Nickel
entities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(all tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except common share and per share information)
(a) New Accounting Policies
There have been no new accounting policies adopted by the Company, except that the financial statements are
now prepared on the consolidated basis in accordance with IFRS 10 and 12.
(b) Basis of Consolidation
Subsidiary
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by Victory Nickel. Control exists when Victory Nickel has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential
voting rights that currently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control
ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries align with the policies adopted by Victory Nickel. Significant
Company entities are listed in Note 23.
(i) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intercompany
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized gains arising from
transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of Victory Nickel’s
interest in the investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.
(c) Foreign Currency
(i) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currency of Victory Nickel at exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the
reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency
gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortized cost in the functional currency at the beginning
of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortized cost in foreign
currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate
at the date that the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized
through operations, except for differences arising on the retranslation of marketable securities, which are recognized
directly in OCI. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historic cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
(d) Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), which impacts the classification and measurement of financial assets, has
been early-adopted by the Company.
(i) Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity securities, receivables, cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other payables.
Non-derivative financial instruments, with the exception of financial assets at fair value through OCI, are recognized
initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through operations, any directly attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, non-derivative financial instruments are measured as described below.
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits.
Loans, receivables and borrowings are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Such assets and liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans, receivables and borrowings are measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Loans, receivables and borrowings comprise
receivables or payables.
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(all tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except common share and per share information)
Accounting for finance income and expenses is discussed in Note 3(n).
Financial assets at fair value through OCI
Victory Nickel’s investments in equity securities are measured at fair value and changes therein, as well as foreign
currency differences on monetary items (which do not include equity investments), are recognized directly in OCI.
Financial instruments at amortized cost
Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less
any impairment losses.
(ii) Derivative financial instruments
Victory Nickel holds warrants as part of its portfolio of marketable securities which are financial assets at fair value
through operations.
Derivatives are recognized initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognized through operations
when incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value and changes therein are
recognized immediately through operations.
(e) Property and Equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement
Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. Cost includes any expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.
When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate
items (major components) of property and equipment. Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property and
equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property and
equipment and are recognized net within Other income in the consolidated statement of operations.
(ii) Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated as a function of the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset less its residual
value. Depreciation is recognized through operations as follows over the estimated useful lives of each part of an
item of property and equipment. Land is not depreciated.
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:
Item

Method

Building

Declining-balance

2012
5%

2011
5%

Equipment & Furniture

Declining-balance

20%

20%

Vehicle

Declining-balance

30%

30%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if
appropriate.
(f) Exploration and Evaluation Projects
(i) Exploration and Evaluation expenditures
Exploration and Evaluation (“E&E”) expenditures relate to costs incurred on the exploration for and evaluation of
potential mineral reserves and includes costs related to the following: acquisition of exploration rights; conducting
geological studies; exploratory drilling and sampling and evaluating the technical feasibility and commercial viability
of extracting a mineral resource.
E&E expenditures, including costs of acquiring licenses, are capitalized as E&E assets on an “area of interest basis”
which generally is defined as a project. The Company considers a project to be an individual geological area
whereby the presence of a mineral deposit is considered favourable or has been proved to exist and, in most cases,
comprises a single mine or deposit.
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(all tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except common share and per share information)
E&E assets are recognized if the rights to the project are current and either:
• the expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the
project, or alternatively by its sale; or
• activities on the project have not, at the reporting date, reached a stage which permits a reasonable
assessment of the existence or other otherwise of economically recoverable reserves and active and
significant operations in, or in relation to, the project are continuing.
E&E expenditures are initially capitalized as intangible E&E assets. Such E&E expenditures may include costs of
licence acquisition, technical services and studies, seismic acquisition, exploration drilling and testing, materials and
fuels used, rentals and payments made to contractors and consultants. To the extent that a tangible asset is
consumed in developing an intangible E&E asset, the amount reflecting that consumption is recorded as part of the
cost of the intangible asset.
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral reserves in a project are
demonstrable, permitted and development is approved by the Board, E&E assets attributable to that project are first
tested for impairment and then reclassified to Mine property and development projects on the consolidated balance
sheet.
(ii) Pre-E&E (project generation) expenditures
Pre-E&E (project generation) expenditures are incurred on activities that precede exploration for an evaluation of
mineral resources, being all expenditures incurred prior to securing the legal rights to explore an area. Pre-E&E
expenditures are expensed immediately as Pre-exploration write-offs through the consolidated statement of
operations.
(iii) Impairment
E&E assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an E&E
asset may exceed its recoverable amount and any impairment loss is recognized as Writedown of exploration and
evaluation projects through the consolidated statement of operations. The following facts and circumstances,
among other things, indicate that E&E assets must be tested for impairment:
•
•
•
•

the term of exploration license for the project has expired during the reporting period or will expire in the
near future, and is not expected to be renewed;
substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the project area is
neither budgeted nor planned;
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the project area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the Company plans to discontinue activities in the
specific area; or
sufficient data exists to indicate that while development activity is likely to proceed, the carrying amount of
the E&E asset is unlikely to be recovered in full through such activity.

E&E assets are tested for impairment on an individual project (area of interest) basis. As noted above, a project
would also be tested for impairment before being transferred to Mine property and development projects on the
consolidated balance sheet.
(g) Mine Property and Development Project
(i) Pre-production development expenditures
The Company considers a project to be in the development phase when an identified mineral reserve is being
prepared for production as approved by the Board, for example when there is construction of access to the mineral
reserves upon determination that there is economic viability of the project under a successful feasibility study and is
permitted for development. As such, project development activities are related to the construction of an asset to be
used in production or preparation for extraction of a specific mineral resource.
The costs of mining properties, which include the costs of acquiring and developing mining properties and mineral
rights, are capitalized in the same manner as property and equipment under Mine property and development project
(“MP&D”) assets on the consolidated balance sheet in the period in which they are incurred or transferred from E&E
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(all tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except common share and per share information)
assets upon determination of economic viability. At that point, all further pre-production primary development
expenditure other than land, buildings, plant and equipment, etc is capitalized as part of the cost of the project until
the project is capable of commercial production. This includes costs incurred in preparing the site for mining
operations, including pre-stripping costs.
Presently, the Company’s sole project classified as Mine property and development project on the consolidated
balance sheet is the Minago project; it continues to be in the pre-production phase and costs continue to be
capitalized without depreciation.
(ii) Impairment
If a property were to be abandoned, there is little likelihood of a mineral right being exploited, or the value of the
exploitable mineral right has diminished below cost, the cumulative capitalized cost relating to the property is written
off to its recoverable amount through operations.
(h) Borrowing Costs
The Company’s policy is to capitalize project-related borrowing costs related to qualifying assets as incurred. A
qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or
sale. The Company presently does not have any project-related borrowings on qualifying assets.
(i) Government Grants
Government grants that compensate Victory Nickel for expenses incurred are recognized through operations on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are recognized. Grants that compensate Victory Nickel
for the cost of an asset are recognized through operations on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.
For assets which are not being amortized, such as E&E assets or MP&D assets, the government grant is deducted
from the related asset.
(j) Investment Tax Credits (“ITCs”)
Investment tax credits may be claimed by the Company on qualifying expenditures. The Company accounts for
these when such qualifying expenditures have been made by reducing the deferred tax liability and recording an
income tax recovery through the consolidated statement of operations.
(k) Impairment
(i) Financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is
impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have
had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate. Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The
remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.
An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognized. For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the reversal is recognized through
operations.
(ii) Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of Victory Nickel’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives or that are not
yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (“CGU”) (see definition below) is the greater of its value
in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
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money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into
the smallest group of assets that generates, or has the potential to generate, cash inflows from continuing use that
are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. Generally, a CGU is analogous to
an individual project. The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is
allocated to CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or a CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognized through operations. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the
carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.
Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss
has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization,
if no impairment loss had been recognized.
(l) Employee Benefits
(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when Victory Nickel is demonstrably committed, without realistic
possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date, or
to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for
voluntary redundancies are recognized as an expense if Victory Nickel has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is
probable that the offer will be accepted and the number of acceptances can be reliably estimated.
(ii) Short-term benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related
service is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus plans if
Victory Nickel has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided
by the employee and the obligation can be reliably estimated.
(iii) Share-based payment transactions
The grant-date fair value of options granted to employees, directors and consultants is recognized as an employee
expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the individuals become unconditionally
entitled to the options. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share
options for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are met.
Share-based payment arrangements in which the Company receives properties, goods or services as consideration
for its own equity instruments are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions, regardless of
how the equity instruments are obtained by Victory Nickel.
(m) Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation
that can be reliably estimated and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the
discount is recognized as a finance cost.
In accordance with the Company’s environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for site
restoration or decommissioning in respect of land restoration, and the related expense, is recognized when the land
is contaminated and there is a legal obligation to restore the site. The Company presently has no decommissioning
liabilities.
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(n) Finance Income and Finance Costs
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (including financial assets at fair value through
operations), dividend income, gains on the disposal of financial assets at fair value through operations, amortization
of flow-through premiums and changes in the fair value of financial assets (warrants) at fair value through
operations. Interest income is recognized as it accrues through operations, using the effective interest method.
Dividend income is recognized through operations on the date that the Company’s right to receive payment is
established, which in the case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date. Gains on the disposal of financial assets
are recognized on the settlement date.
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, dividends on
preferred shares classified as liabilities, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through operations
and losses recognized on financial assets that are recognized through operations. All borrowing costs are
recognized through operations using the effective interest method, except for those amounts capitalized as part of
the cost of qualifying assets.
Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.
(o) Income Taxes
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized through operations
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized either in OCI or directly in equity, in which case it is
recognized in OCI or in equity respectively.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities to the extent that it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable
temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are
expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
In 2009, pursuant to the receipt of a positive feasibility study for the Minago project, Victory Nickel determined that it
was probable that it would be able to realize the benefit associated with its losses and costs prior to their expiry.
Accordingly, the Company recognized the deferred tax assets (to the extent of the deferred tax liability) at that time.
Victory Nickel continues to believe it is probable that the benefit of its losses and other costs will be realized prior to
their expiry. Victory Silica represents a new business venture for the Company; as it is not yet in operation, the
Company has not recognized its deferred tax assets.
(p) Share Capital
(i) Common shares
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares
and share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
The Company has financed a portion of its exploration and evaluation activities through the issue of flow-through
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shares. Under the terms of these share issues, the tax attributes of the related expenditures are renounced to
subscribers. Common shares issued on a flow-through basis typically include a premium because of the tax
benefits associated therewith (“flow-through premium”). Flow-through shares may also be issued with a warrant
feature. At the time of issue, the Company estimates the proportion of proceeds attributable to the flow-through
premium, the common share and the warrant with reference to closing market prices and such techniques as the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The flow-through premium is estimated as the excess of the subscription price
over the market value of the share and is recorded as a liability in Trade and other payables on the consolidated
balance sheet (Note 13). The proceeds attributable to the warrants is also treated as equity and recorded in
Contributed surplus on the consolidated balance sheet until exercise, when the associated proportion is transferred
to share capital along with the cash proceeds received on exercise.
The effect of renunciation of the tax benefits to holders of such shares is recognized pro rata with the associated
expenditures being incurred by the Company. This could occur either before or after the formal renunciation of
expenditures to the tax authorities have been made. When the eligible expenditures are incurred, the tax value of
the renunciation is recorded as a deferred tax liability and charged against operations as a deferred tax provision.
Furthermore, as eligible expenditures are incurred, the Company recognises a pro rata amount of the flow-through
premium through Finance income in the consolidated statement of operations (Note 19) with a decrement to the
liability in Trade and other payables on the consolidated balance sheet.
(ii) Share-based payment arrangements
Stock Option Plan
The Company has a stock option plan (the “Stock Option Plan”) which is described in Note 18. Awards to nonemployees are measured at the fair value of the goods or services received. Awards made to employees are
measured at the grant date. All stock-based awards made to employees and non-employees are recognized at the
date of grant using a fair-value-based method to calculate the share-based payment. The share-based payment is
charged to operations over the vesting period of the options or service period, whichever is shorter. Stock options
vest either immediately or over a 12-month period.
Share Incentive Plan
The Company has a share incentive plan (the “Share Incentive Plan”), which includes both a share purchase plan
(the “Share Purchase Plan”) and a share bonus plan (the “Share Bonus Plan”). The Share Incentive Plan is
administered by the Directors of the Company. The Share Incentive Plan provides that eligible persons thereunder
include Directors, senior officers and employees of the Company and its designated affiliates and consultants who
are primarily responsible for the management and profitable growth of the business.
The Share Incentive Plan is described in Note 16. The Company uses the fair value method of accounting for, and
to recognize as compensation expense, its share-based payments for employees. Shares issued under the Share
Incentive Plan are valued based on the quoted market price on the date of the award. This amount is expensed
over the vesting period.
(q) Earnings (Loss) per Share
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) data for its common shares. Basic EPS is
calculated by dividing the results of operations attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the results
of operations attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares, which comprise warrants and share options.
(r) New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted
The IASB and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) have issued the following new
and revised standards and interpretations which are applicable to the Company but which are not yet effective for
the year ended December 31, 2012 and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements
unless stated otherwise.
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IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted, IFRS 10
establishes principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity
controls one or more other entities. The IFRS defines the principle of control and establishes control as the basis for
determining which entities are consolidated in the consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted, IFRS 12 requires
the disclosure of information that enables users of financial statements to evaluate the nature of, and risks
associated with, its interest in other entities and the effects of those interests on its financial position, financial
performance and cash flows.
Early adoption of these standards is only permitted if IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and the consequential
amendments to IAS 17 and IAS 18 are adopted at the same time, with the exception of early-adopting only the
disclosure provisions for IFRS 12 without the other new standards.
The Company has early-adopted these standards when consolidating its subsidiary Victory Silica (Note 23).
IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted, IFRS 13 provides a
definition of fair value, a single framework for measuring fair value and disclosure requirements about fair value
measurements.
Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012, the amendments to IAS 1 require companies
preparing financial statements in accordance with IFRS to group together items within OCI that may be reclassified
to the income or loss section of the statement of operations.
IFRS 13 and Amendments to IAS 1 have not been early-adopted by the Company. However, the Company does
not believe that the application of these pronouncements will have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Company.
4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES
Overview
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
•
•
•
•

credit risk;
liquidity risk;
market risk; and
operational risk.

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s management of capital.
Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements.
Risk Management Framework
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk
management framework. The Board fulfils its responsibility through the Audit Committee which is responsible for
overseeing the Company’s risk management policies.
The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Company,
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management practices
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities. The Company has an
established code of conduct which sets out the control environment within which framework all directors’ and
employees’ roles and obligations are outlined. The Company’s risk and control framework is facilitated by the
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small-sized and hands-on executive team.
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected financial loss to the Company if a customer or third party to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Company’s cash and cash
equivalents, receivables and marketable securities.
Cash and cash equivalents
The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held through large Canadian financial institutions. The Company
has a corporate policy of investing its available cash in Canadian government instruments and certificates of
deposit or other direct obligations of major Canadian banks, unless otherwise specifically approved by the Board.
Receivables
The Company’s receivables consist primarily of amounts due from federal and provincial governments. Amounts
due from other parties are settled on a regular basis.
When necessary, the Company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred
losses in respect of receivables. The main component of this allowance is a specific loss component that relates to
individually significant exposures.
Further, when the Company engages in corporate transactions, it seeks to manage its exposure by ensuring that
appropriate recourse is included in such agreements upon the counterparty’s failure to meet contractual
obligations.
Marketable securities
The Company limits its exposure to credit risk by investing only in securities which are listed on public stock
exchanges. Such strategic investments are approved by the Board of Directors of the Company. Management
actively monitors changes in the markets and management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its
obligations. The Company’s investments are generally in the junior natural resources sector and these companies
are subject to similar areas of risk as the Company itself.
Guarantees
The Company’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries or under business
arrangements where the benefit of the guarantee will enure to the Company. As at December 31, 2012, the
Company had $nil in guarantees outstanding (2011 - $nil).
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities
when due without incurring unacceptable losses or risking undue damage to the Company’s reputation.
The Company’s objective is to maintain sufficient capital in order to meet short-term business requirements, after
taking into account cash flows from operations and the Company’s holdings of cash and cash equivalents and
marketable securities. This is accomplished by budgets and forecasts which are updated on a periodic basis to
understand future cash needs and sources. When possible, spending plans are adjusted accordingly to provide for
liquidity.
The Company manages its liquidity risk through the mechanisms described above and as part of Capital
Disclosures below. The Company has historically relied on issuances of shares to develop projects and to finance
day-to-day operations and may do so again in the future.
The Company has no significant long-term liabilities except for its deferred tax liability and long-term loan. All other
contractually-obligated cash flows are payable within the next fiscal year.
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Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates, commodity
prices and equity prices will affect the Company’s income, the value of its E&E and MP&D properties or the value
of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market
risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.
Currency risk
The Company is exposed to currency risk on purchases and other payables that are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the Company; the Canadian dollar. The primary currency in which these
transactions are denominated is the United States dollar (“US$”). The Company does not actively hedge its foreign
currency exposure.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Company’s cash equivalents earn interest at variable short-term rates. The
Company’s debt bears interest at a fixed rate (Note 14). Accordingly, the estimated effect of a 50bps change in
interest rate would not have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations. None of the Company’s
other financial instruments are interest-bearing. Consequently, the Company is not exposed to any significant
interest rate risk which could be caused by a sudden change in market interest rates.
Other market price risk
The Company’s marketable securities and strategic investments are subject to equity price risk. The values of
these investments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, the price of metals or other factors affecting
the value of the investments.
Commodity price risk is the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price
movements and volatilities. The value of the Company’s mineral resource properties is related to the price of, and
outlook for, base and precious metals. Historically, such prices have fluctuated and are affected by numerous
factors outside of the Company’s control, including, but not limited to: industrial and retail demand, central bank
lending, forward sales by producers and speculators, levels of worldwide production, short-term changes in supply
and demand because of speculative hedging activities and other factors such as significant mine closures. The
Company does not have any hedging or other commodity-based risks respecting its operations. The value of the
Company’s strategic investments is also related to the price of, and outlook for, base and precious metals and
other minerals.
Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the
Company’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market
and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards
of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Company’s operations.
The Company’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and
damage to the Company’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict
initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is
assigned to senior management. The Company has a small but hands-on and experienced executive team which
facilitates communication across the Company. This expertise is supplemented, when necessary, by the use of
experienced consultants in legal, compliance and industry-related specialties. The Company also has standards
for the management of operational risk in the following areas:
• requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorization of transactions;
• requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;
• compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
• documentation of controls and procedures;
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•
•
•

development of contingency plans;
ethical and business standards; and
risk mitigation, including insurance when this is effective and available.

Compliance with Company standards is supported by a code of conduct which is provided to employees, officers
and directors. The Company requires sign-off of compliance with the code of conduct.
Capital Management Disclosures
The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard its accumulated capital in order to provide an
adequate return to shareholders by maintaining a sufficient level of funds to support continued project development
and corporate activities. Capital is defined by the Company as the aggregate of its shareholders’ equity as well as
any long-term debt, equipment-based and/or project-based financing.
December 31,
2012
Shareholders' equity
Long-term debt

December 31,
2011

$

50,995 $
8

51,430
-

$

51,003 $

51,430

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it based on the level of funds available to
the Company to manage its operations. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company expects
that it will be able to obtain equity, long-term debt, equipment-based financing and/or project-based financing
sufficient to maintain and expand its operations. There are no assurances that these initiatives will be successful.
In order to achieve these objectives, the Company invests its unexpended cash in highly-liquid, rated financial
instruments. Refer to Note 25.
Neither the Company, nor its subsidiary, are subject to externally-imposed capital requirements. There were no
changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year.
5. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES
A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value for both
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes based on the methods described below. When applicable, further information about the
assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.
(a) Property and Equipment
The fair value of property and equipment recognized as a result of a business combination is based on the amount
for which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s
length transaction.
(b) Intangible Assets
The fair value of other intangible assets is based on the discounted cash flows expected to be derived from the use
and eventual sale of the assets.
(c) Marketable Securities
The fair value of financial assets at fair value through operations or OCI is determined by reference to their quoted
closing bid price at the reporting date.
Fair value hierarchy
The different levels of valuation are defined as follows:
Level 1:
Level 2:
Level 3:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
Inputs for the asset or liability are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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(d) Receivables
The fair value of receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of
interest at the reporting date. This fair value is determined for disclosure purposes only.
(e) Warrants
The fair value of warrants included in financial assets at fair value through operations is based upon the BlackScholes option-pricing model. Measurement inputs include: share price on measurement date, exercise price of
the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due
to publicly-available information), weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historic experience
and general option-holder behaviour), expected dividends and the risk-free interest rate (based on government
bonds).
(f) Non-derivative Financial Liabilities
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal
and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.
(g) Share-based Payment Transactions
The fair value of share options is measured using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The measurement inputs
are described above under Note 5(e). Any service and non-market performance conditions attached to the
transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value.
6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
December 31,
2012

December 31,
2011

Bank balances

$

256

$

517

Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Statement of
Cash Flows

$

256

$

517

7. RECEIVABLES AND PREPAIDS
Note
Receivables
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Due from Nuinsco Resources Limited

December 31,
2012

December 31,
2011

$

68
50
37

$

106
3
20

$

155

$

129

22

8. MARKETABLE SECURITIES
Note
Financial assets at fair value through OCI:
Shares
Financial assets at fair value through operations:
Warrants

9

December 31,
2012
$

9

557

December 31,
2011
$

$

557

2,380
3

$

2,383

The Company records its portfolio of shares at available market prices with any difference in fair value compared
with acquisition cost being recorded as gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through OCI.
The financial assets at fair value through operations consist of warrants which are not publicly-traded. However,
they are susceptible to valuation using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, the inputs for which are readily
determinable. Any change in fair value after initial recognition, is recorded through the consolidated statement of
operations as a gain or loss on financial assets at fair value in Finance income or Finance costs (Note 19). The
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change in the fair value of the warrants was a net decline of $3,000 during the year ended December 31, 2012 and
is included in Finance costs (December 31, 2011 – net decline of $213,000 in Finance costs).
Sensitivity Analysis – Equity Price Risk
All of the Company’s financial assets at fair value through OCI are listed on public stock exchanges, including the
TSX and the TSX-V. Recently, the markets have experienced extreme volatility, therefore the sensitivity analysis is
now performed using 15%; the analysis was previously performed using 5%. For such investments, a 15%
increase in the equity prices at the reporting date would have increased equity by $72,000, after tax effects of
$12,000 (as at December 31, 2011 at 15% - an increase of $306,000, after tax effects of $51,000); an equal
change in the opposite direction would have had the equal but opposite effect on the amounts shown above.
For financial assets at fair value through operations, the impact on operations of a 15% increase in the fair value at
December 31, 2012 and at December 31, 2011 would not have been material.
9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Credit Risk
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. All amounts are held in Canada.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:
December 31,
2012

Notes
Carrying amount
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Financial assets at fair value through OCI
Financial assets at fair value through operations

6
7
8
8

December 31,
2011

$

256
155
557
-

$

517
129
2,380
3

$

968

$

3,029

Liquidity Risk
The following table shows the contractual maturities of financial liabilities including estimated interest payments.
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Long-term
liability
As at December 31, 2012
Carrying amount

$

Contractual cash flows
6 months or less
2 - 5 years
As at December 31, 2011
Carrying amount
Contractual cash flows
6 months or less

$

Trade and
other payables

Total

1,009 $

551 $

1,560

1,009
1,009

551
551
-

1,560
551
1,009

- $

322 $

322

-

322
322

322
322

Note that the long-term loan is contractually payable on January 31, 2015, however, because up to $1,000,000 of option payments may be
diverted to the lender as prepayment, that amount is classified as a current liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheet (Notes 12, 14 and 25).

Currency Risk
Exposure to currency risk
The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is immaterial; periodically, the Company may have trade
payables in US$. Refer also to Note 24 for commitments.
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Sensitivity analysis
A 10% strengthening or weakening of the Canadian dollar would have an immaterial effect on the Company’s
equity or profit or loss. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.
Fair Value
Fair values versus carrying amounts
The fair values of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities equal their carrying amounts shown in the
consolidated balance sheets. The Company has not made any reclassifications between assets recorded at cost
or amortized cost and fair value.
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value by valuation method:
Level 1
As at December 31, 2012
Financial assets at fair value through OCI

As at December 31, 2011
Financial assets at fair value through OCI
Financial assets at fair value through operations

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$

557 $

- $

- $

557

$

557 $

- $

- $

557

$

2,380 $
-

- $
3

- $
-

2,380
3

$

2,380 $

3 $

- $

2,383

There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the current and prior reporting periods. All of the
shares owned by the Company are valued using Level 1 methodologies; warrants are not publicly-traded but are
susceptible to valuation using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, the inputs for which are readily
determinable.
The warrants were valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, using the following parameters and
assumptions:
December 31,
2012

December 31,
2011

Fair values
Share prices at valuation date

$0.000
$0.009
$0.12 and $1.01 $0.41 and $2.05

Assumptions
Exercise prices
Expected volatilities
Expected remaining terms (years)
Expected dividends
Risk-free interest rates

$0.80 and $8.44 $0.80 and $8.44
72% and 63% 81% and 113%
0.308
0.308
1.13%
0.96%

Pursuant to a corporate transaction entered into by the issuer of the warrants, the warrants entitle the holder to
0.094758 of a share of the spin-off company. Accordingly, the parameters for the shares of both companies have
been considered in arriving at the estimated value of the warrant. The issuer announced a one-year extension to
the expiry period, effective April 5, 2012.
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10. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Balance as at January 1, 2011
Cost
Accumulated Amortization

$

Land and
Building
83 $
(4)

Equipment and
Vehicle
Furniture
32 $
637 $
(3)
(30)

Total
752
(37)

Carrying Amount

79

29

607

715

Additions
Amortization
Balance as at December 31, 2011
Cost
Accumulated Amortization

(2)

(8)

574
(2)

574
(12)

83
(6)

32
(11)

1,211
(32)

1,326
(49)

Carrying Amount

77

21

1,179

1,277

Additions
Disposals - cost
Disposals - accumulated amortization
Amortization
Balance as at December 31, 2012
Cost
Accumulated Amortization

(2)

(6)

200
(52)
(17)
(10)

200
(52)
(17)
(18)

83
(8)

32
(17)

1,359
(25)

1,474
(50)

Carrying Amount

$

75

$

15

$

1,334

$

1,424

Equipment and furniture includes deposits of $1,334,000 related to the purchase of transformers and other electrical
equipment; the equipment is not available for use and is not being depreciated. On May 10, 2010, the Company
entered into an agreement to purchase the equipment for the Minago project. The total price is US$2,840,000 (Note
24).
11. MINE PROPERTY AND DEVELOPMENT PROJECT
Effective September 19, 2011, the Board of Directors approved the development of the Minago mine and,
accordingly, the Company transferred expenditures of $34,807,000 on its Minago project from E&E assets to MP&D
assets on its consolidated balance sheet.
January 1,
2012
Minago

Recoveries

December 31,
2012

$

35,571 $

2,376 $

(50) $

$

35,571 $

2,376 $

(50) $

Transfer from
E&E projects
September 2011
Minago

Current
Expenditures

Current
Expenditures

Recoveries

37,897
37,897
December 31,
2011

$

34,807 $

764 $

- $

35,571

$

34,807 $

764 $

- $

35,571

Recoveries in 2012 represent a grant from the Manitoba Government that was received in April, 2012.
Minago
The 100%-owned Minago project covers approximately 28,928 ha, through a combination of mining claims, mineral
leases and a mineral exploration licence, on Manitoba’s Thompson Nickel Belt. The property encompasses the
Nose Deposit, which contains the entire current nickel mineral resource, and the North Limb, a zone of nickel
mineralization with a known strike length of 1.5 kilometres located to the north of the Nose Deposit.
From 2006 to date, considerable work has been performed, including diamond drilling, metallurgical testing and
engineering studies and all the studies required to complete the Environmental Impact Study which was filed in May
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2010. As a result, in August 2011, the Company received its Environmental Act Licence. The results of the Minago
Feasibility Study (“FS”) were announced in December 2009 and improvements thereto announced in June 2010 and
July 2011.
Five mineral claims totalling 691 ha located at the north end of the Company’s existing Minago property package are
subject to a maximum 2% net smelter return royalty with a 50% back-in right; these claims represent approximately
2.4% of the total Minago project.
The Minago project is not in production. Accordingly, the Minago project is not being depreciated. On September
19, 2011, the Company announced that the Board of Directors had approved the development of Minago and
directed management to proceed with securing financing arrangements.
12. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION PROJECTS
Cumulative costs relating to the acquisition of mineral properties and E&E expenditures have been incurred on the
following projects:
January 1,
2012
Lac Rocher
Lynn Lake
Mel

Current
Expenditures

Recoveries

Excess
Proceeds

December 31,
2012

$

7,254 $
7,323

63 $
98

- $
(1,450)
-

- $
1,450
-

7,317
7,421

$

14,577 $

161 $

(1,450) $

1,450 $

14,738

Recoveries/

January 1,
2011
Lac Rocher
Lynn Lake
Mel
Minago

Current Transfer to MP&D
Project
Expenditures

Excess
Proceeds

December 31,
2011

$

7,026 $
6,618
31,059

236 $
3
705
3,748

(8) $
(600)
(34,807)

- $
597
-

7,254
7,323
-

$

44,703 $

4,692 $

(35,415) $

597 $

14,577

The expenditures on the Lynn Lake property are shown net of cumulative option payments received which include
$1,000,000 in February 2012 and $450,000 in August 2012. The excess proceeds of $1,450,000 and $597,000 for
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, represent the excess of consideration received under
the option agreement above carrying value and are reflected in Recovery of exploration and evaluation project
through operations.
In September, 2011, the Board approved the development of the Minago project, accordingly, the Company reviewed amounts recorded at that date for impairment and transferred $34,807,000 to MP&D project (Note 11).
Lac Rocher
The Lac Rocher project, which is 100%-owned, is located 140 kilometres northeast of Matagami in northwestern
Québec. The project is subject to a royalty of $0.50 per ton on any ores mined and milled from the property and a
2% NSR described below.
In 2007, the Company began environmental work in support of obtaining a permit for the Lac Rocher deposit in order
to extract and direct-ship mineralized material to an offsite mill for processing. A 12-hole, 1,500 metre drill program
was also completed to test for extensions to the nickel sulphide mineralization and to provide metallurgical samples
for the Preliminary Economic Assessment (“PEA”) to determine the near-term production and cash generation
potential of the project.
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Metallurgical testing of the massive sulphide mineralization from the deposit was completed in December, 2007. In
February, 2008, the Company announced the results from metallurgical testing of the disseminated sulphide zone
and they were incorporated into the PEA completed in November 2008. The Company completed the construction
of an access road in the third quarter of 2009 and performed diamond drilling to provide geotechnical data for portal
and ramp development.
The Lac Rocher property is subject to a discovery incentive plan (the “DIP”) to reward certain individuals involved in
the discovery of Lac Rocher with a 2% NSR for mines that were discovered on certain properties prior to the expiry
of the DIP. The NSR is payable only on revenues earned after recovery of all development costs for any mine on
the property. The terms of the DIP provide the Company with a right of first refusal on any proposed disposition of
the NSR. In addition, the DIP contains put/call provisions under which the Company may be required to purchase,
or may exercise an option to purchase, the NSR at the value of its discounted cash flows, as defined therein. The
Lac Rocher property is the only property subject to the DIP. As the Lac Rocher property is not yet in production, no
royalties are currently payable.
Lynn Lake
The Company owns a 100% right, title and interest in the Lynn Lake nickel property (“Lynn Lake”), covering
approximately 600 ha in northern Manitoba. The Lynn Lake property is subject to an option agreement with
Prophecy Platinum Corp. (“Prophecy Platinum”).
The Company received $1,000,000 in February 2012; on August 8, 2012, the Company received $450,000 from
Prophecy Platinum in consideration for removal of the exploration expenditure condition from the Lynn Lake option
agreement and has received all payments scheduled under the option agreement to December 31, 2012.
Accordingly, under the original agreement, the sole remaining condition for the Lynn Lake property to transfer to
Prophecy Platinum was the $1,000,000 option payment which was originally due from Prophecy Platinum by March
1, 2013. On March 1, 2013, the Company agreed to an additional amendment to the option agreement which allows
Prophecy Platinum to make a series of payments through 2013 and 2014 aggregating $1,125,000 in satisfaction of
the remaining option conditions. On March 1, 2013, the Company received the first payment of $125,000; $450,000
remains due across 2013 and $550,000 is payable by August 29, 2014. Upon receipt of the final option payment in
2014, the Company will transfer ownership of Lynn Lake to Prophecy Platinum.
Failure on the part of Prophecy Platinum (if not cured by Prophecy Coal Corp.; the option agreement was assigned
by them to Prophecy Platinum with the Company’s consent) to meet any of the terms will result in cancellation of the
option on the property and it will revert to the Company.
In 2012, $1,450,000 excess of proceeds under the option agreement above the book value of the property had been
received and accordingly was recorded through the consolidated statement of operations as a recovery of
exploration and evaluation project in respect of Lynn Lake (December 31, 2011 - $597,000).
Mel
Effective August 27, 1999, Nuinsco Resources Limited (“Nuinsco”) (the predecessor entity of Victory Nickel) entered
into an option agreement (the “Agreement”) with Inco Limited (predecessor to CVRD Inco Limited, now Vale) for the
exploration and development of Vale’s Mel properties (the “Mel Properties”) located in the Thompson area of
northern Manitoba. Pursuant to the Agreement, sufficient expenditures have been incurred to earn a 100% interest
in the Mel Properties, and in 2007 the Company exercised its option to acquire such interest. Vale had the right to
earn back a 51% interest by incurring expenditures of $6,000,000 over a four-year period. On September 14, 2010,
Vale notified the Company that it would not exercise this back-in right. In accordance with the terms of the
agreement with Vale, they now are entitled to a 10% royalty on “distributable earnings” as defined in the agreement.
Distributable earnings is defined as net revenue less operating expenses, before federal and provincial income
taxes, after provincial mining taxes and less aggregate pre-production capital but before depreciation.
Also under the Agreement, Vale has a contractual obligation to mill ore mined from the Mel deposit at its cash cost
plus 5% (provided that the product meets Vale specifications and that Vale has sufficient mill capacity).
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Ongoing updating of Mel data is being conducted and applies to both the drilling data on the Mel deposit/lease as
well as the 111 drill holes collared on the claims portion of the property. When completed, additional modelling of
the resource will be continued. No fieldwork has been conducted during 2012.
Victory Silica
On June 19, 2012, the Company announced a new initiative through the hiring of Ken Murdock as the CEO and the
creation of Victory Silica. The objective is to establish VSL as a supplier of premium frac sand prior to commencing
frac sand sales from the Minago project. Presently, all costs relate to pre-operating costs and have been expensed
through operations. Refer also to Note 25.
Wakami, Lar and Wellmet Projects
The Company has incurred minimal expenditures on these properties in 2012 and 2011.
Impairment and Pre-exploration Costs
Costs relating to discontinued projects in the amounts of $nil were provided for through operations as Writedown of
exploration and evaluation projects in the consolidated statement of operations during the year ended December 31,
2012. In the year ended December 31, 2011, $3,000 of expenditures related to Lynn Lake were recorded against
the net recovery for Lynn Lake. There were no pre-exploration costs recorded in either 2012 or 2011.
13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Mine property and development project
Exploration and evaluation projects
Non-project related
Accrued liabilities
Mine property and development project
Exploration and evaluation projects
Non-project related
Other payables
Flow-through premium liability (see table below)

December 31,

December 31,

2012

2011

$

293
3
84

$

2
1
160
8
$

551

158
12
20
12
14
89
17
-

$

322

The following table shows the transactions and balances of the flow-through premium liability:
As at and for the years ended December 31,

2012

Balance as at beginning of year
Flow-through premium from financing - May, 2011
Flow-through premium adjusted through finance income

$

- $
-

Balance as at end of year

$

- $

2011
87
(87)
-

14. LOANS AND BORROWINGS
December 31,
2012
Advances
Interest payable
Unamortized loan fees

December 31,
2011

$

1,000 $
9
(1)

-

$

1,008 $

-

The Company has entered into a loan agreement for $1,000,000. The loan bears interest at 12% per annum and
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matures on January 31, 2015; the loan is secured by equipment and a general security agreement over the assets
of the Company. At the option of the lender, and under certain circumstances, the lender can elect to receive
prepayment of the loan from up to $1,000,000 of the proceeds of the Lynn Lake option payments originally due by
March 1, 2013. Accordingly, $1,000,000 of the loan has been classified as a current liability due within one year
since this matches the Lynn Lake option payments which were available to be diverted to the lender at their option
under the agreement in place as at December 31, 2012. As described in Note 12, the Lynn Lake option agreement
was amended March 1, 2013 and the future classification of the loan payable as current or long-term will be based
upon the ability of the lender to direct payments based on the amended schedule.
On March, 25, 2013, the Company increased this loan to up to $3 million (the “Amended Loan”) with the additional
amount available to fund capital expenditures relating to the Seven Persons sand recycling facility (the “7P Plant”).
Refer to Note 25.
15. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences between the carrying value of
the balance sheet items and their corresponding tax values as well as for the benefit of losses available to be
carried forward to future years for tax purposes that are considered probable to be realized.
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liability, after applying enacted corporate income
tax rates, are as follows:
December 31,
2012
Temporary differences
Property and equipment
Exploration, evaluation and development projects
Share issue and other costs
Non-capital tax losses carried forward
Capital losses carried forward
Capital gains unrealized

$

Unrecognized deferred tax assets
$

December 31,
2011

(24) $
6,345
(193)
(3,569)
(63)
(65)

(26)
6,179
(247)
(3,147)
(57)

2,431
42

2,702
-

2,473 $

2,702

The income tax recovery represents the recognition of deferred income tax assets (to the extent of the deferred tax
liability) since the Company currently believes that it is probable that the benefit associated with these losses and
costs will be realized prior to their expiry. It also includes the effect of enacted rate changes.
Non-capital losses expire as follows:
2013
2014
2015
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032

$

195
367
636
1,092
2,312
2,491
1,801
1,947
857
1,519

$

13,217

As at December 31, 2012, the Company had estimated capital losses of $467,000 available for carryforward
(December 31, 2011 - $nil).
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Movement in Temporary Differences during the Year
As at Recognized in
January 1, 2012
income or
Property and equipment
Exploration and evaluation projects
Share issue costs
Net tax losses carried forward
Capital losses (net)
Capital gains unrealized

$

(26) $
6,179
(247)
(3,147)
(57)

Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liability, net

$

2 $
166
54
(317)
(63)
(25)

$

Deferred tax liability, net

$

- $
(105)
17

- $
-

(24)
6,345
(193)
(3,569)
(63)
(65)

(183)
42

(88)
-

-

2,431
42

2,702 $

(141) $

(88) $

- $

2,473

(22) $
6,071
(377)
(2,927)
(87)
656

Unrecognized deferred tax assets

Recognized in
As at
share capital December 31, 2012

2,702
-

As at Recognized in
January 1, 2011
income or
Property and equipment
Exploration and evaluation projects
Share issue costs
Net tax losses carried forward
Capital losses (net)
Capital gains unrealized

Recognized
in OCI

Recognized
in OCI

Recognized in
As at
share capital December 31, 2011

(4) $
108
137
(552)
(29)

- $
332
87
(684)

- $
(7)
-

(26)
6,179
(247)
(3,147)
(57)

3,314
-

(340)
-

(265)
-

(7)
-

2,702
-

3,314 $

(340) $

(265) $

(7) $

2,702

16. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMPONENTS OF EQUITY
Share Capital
Authorized
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares.
Number of shares issued and outstanding
The issued and outstanding common shares for 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Notes
Balance as at January 1, 2011
Issue of common shares
Issue of flow-through common shares
Warrants exercised
Options exercised
Issue of shares under Share Bonus Plan

Notes
Balance as at January 1, 2012

Balance as at December 31, 2012

Non-cash
Items

$

500
1,000
136
15
-

$

- $
55

(4) $
(20)
-

1
6
-

$

- $
(87)
-

- $
(14)
-

(26)
(88)
32
11
-

395,807,042 $

1,651

$

55

(24) $

7

$

(87) $

(14) $

(71) $

Number of
Shares

Share
Issue Costs

Income
Taxes

380,025,528
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

Balance as at December 31, 2011

Issue of common shares
Expiry of finder's unit warrants

Other
Finder's Warrants
Flow-Through
Unit
and
Premium
Warrants Options

Gross
Proceeds/
Consideration

5,000,000
8,695,652
1,137,627
300,000
648,235

Number of
Shares

$

Gross
Proceeds/
Consideration

$

Non-cash
Items

Share
Issue Costs

Income
Taxes

-

$

38
-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

14

$

-

397,347,042 $

-

$

38

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

14

$

-

47,631

Share
Capital
$

1,540,000 $
-

46,114
471
797
168
26
55

Other
Finder's Warrants
Flow-Through
Unit
and
Premium
Warrants Options

395,807,042
(f)
(b)

Share
Capital

47,631
38
14

$

47,683

(a) On January 10, 2011, the Company completed a private placement financing of common shares at a price of
$0.10 per unit. Each unit comprises one common share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
(f)

Each whole warrant entitled the holder to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $0.14 for a
period of 12 months from closing. The Company apportioned proceeds of $26,000 to the cost of the unit
warrants in contributed surplus.
On May 25, 2011, the Company completed a private placement of flow-through common shares at a price of
$0.115 per unit. Each unit comprises one common share and one-half of one common share purchase
warrant. Each whole warrant entitled the holder to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $0.15
for a period of 18 months from closing. Upon closing, the Company issued 456,960 finder’s warrants that
entitled the holder to purchase one finder’s unit at an exercise price of $0.15 for a period of 18 months from
issuance. Each finder’s unit entitled the holder to acquire one common share and one-half of one finder’s unit
warrant. Each whole finder’s unit warrant entitled the holder to purchase one common share at an exercise
price of $0.15 for a period of 18 months from the issuance of the finder’s unit warrant. The Company
apportioned proceeds of $87,000 to the flow-through premium, $79,000 was attributed to the share purchase
warrants and $9,000 to the cost of the finder’s warrants recorded in contributed surplus. The finder’s unit
warrants were recorded at a fair value of $14,000 in accrued liabilities. The finder’s warrants expired
unexercised; accordingly, the finder’s unit warrants expired and related costs were reversed in 2012.
During 2011, 1,137,627 warrants were exercised at an exercise price of $0.12 per share. The aggregate
consideration plus the aggregate amount previously recorded through contributed surplus is reflected as an
increase in share capital.
In July, 2011, 300,000 options were exercised at an exercise price of $0.05 per share. The aggregate
consideration plus the aggregate amount previously recorded through contributed surplus is reflected as an
increase in share capital.
On October 4, 2011, the Company issued common shares to employees and consultants as discretionary
bonuses pursuant to the Company’s Share Bonus Plan.
In December, 2012, the Company issued common shares to a vendor for settlement of outstanding amounts
owed by the Company.

Share Incentive Plan
The Company has a Share Incentive Plan which includes a Share Purchase Plan and a Share Bonus Plan. The
purpose of the Share Incentive Plan is to encourage ownership of common shares by directors, senior officers and
employees of the Company and its designated affiliates and consultants who are primarily responsible for the
management and profitable growth of its business, to advance the interests of the Company by providing additional
incentive for superior performance by such persons and to enable the Company and its designated affiliates to
attract and retain valued directors, officers, employees and consultants.
Share Purchase Plan
Under the Share Purchase Plan, eligible directors, senior officers and employees of the Company and its
designated affiliates and consultants can contribute up to 10% of their annual basic salary before deductions to
purchase common shares. The Company matches each participant’s contribution. The purchase price per
common share is the volume-weighted average of the trading prices of the common shares on the TSX for the
calendar quarter in respect of which the common shares are issued. Common shares acquired are held in
safekeeping and delivered to employees as soon as practicable following March 31, June 30, September 30 and
December 31 in each calendar year. No common shares have yet been issued pursuant to the Share Purchase
Plan. The maximum number of common shares issuable under the Share Purchase Plan is the lesser of: (i) that
number of common shares that can be purchased with a dollar amount equal to 20% of the gross annual salary of
the Participants (as defined in the Share Incentive Plan); and (ii) 1% of the aggregate number of issued and
outstanding common shares (calculated on a non-diluted basis) from time to time.
Share Bonus Plan
The Share Bonus Plan permits common shares to be issued as a discretionary bonus to eligible directors, senior
officers and employees of the Company and its designated affiliates, and consultants from time to time. At the
Company’s Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders held on June 26, 2012 (the “ASM”), shareholders
approved an increase in the maximum number of common shares issuable under the Share Bonus Plan to
10,000,000.
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In 2012, no shares were issued under the Share Bonus Plan (2011 – 648,235).The entitlement to shares issued
under the Share Bonus Plan in 2011 vested immediately. The fair value of common share entitlements granted
under the Share Bonus Plan is determined using the quoted market value on the date of grant for an aggregate fair
value of $55,000 in 2011, which was charged immediately.
Shareholder Rights Plan
In March, 2009, the Board of Directors approved the adoption of a shareholder rights plan (the “Shareholder Rights
Plan”) which was subsequently confirmed by its shareholders at the Company’s Annual and Special Meeting held
on June 3, 2009. At the ASM, shareholders approved the extension of this plan to the termination of the annual
meeting of shareholders in 2015.
In order to implement the adoption of the Shareholder Rights Plan, the Board of Directors authorized the issuance
of one right (a “Right”) in respect of each common share outstanding at the close of business on April 17, 2009 (the
“Record Time”). In addition, the Board authorized the issuance of one Right in respect of each additional common
share issued after the Record Time. Rights trade with and are represented by common share certificates, including
certificates issued prior to the Record Time. Until such time as the Rights separate from the common shares and
become exercisable, Rights certificates will not be distributed to shareholders.
If a person, or a group acting in concert, acquires (other than pursuant to an exemption available under the
Shareholder Rights Plan) beneficial ownership of 20% or more of the common shares, Rights (other than those
held by such acquiring person which will become void) will separate from the common shares and permit the holder
thereof to purchase common shares at a 50% discount to their market price. A person, or a group acting in
concert, who is the beneficial owner of 20% or more of the outstanding common shares as of the Record Time is
exempt from the dilutive effects of the Shareholder Rights Plan provided such person (or persons) does not
increase its beneficial ownership by more than 1% (other than in accordance with the terms of the Shareholder
Rights Plan). At any time prior to the Rights becoming exercisable, the Board may waive the operation of the
Shareholder Rights Plan with respect to certain events before they occur.
The issuance of the Rights is not dilutive until the Rights separate from the underlying common shares and become
exercisable or until the exercise of the Rights. The issuance of the Rights will not change the manner in which
shareholders currently trade their common shares.
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income or (Loss) (“AOCI”)
AOCI is comprised of the following separate components of equity:
Net change of financial assets at fair value through OCI
This comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through OCI.
Income tax on other comprehensive income
This comprises the amount of income tax determined to be required on the cumulative net change in the fair value
of financial assets at fair value through OCI.
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17. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
The calculation of basic and diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 was based on the
information in the table below.
Years ended December 31,
Balance as at beginning of year
Effect
Effect
Effect
Effect

of shares issued
of shares issued under Share Bonus Plan
of options exercised
of warrants exercised

Weighted average number of common shares as at end of year - Basic
Effect of options granted and outstanding
Effect of warrants issued and outstanding
Weighted average number of common shares as at end of year - Diluted

2012

2011

395,807,000

380,026,000

55,000
-

10,142,000
158,000
128,000
963,000

395,862,000

391,417,000

19,000
-

2,152,000
-

395,881,000

393,569,000

Net loss attributable to shareholders

$

(183) $

(1,137)

Basic loss per share
Diluted loss per share

$
$

(0.00) $
(0.00) $

(0.00)
(0.00)

The effect of adjustments to the weighted average number of common shares would be anti-dilutive because the
Company has incurred losses in each respective year. Therefore all outstanding options and warrants were
excluded from the diluted EPS calculation in each of 2012 and 2011. The table above provides the weighted
average number of shares on a diluted basis for information only.
The average market value of the Company’s shares for purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share options
is based on quoted market prices for the respective periods during which the options were outstanding. There
have been no significant capital transactions from the reporting date to the date of this filing which have had a
material impact on earnings per share. Refer to Note 25.
18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Description of the Share-based Payment Arrangements
The Company’s share-based payment arrangements are described below.
Stock Option Plan (equity-settled)
The Company has a Stock Option Plan to encourage ownership of its shares by key management personnel
(directors and executive management), employees and consultants, and to provide compensation for certain
services. The terms of the Stock Option Plan provide that the directors have the right to grant options to acquire
common shares of the Company at not less than the closing market price of the shares on the day preceding the
grant. No compensation is recognized when options are exercised. The number of shares reserved for issuance is
not to exceed 15% of the aggregate number of common shares issued and outstanding (calculated on a nondiluted basis) from time to time
As at December 31, 2012, the Company had 30,951,000 common shares available for the granting of future
options (December 31, 2011 – 32,296,000 common shares). Options are exercisable at the closing market price of
the shares at the date prior to grant. The Company does not have any cash-settled transactions.
Share purchase warrants (equity-settled)
There were no outstanding warrants as at December 31, 2012. The Company does not have any cash-settled
transactions.
Share Bonus Plan
The terms of the Share Bonus Plan are set out in Note 16.
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Terms and Conditions of Share-based Payment Arrangements
The terms and conditions relating to the grants of the Stock Option Plan are as follows:
•
•
•
•

Options issued during the year and granted to executive management, consultants and employees have
a maximum term of five years and are equity-settled. Of the options granted, 50% vest immediately,
while the remaining options are exercisable after one year.
Options issued during the year and granted to directors have a maximum term of five years and are equity-settled. All options granted vest immediately.
Certain options issued upon formation of the Company under a plan of arrangement had terms of up to
10 years.
All options are to be settled by physical delivery of shares.

Share purchase warrants
The terms and conditions relating to the grants of the share purchase warrants are as follows: all warrants are to be
settled by physical delivery of shares and as such, are equity-settled. Warrants issued are generally exercisable
for a period of 12 to 18 months from issue date; the warrants issued under the rights offering in 2009 were not
exercisable until 12 months from issue and expired 12 months thereafter.
Disclosure of Share-based Payment Arrangements
Stock Option Plan
The number and weighted average exercise prices of options are as follows:

Years ended December 31,

Number of options
2012
2011

Weighted
average exercise price
2012
2011

Outstanding as at beginning of year

27,074,736

25,402,248 $

0.28 $

0.30

Granted
Exercised
Expired

8,050,000
(6,473,236)

4,335,000 $
(300,000) $
(2,362,512) $

0.05 $
$
0.65 $

0.11
0.05
0.24

Outstanding as at end of year

28,651,500

27,074,736 $

0.13 $

0.28

Exercisable as at end of year

26,426,500

26,332,236 $

0.15 $

0.28

There were no options exercised during 2012; for options exercised during 2011, the weighted average share price
at the date of exercise was $0.09.

As at December 31,
Range of exercise prices
$0.03 to $0.05
$0.06 to $0.14
$0.15 to $0.16
$0.17 to $0.25
$0.26 to $0.32
$0.33 to $0.50
$0.51 to $0.64
$0.65 to $0.82

Number of options outstanding
2012
2011

Weighted average remaining
contractual life (years)
2012
2011

12,315,000
5,322,500
5,490,000
1,593,750
2,956,250
974,000
-

4,265,000
5,585,000
5,490,000
1,593,750
2,956,250
2,074,000
2,850,000
2,260,736

3.31
2.86
2.01
1.07
0.34
0.40
-

2.08
3.71
3.01
2.07
1.34
1.16
0.19
0.20

28,651,500

27,074,736

2.45

2.10

There were 8,050,000 options granted in the year ended December 31, 2012 with a weighted average exercise
price of $0.05 per share; the weighted average fair value at the date of grant was $0.035. There were 4,335,000
options granted during 2011, with a weighted average fair value at the date of grant of $0.074.
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The vesting of options resulted in share-based payment expense of $263,000 in the year ended December 31,
2012 (December 31, 2011 - $304,000). Of the 28,651,500 options outstanding at December 31, 2012, 2,225,000
are subject to vesting (as at December 31, 2011 – 27,074,736 were outstanding of which 742,500 were subject to
vesting). The aggregate fair value of these unvested options not yet charged to operations is $38,000 (as at
December 31, 2011 - $20,000).
During 2011, the Company agreed to extend 1,550,000 options of a retiring director to their original expiry dates,
such options would have otherwise expired 90 days after retirement. The extension was treated as a modification
and an additional share-based payment expense of $38,000 was charged to operations.
Share purchase warrants
The number and weighted average exercise prices of warrants are as follows:
As at and for the years ended
December 31,

Date Issued

Issued pursuant to rights offering August 17, 2009
Exercised in 2010
Exercised in 2011
Expired

Life (a)

Weighted
average exercise price
2012
2011

Number of warrants
2012
2011

12

32,744,976
(3,339,282)
(1,137,627)
(28,268,067)

$

0.120

Issued pursuant to private placements
Unit warrants
Expired

February 26, 2010

12

1,714,569
(1,714,569)

$

0.260

Unit warrants
Expired
Finder's warrants
Expired

April 9, 2010

12

$

0.260

April 9, 2010

12

3,285,431
(3,285,431)
250,000
(250,000)

$

0.175

Unit warrants
Expired

January 10, 2011

12

Unit warrants
Expired

May 25, 2011

18

Finder's warrants
Expired

May 25, 2011

Outstanding as at end of year

2,500,000
(2,500,000)

2,500,000
-

$

0.140

$

0.140

4,347,826

4,347,826

$

0.150

$

0.150

$

0.150

$

0.150

$

-

$

0.147

(4,347,826)
18

456,960
(456,960)
-

456,960
7,304,786

(a) The life of warrants is shown in number of months from issue date, except for those issued pursuant to rights offering which became
exercisable 12 months from issue.

Inputs for Measurement of Grant-Date Fair Values
The grant-date fair values of share-based payments were measured based on the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility.
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The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the share-based payments granted, modified
or issued during the years are as follows:
Options

Warrants

Years ended December 31,

2012

Fair values at grant dates
Share prices at grant dates
Fair values of options modified

$0.035
$0.05
n/a

$0.07 and $0.08
$0.10 and $0.11
$0.00 to $0.07

n/a
n/a
n/a

$0.01 and $0.02
$0.10
n/a

$0.05
104%
4
1.18%

$0.05 to $0.64
42% to 106%
1.3 to 4.7
0.95% to 2.22%

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

$0.14 and $0.15
56% and 65%
1 and 1.5
1.57% and 1.69%

Assumptions
Exercise prices
Expected volatilities
Life (years)
Expected dividends
Risk-free interest rate

2011

2012

2011

19. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS
Years ended December 31,
Interest income on bank deposits
Premium on flow-through spending

2012
3 $
-

9
87

Finance income

3

96

Interest expense on loan
Net change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through operations
Net foreign exchange loss

9

-

3
4

213
4

Finance costs
Net Finance Costs

$

2011

$

16
(13) $

217
(121)

20. INCOME TAXES
The income tax amount in 2012 is a recovery of $141,000 (2011 – recovery of $340,000).
The income tax recovery differs from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal and provincial income
tax rates for 2012 of 26.5% and 2011 of 28.5%, to the loss before income taxes. The differences are summarized
as follows:
Years ended December 31,
Statutory rate applied to loss before income taxes
Effect of flow-through renunciation
Effect of investment tax credits, net
Non-taxable items, net
Non-deductible items, net
Non-deductible portion of gain (loss) on
financial assets through operations
Effect of change in expected future income tax rates and other
Unrecognized deferred tax assets

$

Income Tax Recovery

$

2012

2011

(86) $
(182)
78

(421)
270
(325)
(25)
138

7
42
(141) $

31
(8)
(340)
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21. OPERATING SEGMENT
Reporting Segment
The Company is engaged in the exploration, evaluation and development of properties for the mining and
production of nickel and associated products. The Company does not have formal operating segments and does
not yet have operating revenues, products, processes or customers. The corporate office operates to support the
Company’s projects, including pre-operating projects, and receives administrative support from Nuinsco (Note 22)
to do so. The projects are all located in Canada. Senior management makes decisions by considering exploration
potential and results on a project basis. Any applicable amounts relating to projects are capitalized to the relevant
project as either Exploration and evaluation projects or Mine property and development project on the consolidated
balance sheets.
Geographic Information
As at December 31,
Canada
Corporate
Lac Rocher
Mel
Minago
Total Assets

2012

2011

$

2,392 $
7,317
7,421
37,897

4,306
7,254
7,323
35,571

$

55,027 $

54,454

Revenues in each period are wholly attributable to the corporate office. There have been no changes in the
reportable segment or the treatment of segmented assets and revenues year over year.
22. RELATED PARTIES AND MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT
Related Party Balances and Transactions
Short-term employee benefits provided by the Company to key management personnel include salaries, deferred
directors’ fees, statutory benefit contributions, paid annual vacation and paid sick leave as well as non-monetary
benefits such as medical care. The Company’s non-monetary benefit package for key management personnel is
the same as that available to all full-time employees. In addition to short-term employee benefits, the Company
may also issue options and shares as part of the Stock Option Plan and Share Bonus Plan (Notes 16 and 18).
Balances and transactions with related parties as at and for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 are
shown in the following tables:
As at December 31,

2012

2011

Balances Outstanding
Payable to key management personnel

$

157 $

47

Key management personnel compensation comprises:
Years ended December 31,
Short-term employee benefits
Share-based payments - options
Share-based payments - Share Bonus Plan

2012

2011

$

807
217
-

$

1,028
320
50

$

1,024

$

1,398

Balances and Transactions with Nuinsco under the Management Agreement
The Company shares management, administrative assistance and facilities with Nuinsco pursuant to a
management agreement; management operates under the supervision of the respective board of directors of each
respective company; there is only one common director. The costs charged by Nuinsco are recorded at the cost to
Nuinsco of such services plus 10 per cent. The management agreement commenced February 1, 2007 and is
terminable by the Company upon 180 days’ notice and by Nuinsco upon 90 days’ notice.
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Balances and transactions with Nuinsco under the management agreement as at and for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 are shown in the following tables:
As at December 31,

2012

2011

Balances Outstanding
Receivable from Nuinsco Resources Limited under the management agreement

$

37 $

Years ended December 31,
Transaction Values
Overhead charges from Nuinsco Resources Limited
Overhead charges to Nuinsco Resources Limited
Project costs charged to Nuinsco Resources Limited
Project recoveries charged by Nuinsco Resources Limited

2012
$
$
$
$

654
27
22
31

20
2011

$
$
$
$

829
39
67

Amounts due to or from Nuinsco under the management agreement are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due
on demand. Amounts due to or from Nuinsco thereby are settled on a regular basis; Nuinsco has agreed to defer
the payment of a portion of its charges related to management salaries consistent with deferrals accepted by the
Company’s executive employees. Payables to key management personnel generally relate to deferred directors’
fees, consulting fees, deferred salaries and expense reimbursements.
23. SIGNIFICANT COMPANY ENTITIES
On June 19, 2012, the Company announced the creation of Victory Silica. While the balances and transactions are
presently minimal, the Company expects activity to increase in future periods as the business expands.
24. COMMITMENT
Transformer Equipment
On May 10, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase equipment for the Minago project. The total
price is US$2,840,000. The Company has made aggregate deposits of $1,334,000 as at December 31, 2012.
25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Acquisition of Sand Recycling Plant
On January 9, 2013, the Company announced that it had completed an asset purchase agreement for the purchase
of the Seven Persons sand recycling facility (the “7P Plant”) for $710,000. The 7P Plant is located near Medicine
Hat, Alberta and its acquisition presents Victory Silica with an avenue to generate cash flow from frac sand
production and sales in the near-term.
Shares Issued to Satisfy Accounts Payable
On January 16, 2013, the Company issued 4,720,000 shares to satisfy $118,000 in accounts payable owing.
Private Placement
On March 22, 2013, the Company issued 44,178,500 common shares under a private placement at $0.05 per share,
generating gross proceeds of approximately $2,209,000.
Amendment and Restatement of Loan Agreement
On March 25, 2013, the Company announced that it had amended and restated the loan agreement to increase the
secured loan facility to up to $3,000,000 under certain circumstances (the “Amended Loan”). As with the original
loan, the Amended Loan bears interest at 12% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears, and matures on January 31,
2015 and can be used to fund capital expenditures relating to the 7P Plant. The lender continues to have the right to
elect to receive prepayment of $1,000,000 of the Amended Loan from the proceeds of the Lynn Lake option
payment due and payable in periodic instalments through August 2014.
Prior to June 1, 2014, the lender has the right to convert the outstanding balance of the Amended Loan into a
participating interest (the “Conversion”) whereby the lender is entitled to receive a share of cash flows earned from
the sale of frac sand from the 7P Plant. The Lender’s participation is capped at $10,000,000, with a minimum of
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$7,500,000, and is subject to adjustment under certain circumstances. On Conversion, the Amended Loan would be
considered paid in full. The lender has also agreed to backstop an equity issue, if any is announced, with cash or by
converting a portion of the Amended Loan into shares, at the lender’s option to an amount up to $1,500,000 under
certain circumstances.
The Company will pay, with shares, an arrangement fee of up to $300,000 plus a commitment fee of 1.5% per
annum on unutilized balances.
There have been no other additional developments not already discussed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements.
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VICTORY NICKEL INC.
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For the Years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
The following discussion of the results of operations, financial condition and cash flows of Victory Nickel Inc. (“Victory
Nickel” or the “Company”) prepared as of March 25, 2013 consolidates management’s review of the factors that affected
the Company’s financial and operating performance for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, and factors
reasonably expected to impact on future operations and results. This discussion is intended to supplement and
complement the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
(“2012 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements”) and the notes thereto.
Certain information and discussion included in this management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) constitutes forwardlooking information. Readers are encouraged to refer to the cautionary notes contained in the section Forward-Looking
Statements at the end of this MD&A.
The 2012 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements are available at www.sedar.com and at the Company’s website
www.victorynickel.ca. All amounts disclosed are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated. All tabular amounts are in
thousands of Canadian dollars.
COMPANY OVERVIEW
Victory Nickel is a Canadian exploration and development mineral resource company and is primarily engaged in the
acquisition, exploration, evaluation and development of nickel projects and associated products in Canada.
Formed on February 1, 2007, Victory Nickel owns 100% of four advanced sulphide nickel projects: the Minago, Lynn Lake
(under option with Prophecy Coal Corp. (“Prophecy Coal” – formerly Prophecy Resource Corp.) and as transferred to
Prophecy Platinum Corp. (“Prophecy Platinum”) as described below) and Mel projects in Manitoba and the Lac Rocher
project in Québec. The results of a feasibility study on the Minago Project (“FS”) were announced in December 2009, the
Environmental Impact Study (“EIS”) was filed in May 2010 with subsequent improvements to the project announced in
June 2010 and July 2011. Receipt of the Environmental Act Licence (“EAL”) was announced in August 2011. A
preliminary economic assessment of Lac Rocher (“PEA”) was announced in November 2008 indicating that a nickel price
in excess of US$10 per pound is necessary to make the project economic, absent other changes. At the Mel project, now
100%-owned, ongoing updating of data is being conducted; when completed, additional modelling of the resource will be
continued.
A significant by-product of the Minago project is frac sand. Frac sand is a particular sand meeting certain specifications
and is used in the drilling for oil and gas. On June 19, 2012, the Company announced the creation of Victory Silica Ltd.
(“VSL” or “Victory Silica”) a wholly-owned subsidiary that has been established to enter the frac sand distribution and
sales market. VSL expects to establish itself as a frac sand provider by acquiring raw sand and processing it into finished
product, initially for sale in the Saskatchewan, Manitoba and North Dakota markets. If successful, this strategy is
expected to generate cash flow for Victory Nickel and establish a presence in the frac sand market in preparation for
development and sale of frac sand from its Minago project.
Option of Lynn Lake Property
On October 21, 2009, the Company announced that it had optioned its Lynn Lake property (“Lynn Lake”) to Prophecy
Coal. In 2011, the agreement, with the consent of Victory Nickel, was assigned to Prophecy Platinum pursuant to a
corporate transaction between Prophecy Coal and Prophecy Platinum. The sole remaining term of the original agreement
wherein Prophecy Platinum can acquire a 100% interest in Lynn Lake was the payment of $1,000,000 due on or before
March 1, 2013.
On March 1, 2013, the Company agreed to an additional amendment to the option agreement which allows Prophecy
Platinum to make a series of payments through 2013 and 2014 aggregating $1,125,000 in satisfaction of the remaining
option conditions. On March 1, 2013, the Company received the first payment of $125,000; $450,000 remains due across
2013 and a total of $550,000 is payable by August 29, 2014. Upon receipt of the final option payment in 2014, the
Company will transfer ownership of Lynn Lake to Prophecy Platinum.
In accordance with the contract, the Company received its scheduled amount of $1,000,000 due by March 1, 2012. On
August 8, 2012, the Company received $450,000 from Prophecy Platinum in consideration for removal of the exploration
expenditure condition from the Lynn Lake option agreement. Failure on the part of Prophecy Platinum to meet any of the
terms, as recently amended, and failure of Prophecy Coal to remedy any such deficiency will result in cancellation of the
option and Lynn Lake will revert to the Company.
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The Company has no reason to believe that Prophecy Platinum will not make its final payments and accordingly expects
the property to be transferred at that time.
Because of the stage of the option agreement, the Company no longer considers Lynn Lake to be a material project of the
Company.
Going Concern
The Company is subject to the risks and challenges experienced by other companies at a comparable stage. These risks
include, but are not limited to, continuing losses, dependence on key individuals and the ability to secure adequate
financing or to complete corporate transactions to meet the minimum capital required to successfully complete its projects
and fund other operating expenses. Advancing the Company’s projects through exploration and development to the
production stage will require significant financing. Refer to the Risks and Uncertainties and Liquidity and Capital
Resources sections for additional information.
None of the Company’s projects has commenced commercial production and, accordingly, the Company is dependent
upon debt and/or equity financings and the optioning and/or sale of resource or resource-related assets for its funding.
The recoverability of the carrying value of the Company’s mine property and development project and exploration and
evaluation projects, and ultimately the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, is dependent upon factors
including exploration results which indicate the potential for the discovery of economically recoverable reserves and
resources, the Company’s ability to finance exploration and development of its projects through debt or equity financings
and the optioning and/or sale of resource or resource-related assets such as royalty interests for its funding.
The Company’s 2012 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared using the going concern
assumption which contemplates the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business as
they come due. If the going concern assumption were not appropriate, then adjustments to the carrying values of assets
and liabilities, reported expenses and balance sheet classifications may be necessary. These adjustments could be
material. As at December 31, 2012, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $583,000; this includes
approximately $176,000 of agreed-upon deferrals owing to directors and senior management and accounts payable of
$118,000 settled in the Company’s common shares post year-end, (December 31, 2011 – working capital of $2,707,000).
Working capital is defined as current assets less current liabilities.
The Company has initiatives underway to improve working capital including the amendment of the loan agreement and
private placement described later in this MD&A as well as others which are expected to be announced shortly. As
mentioned in the Company’s prior MD&As, it has recently relied upon the sale of a portion of its marketable securities to
fund its ongoing operations. Market conditions have deteriorated making it challenging to generate cash so the Company
is continuing to research other sources of liquidity. There is no certainty in the present environment that the Company’s
initiatives to improve working capital will be successful or that working capital generated thereby will be sufficient to fund
the Company’s activities including project expenditures and corporate costs.
HIGHLIGHTS
During and subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company:
Corporate
• Completed road show meetings with domestic and offshore financiers and investors regarding developing the
Minago mine.
• Announced a loan agreement for $1,000,000 with subsequent agreement to increase the facility up to $3,000,000
(the “Amended Loan”).
• Completed a private placement financing for approximately $2,209,000 with a key investor.
Victory Silica
• Created Victory Silica and appointed Ken Murdock, a frac sand industry veteran, as CEO. VSL’s objective is to
establish Victory Nickel’s presence in the frac sand market, prior to commencing production at Minago.
• Conducted advanced discussions with frac sand suppliers and customers for VSL.
• Entered into an asset purchase agreement to acquire a frac sand processing plant, the Seven Persons sand
recycling facility (the “7P Plant”).
• Filed a restoration plan with ECRB to convert the operating licence from a reprocessing facility to a frac sand
processing facility.
• Received proposals for wet concentrated sand supply.
Minago
• Completed 3,500m of diamond drilling at Minago including drilling on a nickel-bearing area south of Minago
sulphide nickel deposit.
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•
•
•
•

Received a blanket one-year work permit which will eliminate delays in the receipt of individual permits.
Initiated a new metallurgical study to improve concentrate grade and quality.
Evaluated relocation of certain infrastructure components at the Minago site in an effort to enhance accessibility
and reduce capital costs.
Identified additional potential savings on overburden removal and constructed a 2.3km test drainage ditch which
is performing better than expected.

OUTLOOK
Victory Nickel has achieved many major milestones since it was created in February 2007. After Nuinsco Resources
Limited (“Nuinsco”) completed a PEA on its Minago project (“Minago PEA”) in November 2006, the Company was created
and distributed to Nuinsco shareholders. The economic results of the Minago PEA prepared by Nuinsco were sufficiently
robust to justify the preparation of a FS. Although the Minago PEA was prepared based on the mining of resources not
only from an open pit but also from underground, under the rules for preparation of feasibility studies only measured and
indicated resources can be included and, as such, the FS could only be based on the open pit portion of the resource.
The decision was made to proceed with the FS without the underground portion as it would have been too costly and time
consuming to complete the drilling required to upgrade the inferred resource at depth into the measured and indicated
categories for use in the FS. As it turns out, this was the right decision as the open pit portion has proven to be adequate
to produce a positive FS. The underground portion is there for the future and will add to the mine life at Minago. The
North Limb is also turning out to be very promising for extending the mine life.
In December 2009, another milestone was achieved. The FS was completed showing very positive results indicating that
the Minago project should be advanced. The next major step on the road to development was the preparation of the EIS.
The preparation of this major study was a significant effort and in May 2010, the EIS was filed - another major milestone.
The Company took the concerns of all stakeholders into consideration when preparing the EIS. Numerous meetings with
the federal and provincial governments and agencies, the First Nations and the Métis communities took place and on
August 3, 2011, the Manitoba Government issued Victory Nickel’s final EAL for the Minago project. Receiving the EAL is
the most significant milestone achieved so far. It means that Victory Nickel is one of the few companies to have
successfully permitted a green-fields hard-rock mining project in Canada in many years. This licence allows us to move
ahead with the development of this outstanding project.
With the EAL in hand, in September, 2011, the board of directors approved Minago development and has charged
management with the challenge of financing the project to development and production. One of the conditions is that the
financing structure keeps shareholder dilution to a minimum.
The pre-production cost to bring the Minago mine to production is in the range of $550-600 million over a three to four
year period. The first year’s initial requirement in the Base Case scenario FS is in the range of $75-100 million excluding
any cost associated with ordering long lead time equipment. This amount will provide the funds necessary to remove the
surface water, install pumps, prepare the camp, bring Manitoba Hydro electricity to the site, remove the top layer of
overburden comprising 11 million tonnes of muskeg and clay and begin detailed engineering. Electricity from Manitoba
Hydro is approximately one sixth the cost of diesel generated power so it is important to bring it in as early as possible.
Discussions with equipment providers to structure a lease or other financing arrangements have been successful and, at
the necessary time, management is confident that a leasing arrangement can be completed which will fund approximately
$100 million of mobile equipment.
The objective was to get the first year’s requirement funded in time to start removal of the overburden during the
2011/2012 winter. Unfortunately, due to market conditions, the Company has not yet been able to obtain the necessary
funding. This is not to say that progress has not been made over the last year. Management has received, and
continues to receive, serious expressions of interest but the uncertainty in the financial and equity markets is continuing
to delay decisions by potential investors and joint venture partners.
This is a lot to take on for a junior company such as ours, especially in the current confused market environment.
However, management has always believed that the key to kick-starting the process is to bring in a joint venture partner
such as Duluth Metals Limited did with Antofagasta plc and as Aur Resources Inc. did when Teck Cominco Ltd. stepped
up to act as guarantor for bank financing for developing its share of the Louvicourt deposit back in the early ‘90s. Aur
went on to become a significant mining company after receiving this kick-start. These are only two of many such
examples.
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Frac Sand
We shouldn’t forget the very significant contribution of frac sand to the Minago economics. Although the frac sand will be
mined during the first three years, the FS assumed that it will only be sold over a ten-year period. The recent growth in
the frac sand market suggests that this assumption is very conservative. This market continues to expand and
indications are that, if Minago was in production, Victory Nickel would sell all the frac sand it could produce. In
transactions completed during 2012, Preferred Sands purchased the assets of Winn Bay Sand, including its Hanson Lake
frac sand mine in Saskatchewan, for $200 million. Winn Bay is on the same geological structure as Minago, just a bit
farther north and west. US Silica took its frac sand business public in February 2012 by completing an initial public
offering (“IPO”) aggregating US$200 million through 11,764,705 shares at US$17. Further, Hi-Crush Partners LP has
filed documents with US regulators to raise in excess of US$200 million through an IPO. To Victory Nickel, these
transactions are an indication of the attractiveness and value of its Minago sand deposit.
For these reasons, and to enhance the profile of Minago within the frac sand industry, Victory has decided to immediately
establish itself in the frac sand business. To this end, Ken Murdock has joined the Company as Chief Executive Officer
of Victory Silica, a wholly-owned subsidiary created for this purpose. The business plan is a three phase approach with
the first phase being the acquisition of a plant in Canada to process wet sand concentrate purchased from Wisconsin.
This sand will be initially sold into the Saskatchewan, Manitoba and North Dakota markets.
Initial production is planned at the 7P Plant in Medicine Hat, Alberta at the annual rate of 400,000 tons with a second
facility to be built in Winnipeg to produce an additional 1,000,000 tons. This facility will be used to accommodate sand
delivered from Minago once the mine is developed.
Over the last quarter we have had numerous discussions with suppliers of both raw sand and concentrated sand to be
processed at Victory Silica’s 7P Plant. The asset purchase agreement for the 7P Plant has been completed and
ownership will transfer upon completion of certain conditions, expected to be met during the second quarter of 2013. The
7P Plant is well located in the centre of oil and gas drilling activity. We should be processing sand by the third quarter of
2013. We have received several proposals for the supply of sand and will make a decision as soon as the plant
acquisition is complete.
The Company is planning a three phase entry into the frac sand business. Initially, wet sand concentrate will be
purchased to feed Victory Silica’s dry plant facility which will produce high grade finished product of various grades. As
Victory Silica becomes established, phase 2 will be to partially replace purchased sand with sand from a mine in
Wisconsin operated by Victory Silica. The phase 3 plan is to build a second dry plant in Winnipeg to process both sand
from Wisconsin and Minago. The plan is to eventually produce approximately 1.5 million tonnes of imported (from
Wisconsin) and domestic (from Minago) frac sand annually.
General
Economic and political unrest continue to cause a lack of confidence in the investment community. The impact of the
recent presidential election in the United States will hopefully bring a bit more confidence and certainty in the financial
markets.
As we wait for greater certainty and investor confidence to firm up, management intends to continue to pursue a partner in
its efforts to finance the Minago mine to production. Investors are only looking to investments that are generating cash or
will be generating cash in the very near term. Victory Nickel is quickly advancing to fill this investor requirement by getting
into the frac sand business. Successful entry into the frac sand business by Victory Silica is expected to make a
significant positive contribution by generating significant cash flow in the near term. On March 22, 2013, the Company
issued 44,178,500 common shares for approximately $2,209,000 under a private placement from a key investor giving
them an interest in Victory Nickel of approximately 9.9%. Furthermore, on March 25, 2013, the Company extended its
loan arrangement with its lender to up to $3 million under certain circumstances. The Amended Loan is convertible to a
participating interest in Victory Silica’s net cash flows no later than June 30, 2014.
Notwithstanding the funds available from the private placement and the Amended Loan, the Company recognizes that any
liquidity is a restricted resource due to the lack of other cash available from the equity markets. This situation is not
unique to Victory Nickel, as valuations and trading volumes of junior exploration and development companies are
generally low at the present time. We have implemented a program to ensure that expenditures are only made on a
“need to” basis. Unless immediate return can be measured, the expenditure is not made.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
As at and for the years ended December 31,

2012

2011

2010

(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)

Summary Operating Results Data
General and administrative expenses

$

Share-based payments
Recovery of exploration and evaluation projects

1,321 $
263

366

822

597

677

Victory Silica pre-operating costs

159
(13)
141

Net (loss) income
Total comprehensive (loss) income
(Loss) earnings per share

1,393

1,450

Net finance (costs) income
Income tax recovery (expense)

1,575 $

(121)
340

1,889
(87)

(183)

(1,137)

254

(750)

(2,834)

3,375

(0.00)

(0.00)

0.00

Summary Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivalents

$

256 $

517 $

170

Marketable securities

557

2,383

10,556

Other current assets

155

129

96

Exploration and evaluation projects

14,738

14,577

44,703

Mine property and development project

37,897

35,571

n/a

Total assets

55,027

54,454

56,240

551

322

592

Trade and other payables
Loans and borrowings

1,008

-

-

Deferred tax liability

2,473

2,702

3,314

50,995

51,430

52,334

Total shareholders' equity

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2011
For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company had a net loss of $183,000, or $0.00 per share, (December 31,
2011 – net loss of $1,137,000, or $0.00 per share).
The results are mainly a function of general and administrative expenses of $1,321,000 (December 31, 2011 $1,575,000), share-based payment expenses of $263,000 (December 31, 2011 - $366,000), net finance costs of $13,000
(December 31, 2011 – net finance costs of $121,000) and pre-operating costs related to Victory Silica of $159,000
(December 31, 2011 - $nil); these costs were offset by a $1,450,000 recovery (December 31, 2011 - $597,000) with
respect to the Lynn Lake property as a result of option amounts received in excess of the recorded value of the property.
Results in the year ended December 31, 2012 also include an income tax recovery of $141,000 (December 31, 2011 – a
recovery of $340,000).
General and administrative expenses decreased by $254,000, to $1,321,000 from $1,575,000, for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Expenses that decreased in 2012 from 2011 include discretionary investor
and public relations costs and allocated charges by Nuinsco as described below; these expense decreases were partially
offset by increased staff costs, and legal fees and management travel expenses related to investigating financing
opportunities. Furthermore, in 2011, bonuses were given to senior management to recognize the significant effort and
accomplishment of successfully obtaining the Minago EAL and a refund for Part XII tax was received in relation to flowthrough financing completed during 2008; no such bonuses or refund occurred in 2012. Effective August 1, 2012, senior
management of Victory Nickel have accepted salary deferrals until better economic times prevail; Nuinsco has accepted
deferral of payment by Victory Nickel for a portion of allocations of executive salaries charged under the management
agreement, consistent with deferrals accepted by the Company’s executive employees.
General and administrative expenses include $654,000 in costs charged by Nuinsco for administrative services, partly
offset by $27,000 charged to Nuinsco by Victory as described under Transactions with Related Parties and Management
Agreement below (December 31, 2011 - $829,000 and $nil, respectively). Costs allocated from Nuinsco pursuant to the
management agreement are activity related; the decrease in costs is primarily a result of decreased people costs
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allocated under the agreement along with the effects of a reduced proportion of fixed costs since Nuinsco entered into a
further management agreement with a third party. This arrangement allows the Company to have access to disciplines
which would otherwise be cost-prohibitive to a junior company.
The costs of public company compliance for Victory Nickel for the year ended December 31, 2012 are estimated to be
approximately $636,000, compared with $815,000 in the year ended December 31, 2011. The decrease is mainly due to
lower costs allocated from Nuinsco and lower investor and public relations costs, partly offset by increases in legal fees.
The share-based payment expense of $263,000 in the year ended December 31, 2012 mainly reflects the grant and
partial vesting of 2,225,000 options and the grant and immediate vesting of 5,825,000 options with a fair value of $0.035.
The expense in 2011 reflected the grant and partial vesting of 742,500 options and the grant and immediate vesting of
1,692,500 options with a fair value of $0.077, the grant and immediate vesting of 1,900,000 options with a fair value of
$0.07 and a modification expense relating to certain options issued to a retiring director that were approved by the Board
to retain their original terms or would otherwise have expired. The value assigned to the stock options was calculated
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model as explained in Note 18 to the Company’s 2012 Audited Consolidated
Financial Statements.
In the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company received additional consideration from the Lynn Lake option with
Prophecy Platinum for an aggregate total of $1,450,000 in cash (December 31, 2011 - $600,000 in cash). Accordingly,
the Company recorded a net recovery of $1,450,000 through operations in the year ended December 31, 2012
(December 31, 2011 - $597,000; net of expenditures of $3,000).
There were no writedowns necessary for impairment of projects in 2012. The factors used in arriving at this conclusion
are summarized under Impairment Analysis below.
In 2012, the Company announced the creation of Victory Silica as described earlier. Victory Silica pre-operating costs of
$159,000 expensed in 2012 comprise start-up consulting fees and related expenses incurred on the frac sand project to
date; no such costs were incurred in 2011. As announced on January 9, 2013, the Company has completed an asset
purchase agreement for a sand recycling facility, in Seven Persons, near Medicine Hat, Alberta.
For the year ended December 31, 2012, net finance costs were $13,000 (December 31, 2011 – net finance costs were
$121,000). The decrease in finance income to $3,000 in 2012 from $96,000 in 2011 was mainly due to the reduction in
the flow-through premium liability of $87,000 that was amortized through finance income in 2011. There were no flowthrough premium liabilities amortized or outstanding during 2012. See Liquidity and Capital Resources below for more
details on flow-through financings. Finance costs decreased to $16,000 from $217,000 in the years ended December 31,
2012 and 2011, respectively, mainly due to the significant decline in the fair value of warrants of $213,000 during 2011.
The assumptions used in determining the fair value of the warrants as at December 31, 2012 are included in Note 9 to
the 2012 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements.
The Company continues to believe that it is more-likely-than-not that the benefit associated with certain of the losses and
costs creating future income tax assets will be realized prior to their expiry. Accordingly, the Company may record
periodic future income tax recoveries. Note that the Company has not recognized any income tax recovery for its
subsidiary company Victory Silica since it has not yet commenced operations.
In the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recorded an income tax recovery of $141,000 (December 31, 2011 –
a recovery of $340,000). The change in the income tax recovery is a function of decreased operating loss combined with
a reduction in the availability of investment tax credits. Furthermore, the Company has estimated it has $42,000 in
unrecognized deferred tax assets in relation to the Victory Silica business; given this is a new venture which has not yet
started operation, it is not currently assessed as more-likely-than-not that losses and costs incurred in Victory Silica will be
realized prior to their expiry.
Other comprehensive income (“OCI”) in the year ended December 31, 2012 relates to a decrease of $655,000 (December
31, 2011 – $1,962,000) in the market value of the Company’s financial assets at fair value through OCI along with income
tax recoveries recorded through OCI of $88,000 (December 31, 2011 – $265,000). These changes are a result of net
market value decreases in marketable securities.
The changes in other balances not specifically addressed in other sections of this MD&A are as follows:
Marketable securities as at December 31, 2012 consist of the Company’s financial assets at fair value through OCI and
operations; the Company’s investment in shares is at fair value through OCI and the investment in warrants is at fair value
through operations. Accordingly, any volatility in the market price of warrants will impact the statement of operations but

8
changes in the market value of shares will be recorded through OCI whether generated from sales or unrealized market
changes. Marketable securities decreased by $1,826,000 from December 31, 2011 as a result of sales and declines in
market prices and value of warrants. The Company generated $1,168,000 in sales proceeds in 2012 from sales of
marketable securities (2011 - $6,112,000).
Property and equipment increased from December 31, 2011 mainly as a result of deposits of $200,000 made during the
year ended December 31, 2012 relating to the purchase of transformers and other electrical equipment for the Minago
project partly offset by some furniture sales. The total price is US$2,840,000 with the remaining balance due prior to
shipping. The Company has paid an aggregate of $1,334,000 since 2010.
Project expenditures are described below in Mine Property and Development Activities and Exploration and Evaluation
Activities.
The changes in trade and other payables relate primarily to the timing of project-related expenditures. The balance
increased by $229,000 when compared with December 31, 2011 and includes approximately $176,000 of agreed-upon
deferrals, mostly directors’ fees and deferred salaries. Subsequent to the year-end, $118,000 in accounts payable were
settled through the issuance of 4,720,000 of the Company’s shares.
Victory Nickel entered into a loan agreement and $1,000,000 was advanced prior to December 31, 2012. The loan bears
interest at 12% per annum and matures on January 31, 2015. At the option of the lender, and under certain
circumstances, the lender can elect to receive prepayment of the loan from up to $1,000,000 of the proceeds of the Lynn
Lake option payments. Accordingly, under the option agreement in effect at December 31, 2012, $1,000,000 of the loan
has been classified as a current liability due within one year since this matches the Lynn Lake option payments which
were available to be diverted to the lender at their option under agreements in place as at December 31, 2012. As
described in Note 12 to the 2012 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the option agreement was amended March
1, 2013 and the future classification of the loan payable as current or long-term will be based upon the ability of the lender
to divert payments based on the amended schedule which includes $450,000 due in 2013 and $550,000 due in 2014;
$125,000 was paid to Victory Nickel on March 1, 2013 and was not diverted to the lender.
The loan has been subsequently amended and extended to up to $3,000,000 pursuant to certain conditions and is subject
to conversion to a net profits interest in the Victory Silica business or repayment by January 31, 2015. Refer to the
Liquidity and Capital Resources section for additional discussion of the Amended Loan.
The deferred tax liability balance amounts to $2,473,000 as at December 31, 2012 compared with $2,702,000 as at
December 31, 2011. The main components of the balance relate to the tax effects of Exploration and Evaluation (“E&E”)
projects and the Mine Property and Development Project (“MP&D”), partly offset by the tax value of net operating tax
losses carried forward.
Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2010
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company had a net loss of $1,137,000, or $0.00 per share (2010 – net
income of $254,000, or $0.00 per share).
The results are mainly a function of general and administrative expenses of $1,575,000 (2010 - $1,393,000), share-based
payments from options of $342,000 (2010 – $657,000), share-based payments from bonus shares of $24,000 (2010 $165,000), a $597,000 recovery (2010 - $677,000) with respect to the Lynn Lake property as a result of option amounts
received in excess of the recorded value of the property and net finance costs of $121,000 (2010 – net finance income of
$1,889,000). Results in 2011 also reflect a recovery of income taxes of $340,000 (2010 – expense of $87,000).
General and administrative expenses include $829,000 in costs charged by Nuinsco as described under Related Party
Transactions and Management Agreement below (2010 - $719,000). Costs allocated from Nuinsco pursuant to the
management agreement are activity related; the increase in costs is primarily a result of salary increases at Nuinsco.
General and administrative expenses increased by $182,000, to $1,575,000 from $1,393,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Expenses that increased from 2010 to 2011 included investor and public
relations expenses and costs charged by Nuinsco as described under Related Party Transactions and Management
Agreement below; these expenses were partially offset by decreased travel and entertainment expenses and insurance
costs. In 2011, bonuses were also recorded for senior management to recognize the significant effort and
accomplishment of successfully obtaining the Minago EAL; there were no bonuses in 2010.
The costs of public company compliance for Victory Nickel for the year ended December 31, 2011 are approximately
$815,000, compared with $698,000 in 2010. Such costs are non-discretionary and are generally weighted to the
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beginning of a financial year because of audit and other compliance requirements. The increase to 2011 from 2010 is
mainly due to higher investor relation expenses along with increased management agreement charges as described
above.
Share-based payments from options decreased by $315,000 to $342,000 in 2011 which is a result of lower fair value of
options in 2011 compared with 2010 combined with a lower number of options issued in 2011, partly offset by the cost to
modify the terms of a retiring director’s options that would otherwise have expired and were approved by the Board to
retain their original terms.
Share-based payments from bonus shares relates to common shares issued to employees and/or consultants as
discretionary bonuses pursuant to the Company’s Share Bonus Plan. The expense of $24,000 in 2011 is net of $31,000
that was capitalized to the MP&D project. The Company issued 648,235 and 1,571,100 bonus shares in 2011 and 2010,
respectively.
In the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company received additional consideration from the Lynn Lake option with
Prophecy Coal in the form of $600,000 cash (2010 - $1,100,000 cash and 2,419,548 shares of Prophecy Coal with a fair
value of $968,000). In accordance with GAAP, the fair value of such consideration is deducted from the value of the
property until it reaches $nil. Any excess of consideration over the recorded value is treated as a recovery of exploration
and evaluation projects and recorded through operations. Accordingly, the Company recorded a net recovery of $597,000
through operations in 2011 (2010 - $677,000).
Management determined that no significant events had been experienced during 2011 that would prompt impairment of its
E&E projects; in accordance with GAAP, the Minago project was reviewed for impairment prior to its transfer to MP&D
project on the balance sheet upon Board approval to develop the mine and proceed with financing discussions. Metals
prices and other market factors continued to improve or remain stable. The Company received a favourable FS on its
Minago project and is presently reviewing alternative financing opportunities to advance development of the project as
well as opportunities to optimize the FS itself. Drilling to upgrade and increase resources was completed in the first
quarter of 2011 and the Company received its EAL during the year, which is the key step towards developing Minago.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, net finance costs were $121,000 (2010 – net finance income of $1,889,000).
Finance income of $96,000 in 2011 primarily comprises the recognition of premium on flow-through spending of $87,000
related to the flow-through financing in May 2011. In 2010, the Company recorded $1,922,000 in finance income;
$631,000 represents recognition of premium on flow-through financings completed in February and April, 2010, and
$1,281,000 represents gains associated with the initial fair value of warrants and changes in the fair value thereafter as
described below; in 2011 this was a loss of $213,000.
The Company completed its obligations under flow-through financings from February and April 2010 by the third quarter
of 2010, and obligations under flow-through financings from May 2011 by the fourth quarter of 2011; accordingly, the
entire flow-through premium was reflected through operations by the end of those respective years. Note 13 to the
Company’s 2012 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements includes an analysis of the flow-through premium liability.
The combined effect of the Prophecy Coal transactions in 2010 resulted in a change in fair value of warrants of
$1,281,000; $388,000 is as a result of the recognition of the initial fair value of warrants adjusted for cumulative fair value
changes to December 31, 2010 and $893,000 is from the fair value of shares acquired being in excess of the amounts
paid. The specific transactions giving rise to the excess are as follows:
As part of the option agreement with Prophecy Coal, the Company was entitled to maintain its 10% interest in
Prophecy Coal by participating in financings of that company. In January, 2010, the Company acquired 570,270
units comprising one share and one-half of a share purchase warrant in Prophecy Coal at a cash cost of $0.30
per unit. At that time, the fair value of each share was $0.41.
In April, 2010, the Company subscribed for 675,500 units in Prophecy Coal at $0.59 per unit pursuant to a private
placement. Each unit consisted of one common share and one-half of one common share purchase warrant.
Each whole warrant is exercisable at $0.80 for a two-year period, subject to reduction. If the closing price of the
Prophecy Coal shares is at least $1.10 for 20 consecutive trading days at any time following four months from
closing, Prophecy Coal may provide notice to reduce the remaining exercise period of the warrants to not less
than 30 days from the date of such notice. At the time of issue, the fair value of each share was $0.99.
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Under a reciprocal placement which took place at the end of May, 2010, the Company subscribed for 7,000,000
common shares of Prophecy Coal for $0.544 per share. At the time of issue, the fair value of each share was
$0.62.
The Prophecy Coal warrants acquired during the first quarter of 2010 contained an acceleration clause that was invoked
by Prophecy Coal in early 2011. Accordingly, the Company exercised all of these warrants in February, 2011, thereby
acquiring 285,135 Prophecy Coal shares at a cash cost of approximately $114,000, or $0.40 per share. At the time of
exercise of the warrants, the related shares had a market value of $1.00 per share which coincided with the cash cost
plus carrying value of the warrants.
Finance costs in the year ended December 31, 2011 amounted to $217,000 compared with $33,000 in the previous year.
The main reason for the change was a decline of $213,000 in the fair value of warrants. During June, 2011, Prophecy
Coal completed a corporate transaction whereby its non-coal assets, including the Lynn Lake option, were spun off in
exchange for shares in Prophecy Platinum. Shareholders of record in Prophecy Coal became shareholders in Prophecy
Platinum on the basis of 0.094758 shares (post-consolidation) of each share held on June 13, 2011. Victory Nickel
received approximately 596,000 shares of Prophecy Platinum at a then-market value of $0.80 per share. Pursuant to that
corporate transaction, the warrants were similarly amended to entitle the Company to 0.094758 of a share of Prophecy
Platinum, as well as a share of Prophecy Coal. Accordingly, the parameters for the shares of both companies have been
considered in arriving at the estimated fair value of the warrant. The assumptions used in determining the fair value of the
warrants at December 31, 2011 are included in Note 9 to the 2012 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements; the expiry
of the warrants was extended for a one-year period during 2012.
The fair value of the warrants acquired during the second quarter of 2010, and upgraded as described above, was
updated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model at December 31, 2011 and the fair value was calculated at $0.009;
the resultant aggregate decrease in fair value during the year ended December 31, 2011 was $213,000.
In 2010, Finance costs of $33,000 related to fee and interest expense charged by Nuinsco for an advance prepayment for
the exercise of warrants. The warrants were exercised by Nuinsco in September 2010.
The Company believes that it is more-likely-than-not that the benefit associated with certain of the losses and costs
creating future income tax assets will be realized prior to their expiry. Accordingly, the Company may record periodic
future income tax recoveries. In 2011, the Company recorded an income tax recovery of $340,000 (2010 – expense of
$87,000).
OCI in 2011 of a net loss of $1,697,000 (2010 – a net income of $3,121,000) relates to a decrease of $1,962,000 (2010 –
increase of $3,739,000) in the market value of the Company’s financial assets at fair value through OCI net of income tax
recovery recorded through OCI of $265,000 (2010 – expense of $618,000). These changes are a result of market value
decreases which occurred during 2011. In 2010, the market value of securities increased.
Significant changes in other balances not specifically addressed in other sections of this MD&A are as follows:
Receivables increased by $33,000 from December 31, 2010, primarily due to an increase in the sales tax receivable as a
result of expenditures on programs at the Minago and Mel projects during the year ended December 31, 2011. The
amount outstanding was received in February 2012.
Marketable securities as at December 31, 2011 consist of the Company’s financial assets at fair value through OCI and
operations; the Company’s investment in shares is at fair value through OCI and the investment in warrants is at fair value
through operations. Accordingly, any volatility in the market price of warrants will impact the statement of operations but
changes in the market value of shares will be recorded through OCI whether generated from sales or unrealized market
changes. Marketable securities decreased by $8,173,000 from December 31, 2010 through a combination of market
value declines and sales partly offset by the two warrants transactions as described.
In February, 2011, the Company exercised warrants at a cash cost of $114,000 which changed the nature of part of the
Company’s portfolio from financial assets at fair value through operations to financial assets at fair value through OCI. In
addition, in the third quarter of 2011, the Company’s special warrants received in May 2010 were converted into shares at
no cost to the Company. The market value at the time of conversion was $0.30 or $2,000 and this amount was recorded
through OCI since the warrants had previously been recorded at $nil.
Property and equipment increased over December 31, 2010 mainly as a result of deposits of $526,000 made during 2011,
relating to the purchase of transformers and other electrical equipment for the Minago project. The Company has paid an
aggregate of $1,134,000 in 2010 and 2011.
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In 2011, the Minago project was transferred from Exploration and evaluation projects to Mine property and development
project on the balance sheet upon the Board’s approval to develop the mine and proceed with financing discussions. The
Minago project is described in Mine Property and Development Activities below.
Trade and other payables consist primarily of project-related expenditures. The balance decreased by $270,000 when
compared with December 31, 2010 primarily due to the timing of project-related expenditures – there was significant
project activity around the end of 2010. Project expenditures are described in Mine Property and Development Activities
and Exploration and Evaluation Activities below.
The deferred tax liability balance amounts to $2,702,000 as at December 31, 2011 compared with $3,314,000 as at
December 31, 2010. The main components of the balance relate to the tax effects of E&E projects and the MP&D project,
partly offset by the tax value of net operating tax losses carried forward.
Share capital has increased by $1,517,000 over December 31, 2010 primarily as a result of shares issued pursuant to two
private placements as well as the exercise of warrants and options that generated aggregate gross proceeds of
$1,500,000, $136,000 and $15,000, respectively, and shares issued to employees and consultants under the Share
Bonus Plan as described earlier. Financings are discussed more fully under Liquidity and Capital Resources below. Note
16 to the 2012 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements contains an analysis of the share capital movements.
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
Selected financial information for each of the last eight quarters ended December 31, 2012 is as follows:
Fiscal year 2012
Net finance (costs) income
Net (loss) income
Total comprehensive (loss) income
(Loss) earnings per share - basic and diluted

4th Quarter
$
(9)
$
(139)
$
(193)
$
(0.00)

Fiscal year 2011
Net finance (costs) income
Net (loss) income
Total comprehensive (loss) income
(Loss) earnings per share - basic and diluted

4th Quarter
$
(46)
$
(328)
$
(652)
$
(0.00)

(1)

3rd Quarter
$
(2)
$
60
$
6
$
0.00
3rd Quarter
$
82
$
(605)
$
307
$
(0.00)

(2)

(7)
(8)

2nd Quarter
$
2
$
(571)
$
(1,252)
$
(0.00)
2nd Quarter
$
(62)
$
(505)
$
(2,795)
$
(0.00)

(3)
(4)

(9)
(10)

1st Quarter
$
(4)
$
467
$
689
$
0.00

(5)
(6)

1st Quarter
$
(95)
$
301
$
306
$
0.00

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

Total comprehensive loss for the period includes $49,000 net after-tax decline in the market value of securities.
Net income includes $450,000 recovery on the Lynn Lake option with Prophecy Platinum.
Includes an increase in income taxes of approximately $150,000 which was reversed in the fourth quarter as it was not necessary.
Total comprehensive loss for the period includes $681,000 net after-tax decline in the market value of securities.
Net income for the period includes $1,000,000 recovery on the Lynn Lake option with Prophecy Platinum.
Total comprehensive income for the period includes the recovery noted above as well as $222,000 net after-tax improvement in the market value of
securities.
(7) Net loss for the period includes $186,000 for share-based payments and $97,000 for bonus expense.
(8) Total comprehensive income for the period includes $1,054,000 improvement in the market value of the Company’s securities, partly offset by
income taxes of $142,000.
(9) Net income for the period includes share-based payments of $140,000 for options granted and vesting in the period.
(10) Total comprehensive loss for the period includes $2,648,000 decline in market value of the Company’s securities, partly offset by income taxes of
$358,000.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
As at December 31, 2012, the Company had a working capital deficiency, including cash and cash equivalents and
marketable securities, of $583,000, working capital includes approximately $176,000 of agreed-upon deferrals owing to
directors and senior management as well as accounts payable of $118,000 subsequently settled in shares of the
Company, (December 31, 2011 – working capital of $2,707,000). The main reason for the decline is a result of the overall
market conditions being experienced. The Company has recently relied upon its portfolio of marketable securities for the
funding of its operations and programs. As the markets have declined, access to equity and debt financing has become
more difficult for all companies and Victory Nickel has had to extend its regular payment periods.
Recognizing this sea-change, the Company has entered into a loan agreement with a third party, $1,000,000 of which
was advanced prior to December 31, 2012 and was used for working capital purposes. As described earlier, despite the
loan having a contractual repayment term of January 31, 2015, the ability of the lender to divert payments under the Lynn
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Lake option agreement required the Company to classify the whole principal balance as being due within one year. On
March 1, 2013, the Lynn Lake option agreement was amended to include $125,000 due March 1, 2013 which was
received and retained by Victory Nickel, and $450,000 due over 2013 with $550,000 due by August 29, 2014.
Accordingly, future assessments of the loan as being current or long-term will be driven by the updated option agreement.
On March 25, 2013, the Company amended and extended the loan agreement to up to $3,000,000 under certain
circumstances. The Amended Loan bears interest at 12% per annum, payable quarterly, and matures on January 31,
2015. Prior to June 1, 2014, the Lender has the right to convert the outstanding balance of the Amended Loan into a
participating interest (the “Conversion”) whereby the Lender is entitled to receive a share of cash flows earned from the
sale of frac sand from the 7P Plant. The Lender’s participation is capped at $10 million, with a minimum of $7.5 million,
and is subject to adjustment under certain circumstances. On Conversion, the Amended Loan would be considered paid
in full. The Lender has also agreed to backstop an equity issue, if any is announced, with cash or by converting a portion
of the Amended Loan into shares, at the Lender’s option to an amount up to $1,500,000 under certain circumstances.
The Company will pay, with shares, an arrangement fee of up to $300,000 plus a commitment fee of 1.5% per annum on
unutilized balances.
On March 22, 2013, the Company issued 44,178,500 common shares under a private placement at $0.05 per share,
generating gross proceeds of approximately $2,209,000. This, along with the Amended Loan, has significantly improved
available working capital.
Other asset sales, as well as the sale of royalties on certain properties, are possibilities which would provide liquidity
during this period. With lower trading volumes, marketable securities are not as saleable as they have been in the past.
Consequently, management is looking to realize on the sale of other assets as a mechanism to improve liquidity. The
Company is also investigating the possibility of generating cash through the sale of new royalty arrangements on its
properties. There is no certainty in the present economic environment that the Company’s working capital, even after
considering the Amended Loan and the private placement, will be sufficient to fund the Company’s activities including
other project expenditures and corporate costs.
Cash equivalents as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 were held with major Canadian banks. The
Company has a corporate policy of investing its available cash in Canadian government instruments and certificates of
deposit or other direct obligations of major Canadian banks, unless otherwise specifically approved by the Board.
Marketable securities are available to be sold for liquidity purposes, as the Company requires, providing funds for its
operations and exploration, evaluation and development activities.
For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company used cash in operating activities of $1,295,000 (December 31,
2011 - $1,654,000). As the Company is in the exploration, evaluation and development stage, there are no revenues to
recover expenses and the operating activities represent the corporate and administrative costs incurred mostly to maintain
a public company. The Company estimates that such costs in the year ended December 31, 2012 amounted to
$636,000. Many of these costs are incurred in the early part of the year. In 2011, such costs were approximately
$815,000 for the year, calculated on a comparable basis. Consequently, the Company’s liquidity is reduced unless and
until there are financing activities or sales of assets to provide funds. Note that the costs cited above do not include the
costs of financing arrangements which are deducted directly from equity. Costs incurred to advance the Company’s
projects are capitalized, as summarized below under the discussion of investing activities.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, net cash generated from investing activities was $34,000, compared with
cash generated of $374,000 in the prior comparable period. Aggregate amounts of $183,000 and $2,201,000 were used
to advance E&E projects and the MP&D project, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2012 (December 31,
2011 - $5,056,000 and $594,000). Effective September, 2011, the Board of Directors approved the development of the
Minago mine and, accordingly, the Company transferred its Minago project from E&E to MP&D assets.
In February, 2011, the Company exercised certain warrants for cash of $114,000, thereby reclassifying the amount
previously in financial assets at fair value through operations to OCI. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the
Company sold shares for aggregate proceeds of $1,168,000 (December 31, 2011 – $6,112,000); the Company continues
to sell marketable securities for liquidity purposes. Aggregate funds of $1,450,000 were received with respect to the
option agreement with Prophecy Platinum for the Lynn Lake property (December 31, 2011 - $600,000) as described
earlier.
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The Company made deposits of $200,000 in the year ended December 31, 2012 (December 31, 2011 - $526,000) under
an agreement to purchase transformers and other electrical equipment at an aggregate cost of US$2,840,000. The
balance is due prior to shipping.
There were no financing activities from equity issuances during the year ended December 31, 2012; as stated above, the
Company received an advance of $1,000,000 pursuant to its loan agreement for working capital purposes. Financing
activities during the year ended December 31, 2011, and described below, generated net proceeds of $1,627,000, after
cash-settled share issue costs of approximately $24,000.
In January, 2011, the Company issued 5,000,000 units at a price of $0.10 per unit generating gross proceeds of
$500,000. Each unit comprised one common share and one-half common share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant
entitled the holder to purchase one common share at an exercise price of $0.14 for a period of 12 months from closing.
These warrants expired unexercised in January 2012. On May 25, 2011, the Company issued 8,695,652 flow-through
common shares at a price of $0.115 per unit generating gross proceeds of $1,000,000. Each unit comprised one
common share and one-half common share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant entitled the holder to purchase one
common share at an exercise price of $0.15 for a period of 18 months from closing. Upon closing, the Company issued
456,960 finder’s warrants that entitled the holder to purchase one finder’s unit at an exercise price of $0.15 for a period of
18 months from issuance. Each finder’s unit entitled the holder to acquire one common share and one-half of one finder’s
unit warrant. Each whole finder’s unit warrant entitled the holder to purchase one common share at an exercise price of
$0.15 for a period of 18 months from the issuance of the finder’s unit warrant. The finder’s warrants and the finder’s unit
warrants expired in 2012.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, 1,137,627 warrants were exercised that were issued pursuant to the rights
offering in August 2009 at an exercise price of $0.12 per share for aggregate consideration of approximately $136,000. In
July 2011, 300,000 options were exercised at a price of $0.05 per share for an aggregate consideration of $15,000.
There were no financings completed during the year ended December 31, 2012. The significant cost to maintain and
comply with regulatory requirements for the Company’s public listing cannot be financed with flow-through shares.
Proceeds from the Company’s warrants and non-flow-through financings are “hard” dollars and can be utilized without
restriction. However, no such financings have occurred in 2012 and the Company’s operations have been financed
through sales of marketable securities, option payments and the loan advance. The Company’s remaining portfolio of
marketable securities had a market value of $557,000 as at December 31, 2012, the option payment remaining of
$1,000,000 has been significantly extended with $125,000 received on March 1, 2013, another $450,000 due in 2013 with
the remainder due by August 29, 2014 and the amount available under the loan is finite.
The Company’s activities required cash and cash equivalents of $261,000 during the year ended December 31, 2012,
compared with cash generated of $347,000 during the year ended December 31, 2011.
As at December 31, 2011, the Company had fulfilled its flow-through commitment that would have been required to be
satisfied by December 31, 2012. Since there were no flow-through financings completed during 2012, there is no flowthrough commitment outstanding for Victory Nickel as at December 31, 2012.
Table of Contractual Commitments
Due Date

March 25, 2013 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

Currency

Transformer and electrical equipment

On shipping

US Dollar

$

Flowthrough expenditures outstanding

Not applicable

Canadian Dollar

$

Loans and borrowings

January 31, 2015

Canadian Dollar

$

Purchase of 7P Plant

Refer to note below Canadian Dollar

$

1,546 $
-

1,546 $

1,746

$

-

$

-

1,037 $

1,009

$

-

-

$

-

700

$

Note that the payment of $700,000 for the 7P Plant is subject to conditions precedent, including the transfer of leases which requires regulatory
approval. (Note 25 to the Company’s 2012 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements). Further note that the long-term loan is contractually payable
on January 31, 2015, however, because up to $1,000,000 of option payments may be diverted to the lender as prepayments under agreements in
force December 31, 2012, that amount is classified as a current liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

As described above, exploration, evaluation and development companies such as Victory Nickel have historically been
heavily reliant upon the equity markets to fund their activities as they have no short-term sources of revenue other than
through monetization of assets. Opportunities available to Victory Nickel for financing would normally be through private
placements in the equity markets. Despite experiencing some improvements during 2011, circumstances have
toughened during 2012 and today’s equity markets continue to make this alternative difficult if not impossible without
incurring significant dilution to existing shareholders. For this reason, the Company has recently chosen to liquidate
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portions of its securities holdings rather than raise equity financing. However, the results of this are also dependent upon
market conditions which are outside the control of the Company, and market circumstances have also impacted the
Company’s investees and their market values.
The Company will continue to balance its financing choices as a function of availability and market activity. During 2011,
the Company took advantage of market activity to dispose of marketable securities at opportune pricing. Such
opportunities have all but disappeared; however, the Company has had no choice but to liquidate securities to maintain
liquidity at prices that were less favourable. The value of the Company’s portfolio of securities is approximately two-thirds
of the same portfolio valued at 2011 prices.
That said, on March 22, 2013, the Company completed a private placement of 44,178,500 shares which generated
approximately $2,209,000 in cash. While this is dilutive to existing shareholders, alternative financing sources, if any, take
considerable time to complete. This equity issue was completed with a key investor with a view to finding the funding
required to develop the frac sand business and ultimately Minago.
Managing in challenging times takes as much, if not more, senior management effort. However, senior management of
both the Company and Nuinsco agreed, effective August 1, 2012, to accept salary deferrals averaging 25% until better
economic times prevail. Although Nuinsco has now been able to pay its deferrals, Nuinsco has continued to defer
payment of the respective amounts by Victory Nickel. This has reduced current cash requirements. Similar measures
were taken in 2009. Directors have also accepted deferrals of fees.
As at December 31, 2012, trade and other payables included approximately $120,000 in deferred directors’ fees, $20,000
in deferred salaries for Victory Nickel employees and $36,000 in deferred salaries charged by Nuinsco under the
management agreement. As noted above, deferrals are expected to continue until better economic times prevail. In
addition, during the fourth quarter of 2012, approximately $38,000 of accounts payable was settled in shares and an
additional $118,000 of accounts payable outstanding as at December 31, 2012, was settled through issuing shares in
2013.
The Company will continue to consider all financing alternatives given acceptable pricing and other market conditions to
advance its projects and maintain liquidity. The optioning of the Lynn Lake property is one example of a corporate
transaction that can generate cash and add value for shareholders while maintaining participation in the upside in the
subject property. The Company received its scheduled amount of $1,000,000 that was due by March 1, 2012, as well as
$450,000 in satisfaction of removing an expenditure condition. Unfortunately, economic circumstances affecting the
option holder caused a renegotiation of the remaining option amount of $1,000,000 originally due by March 1, 2013. As
described earlier, the Company has agreed to an additional amendment to the option agreement which allows Prophecy
Platinum to make a series of payments through 2013 and 2014 aggregating $1,125,000 in satisfaction of the remaining
option conditions. On March 1, 2013, the Company received the first payment of $125,000; $450,000 remains due across
2013 and $550,000 is payable by August 29, 2014.
The loan advance of $1,000,000 in 2012 was the first stage of an expanded loan agreement announced by the Company
in March 2013. The initial advance was for working capital purposes and the remaining amount under the Amended Loan
of $1,500,000 ($2,000,000 under certain circumstances) is available to fund capital requirements for the Victory Silica
initiative as described below and/or to support any financing initiative announced by the Company. The Amended Loan is
also subject to a conversion right by the lender which would allow the lender to convert its debt into a cash flow
participation in funds expected to be generated by the Victory Silica frac sand initiative.
In addition to generating cash flow, the Victory Silica initiative is intended to generate cash flow for the Company as well
as to enhance the Company’s credibility in the frac sand market. However, this initiative, while relatively near-term
compared with mine-building, is not expected to begin generating cash flow until later in 2013. As reported already, the
Company has announced the acquisition of the 7P Plant which is subject to certain conditions precedent, including the
transfer of leases.
As at March 25, 2013, the aggregate market value of the Company’s marketable securities held in public company shares
is approximately $392,000. The market value of such shares may go up or down. Trading volumes have experienced
declines and it is generally acknowledged that equities are being undervalued.
As at December 31, 2012, the Company had options outstanding which could bring in additional cash funds of
approximately $3,725,000. Most of those instruments are presently not “in-the-money” however and the receipt of such
funds cannot be relied upon.
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As described above, the equity markets continue to be volatile and it is uncertain how future financing initiatives will be
received, what the future market value of securities will be and how successful liquidity efforts will be in generating cash to
finance activities. In particular, the financing required for the development of the Minago project is considerable.
The Company has good title to its projects and will continue to maintain the projects in good standing. Prophecy Platinum
had expenditure commitments to meet on the Lynn Lake project as described earlier which maintained ongoing
investment in the property. The Company expects the remaining amended option terms to be fulfilled and for the
ownership of Lynn Lake to be transferred to Prophecy Platinum in August 2014.
Monthly average administrative costs for 2013 are budgeted at $119,000 – or approximately $1.4 million on an annual
basis, most of which are incurred to meet statutory requirements; actual monthly cash-based costs for 2012 are $123,000.
These figures include amounts which have been agreed to be deferred but exclude salary amounts capitalized as part of
project expenditures which need to be considered as part of annual cash requirements. Annual capitalized salaries in
2012 (including some part-time workers) amounted to $487,000; for 2013 these are budgeted at approximately $370,000.
As discussed before, agreed-upon deferrals for 2012 amounted to $176,000; for 2013 these are budgeted at $262,000 for
the full year. Therefore, the Company’s cash operating requirements for 2013 are approximately $1,538,000 before
project expenditures.
As described above, the agreed-upon salary and directors’ fee deferrals by Victory Nickel will reduce the pressure on
cash; other controls on minimizing discretionary expenditures are in place and non-essential services have been
cancelled. The Company continues to control operating costs; Victory Nickel and Nuinsco did not implement an acrossthe-board salary increase for 2012 and no salary increases occurred in 2013 in either company; executive salaries for
both companies have remained at 2011 levels and, as noted earlier, average 25% salary deferrals have been agreed to
by executive employees of Victory Nickel.
The Company continues to have amounts owing to fulfil the electrical equipment purchases initiated during 2010.
Through the combination of sales of marketable securities, the private placement completed in March 2013, the amended
option receipt from Prophecy Platinum and the funds under the Amended Loan and any future financing, the Company
expects to be able to meet its annual operating obligations and finance the acquisition of the 7P Plant as a minimum.
Successful completion of any financing will largely determine the extent to which the frac sand initiative moves ahead to
generate near-term cash for the Company.
Development of the Minago mine will require considerable financial resources. Management is monitoring the outcome of
various financing initiatives being undertaken in the marketplace. The Company has put together a financing strategy
which includes several components; the relative proportion of each will be dependent upon the market conditions at the
time the strategy is executed. Components include: securing a joint venture partner for nickel and/or frac sand, off-take
agreements for both nickel concentrate and frac sand, plant and equipment leasing for the mine and frac sand processing
plant, bank borrowing and/or equity issues (which may include one or more of: rights offering, private placement or a fullymarketed prospectus issue).
The Company continues to hold discussions with local and overseas financiers and potential business partners with
respect to the nickel and frac sand opportunities. The completion of the private placement in March 2013 with a key
partner represents the culmination of some of those discussions.
Paul Jones, Vice-President, Exploration, is a “qualified person” as defined under NI-43-101, and he has
supervised and approved the preparation of the information relating to the material mineral projects of the
Company described herein.
MINE PROPERTY AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES
Pursuant to the Board approval to develop and finance the Minago mine, expenditures of $34,807,000 at the approval
date were transferred from Exploration and evaluation projects into Mine property and development project on the
consolidated balance sheet effective September 2011. During the year ended December 31, 2012, $2,376,000 (before
receipt of a government grant of $50,000) was incurred on the project. Note that from the date of transfer to MP&D to
December 31, 2011, $764,000 was incurred on the Minago project for an aggregate total spending of $4,512,000 in 2011.
(For greater clarity, $3,748,000 of the 2011 spending is included in the total transfer to MP&D of $34,807,000.)
Minago Project
The Company’s 100%-owned Minago project is a permitted project ready for development. It is located on the
unexposed southern part of the Thompson Nickel Belt in Manitoba, and is one of Canada’s largest undeveloped sulphide
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nickel deposits. Minago has been shown to be capable of producing a nickel concentrate grading from 22.3% up to
35.0%, making it reportedly the world’s highest grade nickel concentrate. In addition to metal by-products such as
copper, cobalt, gold, platinum, palladium, silver and rhodium, a layer of silica sand averaging approximately nine metres
thick overlies the nickel mineralization within the open pit. Approximately 84% of the sand is marketable as hydraulic
fracturing “frac” sand, which is used to improve well recoveries in the oil and gas industry. The frac sand forms part of the
overburden that must be removed prior to mining the nickel ore. According to the FS, production of frac sand could begin
20 months after the start of mine development.
The analytical data and geological interpretations obtained from a work program in 2010 were incorporated into an
updated geological model and resource estimate. The updated resource incorporates a 24% increase (over the previous
resource estimate) in the NI 43-101-compliant measured and indicated, pit-constrained, sulphide nickel resource used in
the Minago FS. The FS is posted at www.sedar.com. Note that all resources are contained in the Nose Deposit and the
update below does not include the results of the 2011 drilling program.
April 2011 Pit-Constrained
1
Resource

Category
Measured
Indicated
M&I
Inferred
1

Tonnes
Millions
8.2
22.8
31.0
0.2

Lerch-Grossman pit optimization shell

Grade
3
%NiS
0.473
0.432
0.443
0.380

Ni Content
M Lb
85.0
217.2
302.2
1.4
2

2

March 2010 In-Pit Resource

Tonnes
Millions
6.6
19.1
25.7
1.4

Whittle pit optimization shell

Grade
3
%NiS
0.488
0.410
0.430
0.402
3

Ni Content
M Lb
71.4
172.6
243.9
12.2

Increase (Decrease) in
Contained Metal
Ni Content
M Lb
13.7
44.6
58.3
(10.8)

Change
%
19.2
25.9
23.9
(88.4)

Nickel in sulphide form

A winter work program was conducted at Minago in 2011. The program comprised 8,793m of diamond drilling in 20 drill
holes with associated ground and borehole electromagnetic geophysics. The program was intended to evaluate parts of
the project that have seen little work to date as well as to build upon the existing data-set of the Nose Deposit nickel
mineralization. The entire pit-constrained resource is located within the Nose Deposit. A total of 15 holes were collared to
intersect the “North Limb”, a domain of nickel-bearing ultramafic rock extending at least 1.5km north from the Nose
Deposit. A single deep hole was collared on the Nose Deposit to evaluate the depth extension of the ultramafic host rock
and nickel mineralization. The hole was drilled to a total length of 1,527m and intersected approximately 160m of
ultramafic rock near the bottom of the hole – confirming the extension of the host rock to depths several hundred metres
below that previously tested. A single drill hole was collared in the western part of the property in order to test the
thickness of the Winnipeg Formation sand horizon. As anticipated, the hole successfully intersected the Winnipeg
Formation sandstone layer (frac sand horizon) immediately above the unconformity with the Thompson Nickel Belt rocks.
A 3,500m winter work program was conducted in early 2012. The program tested a number of targets around the
property that have been identified in previous work programs as well as areas that are scheduled for Minago mine
infrastructure development. In part, the drilling evaluated the nickel-bearing Ospwagan Group/Pipe Formation rocks in
the vicinity of the Minago Nose Deposit. Given the widespread nature of nickel mineralization on the Minago property
and the number of targets identified, the possibility of intersecting completely new nickel mineralization was considered
good. The drilling intersected magnetite bearing amphibolite domains, pyrite-pyrrhotite intervals and minor serpentinite.
Importantly, two holes of the 2012 program tested known nickel-bearing serpentinite that underlies mining lease ML-003
approximately 5km south of the Nose Deposit. Thirteen historic drill holes are known to have been drilled by previous
operators in the area between 1968 and 1971. Ten of the thirteen holes intersected serpentinized ultramafic rock, while
seven of these holes obtained significant intersections of nickel-mineralized serpentinite from within a body interpreted to
be >2 km long. The most extensive intersection, in MXB-70-60, was 605m grading 0.3% Ni from 154m down hole. DDHs
V-12-07 and V-12-09 completed this past winter both intersected significant widths of serpentinite and obtained analytical
results consistent with historic results.
No fieldwork was conducted on the project subsequent to the Winter 2012 work program; all current work is related to
reporting and evaluation of existing results.
Frac Sand
An indicated resource of 15 million tonnes of sandstone has been estimated to occur within the current Minago pit shell.
The frac sand component of this resource is a significant contributor to the positive economics at Minago. As part of the
FS, Outotec produced a feasibility-level design for a frac sand plant complete with capital and operating costs to produce
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1,140,000 tonnes of frac sand annually for a ten-year period. Considerable potential exists to expand the resource
beyond the limits of the current pit. The Company has also announced the creation of Victory Silica.
Victory Silica
On June 19, 2012, the Company announced a new initiative through the creation of Victory Silica and the hiring of Ken
Murdock as its CEO. The objective is to generate cash flow while establishing VSL as a supplier of premium frac sand
prior to commencing frac sand sales from the Minago project. Expenditures are presently classified as pre-operating
expenditures and are charged through operations. On January 9, 2013, the Company announced that it had completed
an asset purchase agreement for the purchase of the 7P Plant located near Medicine Hat, Alberta.
EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ACTIVITIES
For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company incurred exploration expenditures on its E&E projects of $161,000
(December 31, 2011 - $4,692,000). This includes $98,000 on the Mel project, $nil on Lynn Lake (before $1,450,000
option payments received from Prophecy Platinum), and $63,000 at the Lac Rocher project (December 31, 2011 $3,748,000 on Minago, prior to its transfer to MP&D project, $705,000 on Mel; $3,000 on Lynn Lake (before $600,000
option payment received from Prophecy Coal) and $236,000 on Lac Rocher). The 2012 expenditures are shown before
the transfer of $1,450,000 through operations (December 31, 2011 - $597,000) with respect to the Lynn Lake option
receipts in excess of carrying value.
Mel Project
The Mel project is located on the Thompson Nickel Belt, just north of Thompson, Manitoba. It is a large property,
approximately 25km east-west by about 6km north-south, and remains underexplored.
Mel has an indicated resource of 4.3 million tonnes grading 0.88% nickel (approximately 83 million pounds in-situ nickel)
and an additional inferred resource of one million tonnes grading 0.84% nickel (approximately 19 million pounds in-situ
nickel) and offers significant exploration upside as well as near-term production potential.
The Company had earned a 100% ownership of Mel subject to a 51% Vale back-in right. During the third quarter of
2010, the Company announced that Vale had determined that it would not exercise its back-in right. Title to the property
has been transferred. Accordingly, the Company is in a position to determine future programs at Mel in its sole
discretion.
Ten drill holes, totalling 3,459m, comprised the 2011 winter work program on the Mel Property, the first managed by the
Company. Two drill holes, totalling 739m, were collared to test a UTEM geophysical anomaly approximately 700m north
of the Mel deposit associated with earlier prospective nickel results; no sulphide mineralization was encountered. Eight
drill holes, totalling 2,720m, were collared to test the down-dip extension of the Mel resource shell; all holes intersected
nickel mineralization of grade and width comparable to that obtained in holes that comprise the existing resource.
The Mel dataset is currently being vetted and updated – this work will apply to both the drilling data on the Mel deposit as
well as the considerable drilling (111 drill holes) conducted of the claims portion of the property. Following completion of
this work, additional modelling of the resource is contemplated. No fieldwork has been conducted during 2012.
Under the terms of the option agreement, Vale must mill ore from the Mel project at cash costs plus 5% subject to
capacity availability and metallurgy – this is unaffected by Vale’s decision not to exercise its back-in right. Furthermore, in
accordance with the terms of the agreement with Vale, they now are entitled to a 10% royalty on “distributable earnings”
as defined in the agreement. Distributable earnings is defined as net revenue less operating expenses, before federal
and provincial income taxes, after provincial mining taxes and less aggregate pre-production capital but before
depreciation.
Lac Rocher
Lac Rocher is located in northwestern Québec and has measured (0.29 million tonnes grading 1.23% Ni) and indicated
(0.51 million tonnes grading 1.05% Ni) resources of 0.80 million tonnes grading 1.12% nickel, at a 0.5% nickel cutoff, for
approximately 20 million pounds of in-situ nickel located between surface and 125 vertical metres. Additional inferred
resources total 0.44 million tonnes grading 0.65% Ni. Mineralization remains open to the southwest. The breakeven
price of nickel per lb in the Lac Rocher PEA was US$9.74 with copper at US$3.65.
The Lac Rocher property is subject to a discovery incentive plan (the “DIP”) to reward certain individuals involved in the
discovery of Lac Rocher with a 2% net smelter royalty (”NSR”) for mines that were discovered on certain properties prior
to the expiry of the DIP. The NSR is payable only on revenues earned after recovery of all development costs for any
mine on the property. The terms of the DIP provide the Company with a right of first refusal on any proposed disposition
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of the NSR. In addition, the DIP contains put/call provisions under which the Company may be required to purchase, or
may exercise an option to purchase, the NSR at the value of its discounted cash flows, as defined therein. The Lac
Rocher property is the only property subject to the DIP. As the Lac Rocher property is not yet in production, no royalties
are currently payable.
Year round access is now available to the site. In December 2009, diamond drilling was conducted to provide
geotechnical data deemed necessary for future portal and ramp development. An InfiniTem ground electromagnetic
survey was conducted over a portion of the property to test for deeper extensions to the nickel mineralization. At the
same time, evaluation of the availability of borrow material was also conducted in the local region. No fieldwork other
than a brief examination of site conditions and drill core storage was conducted on the site during 2011 or 2012.
Lynn Lake
The Lynn Lake property is located in the historic mining town of Lynn Lake in northern Manitoba, about 320km by road
northwest of the Thompson mining camp.
As discussed earlier and described in Note 12 to the 2012 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company has
optioned Lynn Lake to Prophecy Coal with subsequent assignment to Prophecy Platinum. Failure on the part of Prophecy
Platinum to meet any of the terms (or Prophecy Coal’s rectification of Prophecy Platinum’s deficiencies) will result in
cancellation of the option on the property and it will revert to the Company. Among other things, the option included a
commitment to make $3,000,000 in expenditures on the property. As discussed earlier, on August 8, 2012, the Company
received $450,000 from Prophecy Platinum in consideration for waiving the remaining expenditure commitment. On
March 1, 2013 the option agreement was amended to schedule out an aggregate of $1,125,000 over the period to August
29, 2014; $125,000 was received on March 1, 2013. There is no reason to believe that Prophecy Platinum will not meet
its remaining option payments to acquire the property and it will transfer to Prophecy Platinum at that point in 2014. Given
the stage of the option agreement, the Company no longer considers Lynn Lake to be a material mineral project of the
Company; it is included here for completeness.
IMPAIRMENT ANALYSIS
While the metals markets and other general economic factors continue to be relatively stable, there has been no marked
recovery. The Company performed a detailed impairment analysis on each of its E&E projects and the MP&D project as
at December 31, 2012. The Company does not believe that there have been any material changes to date which would
adversely affect this analysis. Furthermore there has been no change in management’s plans for the projects which
would cause a reassessment.
While the metals markets and other general economic factors have continued to stabilize over the prior year, there has
been no marked improvement and the challenge remains to find financing for development of projects. This difficulty is
not a reflection of the quality of the Company’s projects but is indicative of a general malaise affecting the junior resources
sector in general. The Company performed a detailed impairment analysis at the project level.
An initial indicator of impairment considers the market capitalization of a company compared with its net book value. At
and around the end of December 31, 2012, the Company’s market capitalization was below its net book value – being
approximately 19% of net book value. A 100% ratio would require a share price of approximately $0.13 which was more
recently achieved in early 2011. However, many resource companies continue to experience similar circumstances in
present markets despite having good projects. In particular, we continue to note situations where a company’s cash
balances may exceed its market capitalization. An analysis was performed on each of the Company’s E&E projects and
the MP&D project.
The analysis reviewed historic expenditures recorded on each project along with any purchase price allocations from
acquisitions, reflected the existence of previous writedowns or reversals of impairment and also considered the existence
of any economic studies which had been performed. The assumptions used in such studies were reviewed for such
factors as: forecast metals prices, foreign exchange rates, changes in resource and/or cost estimates, changes in royalty
arrangements, the existence of significant by-products and other matters as necessary. In addition, any third-party
arrangements, such as the Lynn Lake option, were also taken into consideration.
Forecast metals prices were estimated from third-party sources such as analyst consensus reports and other available
documentation which were considered to be reasonable by management. In particular, for the FS base case, a three-year
historic average nickel price of US$11.19 and an exchange rate of US$0.9116 : C$1.00 were used. Since the FS was
performed, metals prices have changed. The Company continues to work on updating the FS for improved economics
and announced updated resource estimates in 2011 as a result of the drilling performed in 2010. The FS was re-run
using prices derived from forecasts of US$8.65 for nickel and an exchange rate of US$1.005: C$1.00. In 2012, the
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Company identified cost savings of approximately $5.6 million with respect to removing the overburden on the Minago pit
footprint. Considering these factors produced a positive NPV in excess of the book value of the project. Accordingly, no
impairment exists on the Minago project.
Capital and operating cost estimates generally were reduced from those used in historic studies if documentary evidence
had recently been obtained as part of the review work which had been undertaken for the Minago FS. For the Minago
project in particular, the transformer commitment has been made at a much-reduced cost than was used in the FS. Used
equipment prices cannot be typically reflected in a FS, as the market is unpredictable, except where firm pricing has been
negotiated. Often cost estimates used in previous studies had been derived when such were universally recognized to be
at historic highs.
Furthermore, management’s intentions with respect to future expenditures and plans for the projects were considered.
With the exception of some small projects acquired as part of the Independent acquisition in 2008 and which were valued
at $nil as part of the purchase accounting, all projects have had recent expenditures and are considered to be active. All
of the Company’s projects were tested for impairment as at the balance sheet dates.
Management concluded that no impairment existed in each of its projects effective December 31, 2012 and that costs
incurred to date are recoverable. The Company will continue to monitor developments as they occur in the metals
markets and the economy and will update its impairment analysis to take account of any such changes, as appropriate.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Critical accounting estimates and judgements used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements include
determining the carrying value of investments, mine property and development project and exploration and evaluation
projects, assessing the impairment and classification of long-lived assets, determining the recoverability of deferred
income tax assets, the valuation of share-based payments and the disclosure of contingencies and going concern
matters. These estimates involve considerable judgement and are, or could be, affected by significant factors that are out
of the Company’s control.
For a complete list of the significant accounting policies as well as information concerning the use of estimates,
judgements and measurement uncertainty, reference should be made to Note 3 to the Company’s 2012 Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the
going concern assumption; reference should be made to Note 1 to the Company’s 2012 Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements.
The recorded value of the Company’s E&E projects and the MP&D project is based on historic costs that are expected to
be recovered in the future. The Company’s recoverability evaluation is based on market conditions for minerals,
underlying mineral resources associated with the properties and future costs that may be required for ultimate realization
through mining operations or by sale. The Company is in an industry that is exposed to a number of risks and there is
always the potential for a material adjustment to the value assigned to these assets. Such risks also extend to the
evaluation of fair values of net assets upon acquisition.
The fair value of the stock options and warrants is calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model that takes into
account the exercise price, expected life of the option/warrant, expected volatility of the underlying shares, expected
dividend yield, and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option/warrant.
The Company has determined that it is highly probable that Victory Nickel will generate returns sufficient to utilize its
taxable losses prior to their expiry. This is a significant judgement that, dependent upon future events, may turn out to be
incorrect. Presently, since Victory Silica is in its pre-operating phase, a full valuation allowance has been recorded
against losses incurred in that subsidiary.
NEW ACCOUNTING POLICIES
IFRS issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) have been adopted in the Company’s 2012
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements. Note 3 to those statements include the accounting policies that have been
applied and includes any new accounting policies – there have been none implemented to date except that the financial
statements are now prepared on the consolidated basis in accordance with early-adoption of IFRS 10 and 12 due to the
incorporation of a new subsidiary company, Victory Silica.
Basis of Consolidation
Subsidiary
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by Victory Nickel. Control exists when Victory Nickel has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential
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voting rights that currently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The
accounting policies of Victory Silica align with the policies adopted by Victory Nickel. Significant Company entities are
listed in Note 23 to the 2012 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements.
FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES
New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted
The IASB and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) have issued the following new and
revised standard and interpretations which are applicable to the Company but which are not yet effective for the year
ended December 31, 2012.
IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted, IFRS 10 establishes
principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more
other entities. The IFRS defines the principle of control and establishes control as the basis for determining which entities
are consolidated in the consolidated financial statements.
IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted, IFRS 12 requires the
disclosure of information that enables users of financial statements to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with,
its interest in other entities and the effects of those interests on its financial position, financial performance and cash
flows.
Early adoption of these standards is only permitted if IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and the consequential amendments to
IAS 17 and IAS 18 are adopted at the same time, with the exception of early adopting only the disclosure provisions for
IFRS 12 without the other new standards.
The Company has early-adopted these standards when consolidating its subsidiary Victory Silica.
IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted, IFRS 13 provides a
definition of fair value, a single framework for measuring fair value and disclosure requirements about fair value
measurements.
Amendments to IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012, the amendments to IAS 1 require companies preparing
financial statements in accordance with IFRS to group together items within OCI that may be reclassified to the income or
loss section of the statement of operations.
IFRS 13 and Amendments to IAS 1 have not been early-adopted by the Company. However, the Company does not
believe that the application of these pronouncements will have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements
of the Company.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for financial
reporting and internal control and exercises this responsibility principally through the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee, which is comprised of directors, none of whom are employees or officers of the Company, meets with
management to review the 2012 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements to satisfy itself that management is properly
discharging its responsibilities to the directors who approve the financial statements. The Board of Directors has also
appointed compensation and corporate governance and nominating committees composed of non-executive directors.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, (collectively, the “Certifying Officers”), are responsible
for designing a system of disclosure controls and procedures, or causing them to be designed under their supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in reports filed with or submitted to, securities
regulatory authorities is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified under Canadian
securities laws and that material information relating to the Company is made known to them with respect to financial and
operational conditions to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. For the fiscal year ended December 31,
2012, an evaluation was commissioned by the Company under the supervision of the Certifying Officers and with the
participation of management of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined under
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the rules adopted by the Canadian securities regulatory authorities. Based on this evaluation, the Certifying Officers have
concluded that the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as at
December 31, 2012. Such controls are facilitated by the small size of the Company’s senior management team and their
access to material information.
There were no changes to the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures that occurred the year ended December
31, 2012 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures.
Evaluation of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Company’s Certifying Officers are responsible for designing a system of internal controls over financial reporting, or
causing them to be designed under their supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with Canadian GAAP.
The Company used the COSO control framework. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, an evaluation was
commissioned by the Company under the supervision of the Certifying Officers and with the participation of management
of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Based on this evaluation, the Certifying
Officers have concluded that the design and operation of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting and
procedures were effective as at December 31, 2012. During the year, the Company made improvements to the internal
controls over financial reporting as part of its continuous improvement process.
The management of the Company was required to apply its judgement in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of
possible controls and procedures. The result of the inherent limitations in all control systems means no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.
There were no changes to the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the year ended
December 31, 2012 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect, the Company’s internal controls over
financial reporting.
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES AND MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT
Related Party Balances and Transactions
Short-term employee benefits provided by the Company to key management personnel include salaries, deferred
directors’ fees, statutory benefit contributions, paid annual vacation and paid sick leave as well as non-monetary benefits
such as medical care. The Company’s non-monetary benefit package for key management personnel is the same as
that available to all full-time employees. In addition to short-term employee benefits, the Company may also issue
options and shares as part of the Stock Option Plan and Share Bonus Plan (Notes 16 and 18 to the 2012 Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements).
Balances and transactions with related parties as at and for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 are shown in
the following tables:
As at December 31,

2012

2011

Balances Outstanding
Payable to key management personnel

$

157 $

47

Key management personnel compensation comprises:
Years ended December 31,
Short-term employee benefits
Share-based payments - options
Share-based payments - Share Bonus Plan

2012

2011

$

807
217
-

$

1,028
320
50

$

1,024

$

1,398

Balances and Transactions with Nuinsco under the Management Agreement
The Company shares management, administrative assistance and facilities with Nuinsco pursuant to a management
agreement; management operates under the supervision of the respective board of directors of each respective
company; there is only one common director. The costs charged by Nuinsco are recorded at the cost to Nuinsco of such
services plus 10 per cent. The management agreement commenced February 1, 2007 and is terminable by the
Company upon 180 days’ notice and by Nuinsco upon 90 days’ notice.
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Balances and transactions with Nuinsco under the management agreement as at and for the years ended December 31,
2012 and 2011 are shown in the following tables:
As at December 31,

2012

2011

Balances Outstanding
Receivable from Nuinsco Resources Limited under the management agreement

$

37 $

Years ended December 31,
Transaction Values
Overhead charges from Nuinsco Resources Limited
Overhead charges to Nuinsco Resources Limited
Project costs charged to Nuinsco Resources Limited
Project recoveries charged by Nuinsco Resources Limited

2012
$
$
$
$

654
27
22
31

20
2011

$
$
$
$

829
39
67

Amounts due to or from Nuinsco under the management agreement are unsecured, non-interest bearing and due on
demand. Amounts due to or from Nuinsco thereby are settled on a regular basis; Nuinsco has agreed to defer the
payment of $36,000 of its charges related to management salaries consistent with deferrals accepted by the Company’s
executive employees. Payables to key management personnel generally relate to deferred directors’ fees, consulting
fees, deferred salaries and expense reimbursements.
OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA
As at March 25, 2013, the Company had 446,245,542 common shares issued and outstanding. In addition, there were
25,862,500 stock options outstanding which, if exercised and issued, would bring the fully diluted issued common shares
to a total of 472,108,042 and would generate cash of approximately $2,845,000. However, most of the options are not “in
the money”.
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS
Acquisition of Sand Recycling Plant
On January 9, 2013, the Company announced that it had completed an asset purchase agreement for the purchase of the
Seven Persons sand recycling facility for $710,000. The 7P Plant is located near Medicine Hat, Alberta and its acquisition
presents Victory Silica with an avenue to generate cash flow from frac sand production and sales in the near-term.
Shares Issued to Satisfy Accounts Payable
On January 16, 2013, the company issued 4,720,000 shares to satisfy $118,000 in accounts payable owing.
Private Placement
On March 22, 2013, the Company issued 44,178,500 common shares under a private placement at $0.05 per share,
generating gross proceeds of approximately $2,209,000.
Amendment and Extension of Loan Agreement
On March 25, 2013, the Company announced that it had amended and restated the loan agreement to increase the
secured loan facility to up to $3,000,000 under certain circumstances. As with the original loan, the Amended Loan bears
interest at 12% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears, and matures on January 31, 2015 and can be used to fund
capital expenditures relating to the 7P Plant. The lender continues to have the right to elect to receive prepayment of
$1,000,000 of the Amended Loan from the proceeds of the Lynn Lake option payment due and payable in periodic
instalments through August 2014.
Prior to June 1, 2014, the lender has the right to convert the outstanding balance of the Amended Loan into a participating
interest whereby the lender is entitled to receive a share of cash flows earned from the sale of frac sand from the 7P
Plant. The Lender’s participation is capped at $10,000,000, with a minimum of $7,500,000, and is subject to adjustment
under certain circumstances. On Conversion, the Amended Loan would be considered paid in full. The lender has also
agreed to backstop an equity issue, if any is announced, with cash or by converting a portion of the Amended Loan into
shares, at the lender’s option to an amount up to $1,500,000 under certain circumstances.
The Company will pay, with shares, an arrangement fee of up to $300,000 plus a commitment fee of 1.5% per annum on
unutilized balances.
There have been no other additional developments not already discussed elsewhere in this MD&A.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The exploration and development of natural resources are speculative activities that involve a high degree of financial risk.
The risk factors which should be taken into account in assessing Victory Nickel’s activities and an investment in its
securities include, but are not necessarily limited to, those set out below.
The relative significance of each risk described below will vary as a function of several factors including, but not limited to,
the state of the economy, the stage of Victory Nickel’s projects, the availability of financing on acceptable terms and other
matters.
Any one or more of these risks could have a material adverse effect on the value of any investment in Victory Nickel and
the business, financial condition, operating results or prospects of Victory Nickel and should be taken into account in
assessing Victory Nickel’s activities.
Industry Risks
Speculative Nature of Mineral Exploration
Mineral exploration is highly speculative in nature, involves many risks and frequently is non-productive. There is no
assurance that Victory Nickel’s exploration efforts will be successful. Few properties that are explored are ultimately
developed into economically-viable operating mines. Success in establishing reserves is a result of a number of factors,
including the quality of Victory Nickel’s management, level of geological and technical expertise, the quality of land
available for exploration and other factors. Once mineralization is discovered, it may take several years in the initial
phases of drilling until production is possible, during which time the economic feasibility of production may change.
Substantial expenditures are required to establish proven and probable reserves through drilling to determine the optimal
extraction method for the ore and the metallurgical process to extract the metals from the ore and, in the case of new
properties, to construct mining and processing facilities. It is possible that even preliminary due diligence will show
adverse results, leading to the abandonment of projects. It is impossible to ensure that preliminary feasibility studies or
full feasibility studies, such as has been released with respect to Minago, on Victory Nickel’s projects or the current or
proposed exploration programs on any of the properties in which Victory Nickel has exploration rights will result in a
profitable commercial mining operation. As a result of these uncertainties, no assurance can be given that Victory
Nickel’s exploration programs will result in the establishment or expansion of resources or reserves. Furthermore, Victory
Nickel cannot give any assurance that its current and future exploration activities will result in the discovery of mineral
deposits containing mineral reserves.
Evaluation Projects
In general, evaluation and development projects have no operating history upon which to base estimates of future cash
operating costs. For evaluation and development projects such as the mineral resource properties owned by Victory
Nickel, estimates of proven and probable reserves are, to a large extent, based upon the interpretation of geological data
obtained from drill holes and other sampling techniques and feasibility studies. This information is used to calculate
estimates of the capital cost, cash operating costs based upon anticipated tonnage and grades of ore to be mined and
processed, the configuration of the ore body, expected recovery rates, comparable facility and equipment operating costs,
anticipated climatic conditions and other factors. In addition, there remains to be undertaken certain feasibility and/or
development preparation work on the projects that could adversely impact estimates of capital and operating costs
required for the development of the projects. Costs necessary to develop the projects could be significant and will have a
direct impact on the economic evaluation of the projects. As a result, it is possible that the actual capital cost, cash
operating costs and economic returns of the projects may differ from those currently estimated. The costs estimated
under the FS for Minago differed from the PEA and may differ again upon actual development.
Competition
The mineral exploration business is highly competitive in all of its phases. Victory Nickel competes with numerous other
companies and individuals, including competitors with greater financial, technical and other resources than Victory Nickel,
in the search for and acquisition of exploration and development rights on attractive mineral properties. Victory Nickel’s
ability to acquire exploration and development rights in the future will depend not only on its ability to develop the
properties on which it currently has exploration and development rights, but also on its ability to select and acquire
exploration and development rights on other suitable properties. There is no assurance that Victory Nickel will compete
successfully in acquiring exploration and development rights on such other properties.
Operational Risks
Limited History of Operations
Victory Nickel has no history of earnings and limited financial resources. Victory Nickel currently has no operating mines
and its ultimate success will depend on the ability of active mining operations to generate cash flow in the future, as well
as its ability to access capital markets for its development requirements. There is no assurance that Victory Nickel will
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earn profits in the future. Significant capital investment will be required to achieve commercial production from Victory
Nickel’s existing projects from successful exploration efforts. There is no assurance that Victory Nickel will be able to
raise the required funds to continue these activities.
In particular, Victory Silica represents a new initiative for Victory Nickel. While the Company believes it has mitigated the
risks of entering a new market through the hiring of experienced personnel, there is no assurance that Victory Silica will
be successful.
Development Targets, Permitting and Operational Delays
There can be no assurance that Victory Nickel will be able to complete the planned development of its projects on time or
on budget due to, among other things, delays in receiving required consents, permits and registrations, the delivery and
installation of plant and equipment and cost overruns, or that the current personnel, systems, procedures and controls will
be adequate to support Victory Nickel’s operations. Any failure to meet development targets or other operational delays
or inadequacies could have a material adverse effect. In particular, the Minago EAL was granted for a three-year period
and expires on August 22, 2014. There is no guarantee that development work will commence on or before that date or
that an extension will be granted.
Resources and Reserves
The figures for mineral resources and mineral reserves are estimates and no assurance can be given that the anticipated
level of recovery and/or grades of mineral reserves or mineral resources will be realized. Moreover, short-term operating
factors relating to ore reserves and resources, such as the need for orderly development of an ore body or the processing
of new or different ore grades, may cause a mining operation to be unprofitable in any particular accounting period.
Title Risks
Victory Nickel’s ability to hold various mineral rights require licences, permits and authorizations and, in some cases,
renewals of existing licences, permits and authorizations from various governmental and quasi-governmental authorities.
Management believes that Victory Nickel currently holds or has applied for all necessary licences, permits and
authorizations to carry on the activities which Victory Nickel is currently conducting and to hold the mineral rights Victory
Nickel currently holds under applicable laws and regulations in effect at the present time. Management also believes that
Victory Nickel is complying in all material respects with the terms of such licences, permits and authorizations. However,
Victory Nickel’s ability to obtain, sustain or renew such licences, permits and authorizations on acceptable terms is subject
to changes in regulations and policies and to the discretion of the applicable governmental and quasi-governmental
bodies.
No assurance can be given that Victory Nickel’s properties are not subject to prior unregistered agreements or interests or
undetected claims or interests which could be material and adverse to Victory Nickel. Additionally, mineral properties may
carry with them significant development costs and abandonment and site restoration obligations for which Victory Nickel
may, or will, become responsible for in the future.
Insurance Risk
Victory Nickel faces all of the hazards and risks normally incidental to the exploration and development of base metals,
any of which could result in damage to life or property, environmental damage and possible legal liability for any or all
such damage caused. Victory Nickel’s activities may be subject to prolonged disruptions due to weather conditions
depending on the location of operations in which Victory Nickel has interests; not all such risks are insurable.
Financial and Investment Risks
Going Concern
None of the Company’s Corporation’s projects has commenced commercial production and, accordingly, the Company
Corporation is dependent upon debt or equity financings and the optioning and/or sale of resource or resource-related
assets for its funding. The recoverability of the carrying value of exploration and evaluation projects and the mine
property and development project, and ultimately the Company’s Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern, is
dependent upon exploration results which have the potential for the discovery of economically-recoverable reserves and
resources, the Company’s Corporation’s ability to finance exploitation of its projects through debt or equity financings and
the optioning and/or sale of resource or resource-related assets for its funding.
Should the Company Corporation not be able to continue to achieve favourable exploration results, obtain the necessary
financing, achieve profitable operations on the frac sand business or achieve future profitable production or sale of
properties, the carrying value of the Company’s Corporation’s assets could be subject to material adjustment and, in
addition, other adjustments may be necessary to these financial statements should such adverse events impair the
Company’s Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern as contemplated under GAAP. There is no certainty,
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especially in the present environment, that the Corporation’s initiatives to improve working capital will be successful or that
working capital generated thereby will be sufficient to fund the Corporation’s activities including project expenditures and
corporate costs.
Substantial Capital Requirements
Victory Nickel will have to make substantial capital expenditures for the development of and to achieve production from its
projects. Production will only be reached a number of years post-commencement of development. Until that time, the
Company is reliant on the equity markets and asset sales to generate cash for ongoing operations and programs. There
can be no assurance that any debt or equity financing or cash generated by operations or asset sales will be available or
sufficient to meet these requirements or for other corporate purposes or, if debt or equity financing is available, that it will
be on terms acceptable to Victory Nickel. Moreover, future activities may require Victory Nickel to alter its capitalization
significantly. The inability of Victory Nickel to access sufficient capital for its operations could have a material adverse
effect on its financial condition, results of operations or prospects. Flow-through financing cannot be used to fund the
Company’s corporate costs.
Market Perception
Market perception of junior exploration, development and mining companies may shift such that these companies are
viewed less favourably. This factor could impact the value of investors’ holdings and Victory Nickel’s ability to raise further
funds by issue of additional securities or debt.
Metal and Mineral Prices
There is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities of mineral resources are developed, a profitable market will
exist for the sale of such product. Nickel and by-product prices fluctuate on a daily basis and are affected by numerous
factors beyond Victory Nickel’s control – including factors which are influenced by worldwide circumstances. The level of
interest rates, the rate of inflation, world supply of nickel and by-products and stability of exchange rates can all cause
significant fluctuations in nickel and by-product prices. Such external economic factors are in turn influenced by changes
in international investment patterns and monetary systems and political developments. The prices of nickel and byproducts have historically fluctuated widely and future price declines could cause commercial production to be
uneconomical and such fluctuations could have a material adverse effect on Victory Nickel’s business, financial condition
and prospects. As Victory Nickel is in the exploration and development stage, the above factors have had no material
impact on present operations but are considered in evaluating the impairment of long-lived assets. However, these
factors are of significant importance for the FS and decisions related thereto.
Areas of Investment Risk
The common shares of Victory Nickel are listed on the TSX. The share prices of publicly-traded companies can be
volatile as the price of shares is dependent upon a number of factors, some of which are general or market or sector
specific and others that are specific to Victory Nickel.
The market for shares in small public companies is less liquid than for large public companies. Investors should be aware
that the value of the Company’s common shares may be volatile and may go down as well as up and investors may
therefore not recover their original investment.
The market price of the Company’s common shares may not reflect the underlying value of Victory Nickel’s net assets.
The price at which investors may dispose of their securities may be influenced by a number of factors, some of which may
pertain to Victory Nickel and others of which are extraneous. On any disposal of their common shares, investors may
realize less than the original amount invested.
Regulatory Risks
Government Regulation
Existing and possible future environmental and social impact legislation, regulations and actions, including the regulation
of air and water quality, mining reclamation, solid and hazardous waste handling and disposal, the promotion of
occupational health and safety, the protection of wildlife and ecological systems and the protection of the societies and
communities of indigenous peoples, could cause significant expense, capital expenditures, restrictions and delays in
activities, the extent of which cannot be predicted and which may well be beyond Victory Nickel’s capacity to fund.
Environmental laws are becoming more actively enforced. Environmental and social impact studies may be required for
some operations and significant fines and clean-up responsibilities may be assessed for companies causing damage to
the environment in the course of their activities.
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Economic, Political, Judicial, Administrative, Taxation or Other Regulatory Factors
Victory Nickel may be adversely affected by changes in economic, political, judicial, administrative, taxation or other
regulatory factors in the areas in which Victory Nickel does or will operate and holds its interests, as well as unforeseen
matters.
Other Risks
Environmental and Health Risks
The Company has no significant exposure to environmental or health risks, although this will change as the Company’s
projects approach production (a normal characteristic of mineral industry projects). Lynn Lake, acquired pursuant to the
takeover bid for Independent and subject to option by Prophecy Platinum, is a former operating mine, however
indemnifications exist from the Manitoba Government with respect to any pre-existing environmental concerns at that
property.
Key Personnel
Victory Nickel relies on a limited number of key consultants and there is no assurance that Victory Nickel will be able to
retain such key consultants or other senior management. The loss of one or more of such key consultants or members of
senior management, if not replaced, could have a material adverse effect on Victory Nickel’s business, financial condition
and prospects. Directors and management had previously and, once more, have accepted deferrals of remuneration in
order to assist the Company through the economic turmoil; however, this potentially adds to the risk of losing experienced
personnel.
Conflicts of Interest
Certain of the Company’s directors and officers are also directors and officers of other natural resource companies.
Consequently, there exists the possibility for such directors and officers to be in a position of conflict. Any decision made
by any of such directors and officers relating to Victory Nickel will be made in accordance with their duties and obligations
to deal fairly and in good faith with Victory Nickel and such other companies.
Investments and Other Agreements with Resource Companies
In addition, Victory Nickel makes, from time to time, investments in the common shares of publicly-traded companies in
the junior natural resources sector or may enter into option or other agreements therewith. These companies are subject
to similar risks and uncertainties as is Victory Nickel, and Victory Nickel’s investments in and agreements with these
companies are subject to similar areas of risk as noted above. Victory Nickel seeks to manage its exposure by ensuring
that appropriate recourse is included in such agreements upon the counterparty’s or assignee’s failure to meet contractual
obligations.
Summary
The future success of the Company is subject to a number of risk factors that are common to the junior natural resources
sector. These include the extent to which it can outline natural resources on its properties and establish the economic
viability of developing those properties and the political, economic and legislative stability of the territories in which the
Company’s interests are located. Another significant factor is the ability of the Company to obtain necessary financing or
to find strategic partners to fund expenditure commitments as they fall due, as the Company currently has limited funds.
Furthermore, the development of any natural resource interest may take years to complete and the resulting income, if
any, from the sale of any natural resources produced by the Company is largely dependent upon factors that are beyond
its control, such as costs of development, operating costs and the market value of the end product.
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Forward-Looking Information: This MD&A contains forward-looking information. All statements, other than statements
of historic fact, that address activities, events or developments that the Company believes, expects or anticipates will or
may occur in the future (including, without limitation, statements regarding estimates and/or assumptions in respect of
production, revenue, cash flow, costs, economic return, net present value, mine life and financial models, mineral
resource estimates, potential mineralization, potential mineral resources, timing of possible production and the Company's
development plans and objectives) constitute forward-looking information. This forward-looking information reflects the
current expectations or beliefs of the Company based on information currently available to the Company. Forward-looking
information is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that may cause the actual results of the Company to differ
materially from those discussed in the forward-looking information, and even if such actual results are realized or
substantially realized, there can be no assurance that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on the
Company.
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Factors that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from current expectations include, among other
things: uncertainty of estimates of capital and operating costs, production estimates and estimated economic return; the
possibility that actual circumstances will differ from estimates and assumptions; uncertainties relating to the availability
and costs of financing needed in the future; failure to establish estimated mineral resources; fluctuations in commodity
prices and currency exchange rates; inflation; recoveries being less than those indicated by the testwork carried out to
date (there can be no assurance that recoveries in small scale laboratory tests will be duplicated in large tests under onsite conditions or during production); changes in equity markets; operating performance of facilities; environmental and
safety risks; delays in obtaining or failure to obtain necessary permits and approvals from government authorities;
unavailability of plant, equipment or labour; inability to retain key management and personnel; changes to regulations or
policies affecting the Company's activities; the uncertainties involved in interpreting geological data; and the other risks
disclosed under the heading "Risks and Uncertainties" and elsewhere. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of
the date on which it is made and, except as may be required by applicable securities laws, the Company disclaims any
intent or obligation to update any forward-looking information, whether as a result of new information, future events or
results or otherwise. Although the Company believes that the assumptions inherent in the forward-looking information are
reasonable, forward-looking information is not a guarantee of future performance and accordingly undue reliance should
not be put on such information due to the inherent uncertainty therein.
March 25, 2013

